JAIST Repository

https://dspace.jaist.ac.jp/

Title	オンライン教育の革新を特徴付け、オンライン教育における 革新的な行動を促進する要因を特定する:ベトナムのホスピ タリティと観光教育からの証拠
Author(s)	LUONG, THANH THAO
Citation	
Issue Date	2022-09
Туре	Thesis or Dissertation
Text version	ETD
URL	http://hdl.handle.net/10119/18119
Rights	
Description	Supervisor:KIM Eunyoung, 先端科学技術研究科, 博士



Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology

Doctoral Dissertation

Characterizing Online Teaching Innovations and Identifying Factors Enhancing Instructors' Innovative Behavior:

Evidence from Hospitality and Tourism Education of Vietnam

by

LUONG Thanh Thao

Supervisor: Professor KIM Eunyoung

Graduate School of Advanced Science and Technology Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (Knowledge Science)

September 2022

Acknowledgments

It is true that to pursue the doctoral research path, one must travel his or her own journey at his or her own pace. However, it does not necessarily mean that this journey is a lonely itinerary. Judging from my experience, climbing the Ph.D. mountain at Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (JAIST) was totally an enjoyable adventure along which I have been wholeheartedly supported by marvelous individuals to whom I am forever in dept of gratitude.

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere and deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. KIM Eunyoung, School of Knowledge Science (JAIST), for her valuable expert guidance and support throughout the course of the thesis. With her profound knowledge and systematic interdisciplinary approach, she has helped me build up my research skills and critical thinking ability. Apart from academic guidance, as an international student, I am also thankful for Prof. Kim for her psychological support over three years in Japan. I am genuinely blessed to have been a member of the KIM Lab at JAIST and proud to say my experience in the KIM Lab was intellectually exciting and fun and has energized me to continue in academic research.

Secondly, I would like to thank the distinguished members of my dissertation committee – not only for their time and extreme patience but for their intellectual contributions to the development of my research thesis. I am indebted to Prof. HUYNH Van Nam, whose guidance and support have always encouraged me to move forward with determined efforts, confidence, and a smile. I am also truly appreciative to Prof. Ruzinoor CHE MAT, Prof. UCHIHIRA Naoshi, and Prof. YUIZONO Takaya for their detailed and constructive feedback on my doctoral dissertation and thesis presentations. Without their expertise and valuable comments, my research thesis might never have come to fruition. I cannot adequately express how thankful I am.

Last and most essential of my existence, I am in debt to my parents, siblings, and husband for all their support for me. Dad and Mom have raised me up to more than I can be with their wisdom, knowledge, and experience gained throughout their hard-working life. To my parents, I dedicate this thesis. I also would like to thank my sister and brother, who have taken care of the family so I could fully concentrate on my research. To my husband, I am blessed to have him be there for me as always. Also, to them, I dedicate this thesis.

Abstract

Background Although numerous studies in the past few years have increasingly focused on how institutions adapt to and adopt the requirement of moving classes online, few researchers have mentioned the characteristics of online teaching innovations and factors responsible for instructors' innovative behavior in the online learning environment. Also, the literature on this discipline for a particular profession like hospitality and tourism is scant and based primarily on qualitative analysis of small samples. These studies could not be generalized to different contexts due to methodological limitations.

Originality/ Value This doctoral research combined both quantitative and qualitative approaches in defining online teaching innovations and identifying conditions influencing the innovative behavior of hospitality and tourism instructors in their online pedagogical practices. The models built from this thesis provide practical managerial implications for policy makers, institutions' leaders, and instructors in making resource allocation decisions to improve the efficiency and quality of online pedagogical innovations.

Research objectives The main research objective (**MRO**) of this thesis is to characterize the concept of *online teaching innovations* in the context of hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam and enhancing instructors' *innovative behavior* in the online pedagogical environment. Accordingly, this research has two sub-objectives: the first sub-objective (*SRO1*) is to characterize the concept of online teaching innovations. The second sub-objective (*SRO2*) is to develop a model for identifying factors influencing Vietnamese hospitality and tourism instructors' innovative behavior in initiating and implementing such online teaching innovations.

Design/methodology/approach The first study to fulfill *SRO1*, namely *Study 1*, presents a framework for characterizing online teaching innovation. The proposed innovation is in the form of a constructivist online training program for improving instructors' online teaching skills, which was evaluated by comparing the participants' self-evaluation ratings for skill improvement before and after the training program. The second study to achieve *SRO2*, i.e., *Study 2*, employs the Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM) procedure to propose and evaluate three path models, among which the main model focuses on instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching. Each path model comprises the structural and measurement models. A pilot study was first implemented to determine the required minimum sample size. For the main study, after the quality of the measurement models was confirmed, the evaluation results of the structural model were presented to form a predictive model of factors influencing instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching.

Findings The findings of *Study 1* recommend that instructors conduct the following tasks when implementing online teaching innovations: (1) *selecting theoretical underpinnings for designing the innovations*, (2) *conducting user needs analysis*, (3) *determining educational objectives*, (4) *creating instructional design*, (5) *ensuring technological/administrative support*, and (6) *designing evaluation*

methods. The Principal Component Analysis (PCA) results also suggested that a training program for building teachers' self-confidence in conducting synchronous online teaching should enhance three essential categories of the knowledge dimension in the revised Bloom's taxonomy: factual, conceptual, and procedural knowledge.

Through the PLS-SEM analysis conducted in *Study* 2, it is found that there are three primary factors that influence instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching: (1) organizational innovative climate, (2) instructors' attitudes towards online teaching, and (3) the perceived levels of skills required for online teaching, which only has an indirect influence on the target variable. Accordingly, to create an organizational innovative climate conducive to instructors' innovative behavior, three elements are necessary: a transformational leadership style, a collaborative partnership among instructors, and a supportive infrastructure essential for online teaching. Among these three variables, transformational leadership plays a central driver role. It directly influences the other two predictor constructs and contributes to creating an innovative climate essential for fostering instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching. Interestingly, it is found that instructors' attitudes are reflected primarily and specifically in their interests in acquiring knowledge and skills necessary for improving online teaching quality. In addition, what has been newly found is that having a high level of perceived skills needed for online teaching does not necessarily encourage more innovative behavior in online teaching, although it directly contributes to a more positive attitude towards teaching in the virtual environment. It is also empirically discovered that macro-environmental conditions such as political restraints, economic situations, learners' changing demographic characteristics, or governmental policies do not influence instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching.

Implications By translating constructivism into online pedagogy, *Study 1* characterized components of online teaching innovation. It also provided empirical evidence of how an innovative teachers' training program was designed and implemented to meet the need to shift from real-life to real-time classrooms in Vietnam during the COVID-19 pandemic. Accordingly, it contributes to the growing literature on methods of improving instructors' readiness in synchronous online teaching.

From *Study 2*, it is recommended that institutions' leaders and administrators create an innovative organizational climate by demonstrating an effective transformational leadership role in guiding and supporting instructors in shifting classes from the traditional face-to-face learning environment to the online virtual classrooms. In addition, to help instructors build a positive attitude towards online teaching, besides providing sufficient teacher training programs which enable instructors to understand the usefulness of online teaching technology, administrators need to ensure that organizational goals and visions about online education are communicated clearly and openly to instructors as a way to build instructors' desire to internalize organizational goals into their personal objectives.

Keywords educational innovations, online pedagogy, individual innovative behavior, organizational innovative climate, transformational leadership

Table of contents

Acknowledgments i
Abstractii
List of Figures
viji
List of AbbreviationsX
. Introduction1
1.1. Problem Statement1
1.2. Scope of the Research
1.3. Significance of the study2
1.4. Research objectives
1.5. Structure of the thesis
2. Literature review
2.1. Innovations in the online educational environment (for <i>SRO1</i>)
2.1.1. Educational innovations
2.1.2. Components of innovations in online teaching
2.1.3. Constructivist approaches to online teaching and learning
2.1.4. Teachers' training programs to improve online teaching skills
2.2. Instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (for <i>SRO2</i>)17
2.2.1. Definition of innovative behavior
2.2.2. Psychological factors responsible for innovative behavior
2.2.3. Organizational innovative climate
2.2.4. Macro-environmental impact
2.3. Hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam
2.3.1. An overview
2.3.2. Current issues in online teaching
2.4. Summary
3. Methodology
3.1. A Summary of Research design

	3.2. Stu	dy 1: Sampling, data collection, and analysis	34
	3.2.1.	An overview of <i>Study 1</i>	34
	3.2.2.	Course design and content	35
	3.2.3.	Research questions	41
	3.2.4.	Research methods	42
	3.2.5.	Recruitment of participants	42
	3.2.6.	Data coding and analysis	44
	3.3. Stu	dy 2: Sampling, data collection, and analysis	45
	3.3.1.	An overview of PLS-SEM	45
	3.3.2.	Research questions	46
	3.3.3.	Hypothetical path models and designed questionnaire	47
	3.3.4.	Sample size and recruitment of participants	58
	3.3.5.	Analysis procedure	62
4	. Results	of Study 1: Evaluating an innovation in online teaching (SRO1)	69
	4.1. Per	ceived improvement of self-confidence through the proposed course	69
	4.2. Une	derlying factors contributing to the perceived self-confidence improvement.	74
	4.3. Par	ticipants' evaluation of the proposed training program	76
5	. Results	of Study 2: Evaluating the path models (SRO2)	80
	5.1. Res	sults from the pilot phase	80
	5.1.1.	Path model 1: Innovative Behavior in Online Ieaching (IBOT)	80
	5.1.2.	Path model 2: Instructors' Attitude towards Online Teaching (ATT)	83
	5.1.3.	Path model 3: Innovative Organizational Climate (OGC)	85
	5.2. Ma	in study: Evaluation results for IBOT (path model 1)	88
	5.2.1.	Evaluation results for the measurement models	88
	5.2.2.	Evaluation results for the structural model	89
	5.3. Ma	in study: Evaluation results for ATT (path model 2)	95
	5.3.1.	Evaluation results for the measurement models	95
	5.3.2.	Evaluation results for the structural model	96
	5.4. Ma	in study: Evaluation results for OGC (path model 3)	99
	5.4.1.	Evaluation results for the measurement models	99
	5.4.2.	Evaluation results for the structural model	100
	5.5. A s	ummary of evaluation results	103

6.	Discuss	ion and Conclusion	104
6	5.1. Fro	m Study 1: Components of innovations in online teaching	104
	6.1.1.	Selecting theoretical underpinnings for designing the innovations	105
	6.1.2.	Analyzing users' profiles and needs	105
	6.1.3.	Determining educational objectives of the innovation	106
	6.1.4.	Developing instructional design and learning activities	106
	6.1.5.	Ensuring technological and administrative support	106
	6.1.6.	Designing and implementing evaluation methods	107
	6.1.7.	Further implications from <i>Study 1</i>	107
6	5.2. Ma	nagerial implications from Study 2	109
	6.2.1.	Factors enhancing instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching	109
	6.2.2.	Managerial implications	112
6	5.3. Con	ntribution to Knowledge Science	114
6	5.4. Lin	nitations and future research	115
	6.4.1.	Study 1	115
6.4.2. Study 2		Study 2	116
Pu	blication	S	118
Bib	oliograph	y	119
Ap	pendices		143
Ap	pendix A	. TNA Survey Questionnaire for <i>Study 1</i>	143
Ap	pendix B.	PTE Survey Questionnaire for <i>Study 1</i>	147
Ap	pendix C.	Survey questionnaire for <i>Study 2</i>	151

List of Figures

Figure 1. Research objectives of this thesis
Figure 2. Four distinct processes in education and their aims 10
Figure 3. A conceptual model for the proposed training program
Figure 4. Course design framework and learning activities based on constructivist aspects . 37
Figure 5. Synchronous conferencing platform features and capacity matching with different
types of online classes
Figure 6. Blackboard Collaborate combined with Miro real-time board in Session 5
Figure 7. A conceptual model for Innovative Behavior in Online Teaching (IBOT)
Figure 8. A conceptual model for instructors' Attitude towards Online Teaching (ATT) 55
Figure 9. A conceptual model for Innovative Organizational Climate (OGC)57
Figure 10. Outer Loading Relevance Testing
Figure 11. Structural model assessment procedure
Figure 12. Perceived improvement in 'knowledge on online teaching' after training
Figure 13. Perceived improvement in 'developing online presence' after training
Figure 14. Perceived improvement in 'planning lessons' after training
Figure 15. Perceived improvement in 'handling technology' after training71
Figure 16. Perceived improvement in 'adapting to learners' preferences' after training 72
Figure 17. Perceived improvement in 'classroom management' after training72
Figure 18. Retention of the three components before the last inflection point
Figure 19. IBOT model obtained in the pilot phase
Figure 20. ATT model obtained in the pilot phase
Figure 21. OGC model obtained in the pilot phase
Figure 22. IBOT model path coefficients (main study)
Figure 23. PLSpredict results for IBOT model
Figure 24. ATT model path coefficients (main study)
Figure 25. PLSpredict results for ATT model
Figure 26. OGC model path coefficients (main study)101
Figure 27. PLSpredict results for OGC model 102
Figure 28. Factors enhancing innovative behavior in online teaching
Figure 29. Six steps to implement online teaching innovations
Figure 30. Instructors' attitude towards online teaching
Figure 31. The influence of attitudes and skills on innovative behavior in online teaching 112

List of Tables

Table 1. Key concepts related to web-based education	8
Table 2. Examples of objectives for online teaching innovations 1	0
Table 3. Findings of studies on teachers' training in synchronous online teaching	5
Table 4. Limitations of studies on teachers' training in synchronous online teaching	5
Table 5. Skill complexes required for online teaching	9
Table 6. Definitions of different constructs related to self-confidence 2	20
Table 7. Definitions of factors influencing instructors' attitudes towards online teaching 2	22
Table 8. Three dimensions of transformational leadership in educational settings 2	24
Table 9. Research design, process, and outcomes 3	\$2
Table 10. Constructivism-based learning activities designed for the proposed course	\$5
Table 11. Proposed course structure, learning outcomes and activities 4	0
Table 12. Participants' demographics and background (Study 1) 4	3
Table 13. Minimum Sample Sizes for Different Levels of Minimum Path Coefficients (pmin) and Significance Levels 4	6
Table 14. Structure of the questionnaire (Study 2) 4	17
Table 15. Indicators for Instructors' Innovative Behavior in Online Teaching (IBOT) 4	9
Table 16. Indicators for Skill Complexes Required for Online Teaching (SKILL) 4	9
Table 17. Indicators for Self-confidence in Online Teaching (SCOT)	50
Table 18. Indicators for Instructors' Attitude towards Online Teaching (ATT) 5	60
Table 19. Indicators for Innovative Organizational Climate (OGC) 5	51
Table 20. Indicators for Macro-Environmental Factors (MEF)	51
Table 21. Indicators for Perceived Usefulness of Online Teaching Technology (PU)	;3
Table 22. Indicators for Perceived Ease of Use of Online Teaching Technology (PEU) 5	54
Table 23. Indicators for Attitude towards Professional Learning (PROF) 5	54
Table 24. Indicators for Internalization of Organizational Goals into Personal Goals (ISPG) 5	54
Table 25. Indicators for Transformational Leadership (LEAD)	6
Table 26. Indicators for Collaboration among Instructors (COLL)	6
Table 27. Indicators for Shared Decision Making (SDM)	6
Table 28. Indicators for Supportive Infrastructure for Online Teaching (SIF)	57

Table 29.	Participants' demographics and background (Study 2 - pilot phase)	50
Table 30.	Participants' demographics and background (Study 2 - main study)	51
Table 31.	α coefficients of the TNA, PTE, and course evaluation items	59
Table 32.	Paired-samples t-test results for perceived improvement in online teaching skills	73
Table 33. solution	Rotated structure matrix for PCA with Varimax rotation of a three-component	75
Table 34.	Participants' evaluation of the proposed course $(n = 67)$	77
Table 35.	Results summary for IBOT measurement models (pilot phase)	31
Table 36. phase)	HTMT ratios showing discriminant validity of IBOT measurement models (pilot	82
Table 37.	VIF values in the IBOT structural model (pilot phase)	32
Table 38.	Results summary for ATT measurement models (pilot phase)	34
Table 39. phase)	HTMT ratios to show discriminant validity of ATT measurement models (pilot	34
Table 40.	VIF values in the ATT structural model (pilot phase)	35
Table 41.	Results summary for OGC measurement models (pilot phase)	36
Table 42. phase)	HTMT ratios to show discriminant validity of OGC measurement models (pilot	87
Table 43.	VIF values in the OGC structural model (pilot phase)	37
Table 44.	Results summary for IBOT measurement models (main study)	39
Table 45.	VIF values in the IBOT structural model (main study)	90
Table 46.	Significant testing results of the IBOT structural model path coefficients	9 1
Table 47.	Significance testing results of the total effects for IBOT model) 2
Table 48.	Significance analysis of the specific indirect effects in the IBOT model) 2
Table 49.	Types of mediating effects in the IBOT model) 3
Table 50.	<i>f</i> 2 Effect sizes (IBOT model)	9 4
Table 51.	Results summary for ATT measurement models (main study)) 6
Table 52.	Significant testing results of the ATT structural model path coefficients) 7
Table 53.	Results summary for OGC measurement models (main study)) 9
Table 54.	Significant testing results of the OGC structural model path coefficients 10)0
Table 55.	Types of mediating effects in the OGC model 10)1

List of Abbreviations

R²

Coefficient of Determination
ATT
Instructors' Attitudes towards Online Teaching 47
AVE
Average Variance Extracted
COLL
Collaboration among Instructors
EP
Explaining and Predicting Theories 45
НТМТ
Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio of the
Correlations among Constructs
IBOT
Innovative Behavior in Online Teaching. 47
ISPG
Internalization of Organizational Goals into Personal Goals
LEAD
Transformational Leadership 47
LM
Linear Regression Model Benchmark 68
LO
Learning Outcome75
MAE
Mean Absolute Error 67
MEF
Macro-Environmental Factors 47
MRO
Main Research Objectivei
OGC
innovative organizational climate 47
PCA
Principal Component Analysisii

PEU
Perceived Ease of Use of Online Teaching Technology
PLS-SEM
Partial Least Squares Structural Equation modelingi
PROF
Attitude towards Professional Learning 47
PTE
Post-Training Evaluation 42
PU
Perceived Usefulness of Online Teaching Technology
RMSE
Root Mean Square Error67
SCOT
Self-confidence in Online Teaching 47
SDM
Shared Decision Making 47
SIF
Supportive Infrastructure for Online Teaching
SKILL
Skill complexes required for Online Teaching
SRO1
First Sub-Objectivei
SRO2
Second Sub-Objectivei
TNA
Training Needs Analysis 42
TOL
Tolerance Coefficient
VIF
Variance Inflation Factor

1. Introduction

1.1. Problem Statement

Before the COVID-19 pandemic spread across the globe, researchers warned that hospitality institutions' main challenge was to balance between ensuring academic quality standards and keeping up with the rapid development and new trends in the industry. Thus, institutions need to seek systematic and innovative methods to ensure that education responds to the industry's worldwide operations, the advances in technology development, and the changes in consumers' expectations. Exploring educational innovations in the new era of hospitality and tourism education has become essential. Since the pandemic, the need for innovations, particularly those related to online education, has become even more imperative as classrooms are required to be shifted to the virtual space. In the "new normal" of the post-COVID-19 era, balancing technology and pedagogy will not be merely emergency remote teaching to respond to the pandemic (Rapanta et al., 2021). Instead, the adoption of digital technologies in online education will become a long-term, carefully planned strategy for education providers to harness the power of flexibility and empowerment offered by online learning and teaching.

Nonetheless, although numerous studies in the past few years have increasingly focused on how institutions adapt to and adopt the requirement of moving classes online (Bauman et al., 2008; Beaven et al., 2010; Compton, 2009; Grenon et al., 2019; Lamy & Hampel, 2007; Wang et al., 2010), few researchers have conducted systematic investigations on the critical role of instructors in this transformation process (d'Eça & Gonzáles, 2006; Peachey, 2017; Rehn et al., 2018; Zemliansky, 2021). Specifically, previous studies have mentioned the characteristics of online teaching innovations and factors responsible for instructors' innovative behavior in the online learning environment, yet in a scant and fragmented manner. Such factors have not been either systematically combined or given an appropriate weight for evaluating how strongly each of them ultimately influences the key target variable, i.e., teachers' innovative behavior in implementing online pedagogical innovations. This is not to mention that the literature on this discipline for a particular profession like hospitality and tourism is scant and based primarily on qualitative analysis of small samples. Thus, these studies could not be generalized to different contexts due to methodological limitations.

1.2. Scope of the Research

The hospitality and tourism education system of Vietnam is chosen as the research context for this doctoral study because even before the outbreak of the COVID-19, major quality issues in this field of professional education had already been found in this developing country. The pandemic has worsened the situation by causing major decline in the number of students enrolled in hospitality and tourism academic programs in Vietnam (Anh, 2021; Thanh, 2021). The existing literature has highlighted that institutions in this country need to adopt more innovative approaches, particularly in the country's emerging online learning environment. It should be noted that online education has remained obscure in Vietnam (Dang, 2013; Ho et al., 2020) and has been given more attention only since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic (Ha, 2020; Pham & Ho, 2020). In the field of hospitality and tourism education, where most training programs have been conducted in person before the pandemic, instructors who may have extensive teaching experience in hands-on training courses but possess limited online pedagogical knowledge, skills, and confidence for delivering virtual lessons are now facing enormous challenges. Despite already having expertise in both the subject matter and teaching strategies, in-service teachers still need professional development in teaching with technology (Downing & Dyment, 2013; Junaidia et al., 2020; Peachey, 2017). Therefore, this study focuses on providing a support system to in-service instructors so that they can produce more active, flexible, and meaningful online classes for their students, whose hope and confidence in their academic programs and future careers in this profession also need to be maintained.

1.3. Significance of the study

Failing to guide and motivate instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching means failing to retain students for an industry that is on the way to its recovery after being significantly damaged by the pandemic. Therefore, by characterizing online teaching innovations and proposing a model for enhancing instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching, this thesis offers practical guidelines to the transformation and development of online education for the educational system of this significant service sector. When instructors are enabled and motivated to successfully engage students in their online classroom and maintain students' interests, motivation, and hope, they can directly contribute to tackling the workforce problems of the hospitality and tourism industry in the post-COVID era.

To fill the current literature gaps, this doctoral research combines both quantitative and qualitative approaches in characterizing online teaching innovations and identifying conditions

influencing the innovative behavior of hospitality and tourism instructors in their online pedagogical practices. The models built from this thesis will provide practical managerial implications for policy makers, institutions' leaders, and instructors in making resource allocation decisions to improve the efficiency and quality of online pedagogical innovations.

1.4. Research objectives

The main research objective (**MRO**) of this thesis is to characterize and implement the concept of *online teaching innovations* in the context of hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam through enhancing instructors' *innovative behavior in online teaching*.

Accordingly, this research has two sub-objectives: the first sub-objective (*SRO1*) is to characterize the concept of *online teaching innovations*. The second sub-objective (*SRO2*) is to develop a model of factors influencing Vietnamese hospitality and tourism instructors' *innovative behavior in online teaching*. *SRO1* has a strong relationship with *SRO2* and vice versa. While achieving *SRO2* will generate a list of factors motivating online instructors to innovate in online teaching, the fulfillment of *SRO1* will provide a framework to characterize online teaching innovations and thus guide instructors through their process of initiating and implementing new online pedagogical practices. In essence, achieving these two sub-objectives will fulfill the **MRO**. Figure 1 demonstrates how the MRO is attained through the achievement of sub-objectives.



Figure 1. Research objectives of this thesis

1.5. Structure of the thesis

This thesis is comprised of the following six chapters:

Chapter 1 provides an overview of the research, the background of the research problem, the research objectives, and the significance of the study.

Chapter 2 (Literature Review) describes the contextual framework of the study and critically reviews the literature relating to the concept of online teaching innovations and teachers' innovative behavior in online teaching. This chapter also provides the theoretical background for a training course designed and implemented in this thesis. The training program was conducted to characterize the concept of *online teaching innovations*.

Chapter 3 (**Research Methodology**) outlines the mixed methods design used in this study and justifies the methods used to examine the research questions. Details of the research design, process, sampling, data collection, and analysis procedures are provided in this chapter.

Chapter 4 (**Characterizing innovations in online teaching**) presents the data analysis, using a pre-post research design to characterize the concept of innovations in online pedagogy for hospitality and tourism instructors in Vietnam. The proposed online teaching innovation is in the form of a constructivist training program for improving instructors' online teaching skills. Through designing, implementing, and evaluating this innovative training program, various components of innovations in online pedagogy for hospitality and tourism education are characterized.

Chapter 5 (Specifying and evaluating the path model for instructors' innovative behavior) proposes a hypothetical framework, i.e., a path model, for instructors' *innovative behavior in online teaching*. This framework is made up of two components: (1) the structural model describing the relationships between the identified factors, and (2) the measurement models, which show the relationships between each factor and its indicators. This chapter also presents the systematic procedure for applying Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM) to assess the quality of the specified path models. First, results on the reliability and validity of the measurement models are reported. Then, after the quality of the measurement model is determined, the evaluation results of the structural model are provided to form a predictive model of factors influencing instructors' *innovative behavior in online teaching*. The explanatory and predictive power of the proposed model as well as interpretations of research results are addressed in this chapter.

Chapter 6 (**Discussion and Conclusion**) summarizes the must-have characteristics of online teaching innovation and discusses the model of factors that influence Vietnamese hospitality and tourism instructors' innovative behavior in implementing online teaching innovations. The chapter also states the study's contributions, recommendations, implications for stakeholders, and future research directions.

2. Literature review

2.1. Innovations in the online educational environment (for SRO1)

2.1.1. Educational innovations

Esteemed authors have attempted to construct definitions for innovation. For example, Machiba (2010) refers to innovation as "the overarching concept that provides direction and vision for pursuing the overall societal changes needed to achieve sustainable development". Innovation is also characterized as the purposed invention, initiation, and implementation of original ideas within a professional group or organization to bring advantages to the group or the organization (Klaeijsen et al., 2018). It can be either incremental, i.e., making minor improvements, or disruptive, i.e., developing a completely new product, service, or process (Dinçer et al., 2020). From the perspective of knowledge science, Nakamori (2020) asserts that innovation can be represented by a triad showing three different types of knowledge: rational knowledge, intuitive knowledge, and social knowledge. This author also believes that business managers who adopt the knowledge triad to create innovations will be able to achieve strategic goals.

In the educational field, changes and innovations are a significant priority in reputable institutions (Law et al., 2011; Levin, 2008; *Second International Handbook of Educational Change*, 2009). This is why researchers have focused more on defining and evaluating educational innovations in recent years. Foray and Raffo (2012) refer to educational innovations as new tools, practices, technologies, or systems developed and shared to improve academic quality. Generally speaking, educational innovations can be defined as the whole process of developing and implementing new ideas in the educational environment. Such ideas need to be formed through collaboration and accumulation to effectively respond to the environmental changes that institutions are confronting nowadays (Leadbeater, 2012).

In the more specific context of hospitality and tourism education, Jayawardena (2019, p. 246) concluded that "innovation is the art of implementing new ideas to improve productivity, products, and services while enhancing customer satisfaction, revenues, and profitability". This author also emphasizes the relevance of innovation across macro- and micro-level perspectives of the hospitality and tourism industry. Noticeably, this author mentions the need to have innovations in hospitality pedagogy and how various national governments are attempting to fulfill this urgent requirement to foster a culture of innovation from both industry and professional education perspectives.

The importance of innovation in hospitality and tourism education is particularly emphasized by Oskam (2018b), who argues that globalization, digitization, and the development of platform-based business models have demanded educational institutions to be at a higher degree of readiness in designing long term strategies that are contrary to the traditional pedagogical strategies. Airey and Tribe (2001) also contend that only by creating new ideas and knowledge for better solutions can hospitality education "refresh itself and maintain its relevance, whether for the world of work or beyond". The increased complexity in the environment has urged institutions to seek systematic and innovative methods to ensure that education responds to the industry's worldwide operations, the advances in technology, and the changes in consumers' expectations (Oskam, 2018a). Similarly, by referring to the specific context of Dubai, a country known for its fast-growing hospitality and tourism, Nadkarni and Morris (2019) highlight that the sustainable development of this industry depends on human capital advancement, which requires education to be more innovative. It is evident that exploring educational innovations and finding factors fostering such innovations in the digital era of hospitality and tourism education is essential in many different areas of the world.

It should be noted that although the terms *creativity* and *innovation* are often used interchangeably, the fundamental distinction between them has been drawn by numerous researchers. While *creativity* refers to creating "novel and useful ideas," the concept of *innovation* centers more on how useful ideas are either produced or implemented (Scott & Bruce, 1994, p. 581). In other words, *creativity* is often connected to the creation of new knowledge, whereas *innovation* is broader since it includes various stages of idea production, adoption, adaptation, implementation, and evaluation. Thus, *creativity* is often viewed as the first stage, i.e., idea generation, of the whole *innovation* process (Janssen, 2000; Liu et al., 2019; Scott & Bruce, 1994). This multistage *innovation* process requires an individual or an organization to undertake various activities, starting from recognizing the problems and generating ideas or solutions to seeking support and sponsorship to implement and evaluate such ideas and eventually making these solutions mass-produced or institutionalized (Kanter, 1996).

2.1.2. Components of innovations in online teaching

Even before the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, *online pedagogy* has emerged as an alternative form of teaching and has witnessed substantial growth in popularity in recent years (Scheg, 2014). This concept refers to the use of the Internet and communication technologies to operate online classrooms and deliver instructions. Noticeably, there are various terms regarding *web-based education*, e.g., online classes, hybrid or blended courses, and distance education. Such concepts are distinct yet often used interchangeably and thus might confuse educators and practitioners. Based on the study by Tallent-Runnels et al. (2006), the key concepts of these terms are summarized in Table 1. It should be noted that this doctoral study focuses only on the concept of *online teaching*, i.e., teaching in *online classes* where pedagogical instructions are delivered entirely via the Internet.

Table 1. Key conce	epts related to we	<i>b</i> -based education	(Tallent-Runnels et al	., 2006, p	o. 94)
--------------------	--------------------	---------------------------	------------------------	------------	--------

Key terms	Definitions	
Web-based education	The use of the Internet and communication technologies in researching or delivering online classes.	
Online classes	Courses that are delivered completely via the Internet.	
Hybrid or blended courses	Courses that combine online elements with traditional, face-to-face elements.	
Distance education	Course delivered to students who are not (or can not) present in the same physical classroom, e.g., courses offered via interactive television or videotapes.	
E-learning	Learning that is electronically mediated or facilitated by transaction softwares.	

When shifting classes from a traditional face-to-face format to the online classrooms, most instructors appear to transfer all aspects of instructions to the new learning environment without considering whether the currently adopted instructional design, assessment techniques, or learning activities are still effective (Levin et al., 2014). In most cases, the traditional lecture format, when being transferred to the online teaching environment without being appropriately modified, often leads to a notable lack of interactions and meaningful communication necessary for the effectiveness of the classes. Therefore, innovations in instructional formats are required to accomplish the learning outcomes better and improve learners' satisfaction and motivation. In the existing literature, these online teaching innovations are often characterized by the following components:

Users' needs analysis

The first step in developing any educational innovation is needs analysis (Cook & Dupras, 2004). It should be noted that educational innovations are designed and implemented to serve the needs of various users, e.g., learners, instructors, or management staff. Therefore, understanding the preferences and characteristics of these target users is significant to the successful development of the new tools, practices, technologies, or systems in online classrooms (Bintoro et al., 2022; Hegazy et al., 2022). Nevertheless, numerous studies on online teaching innovations often lack a detailed description of users' profiles and an analysis of their needs prior to designing and implementing the innovation.

Educational objectives of the innovation

Educational innovations are designed to serve a variety of purposes. According to Stenhouse (1975), education should be understood in a comprehensive approach with a distinction between at least four different processes: *training, instruction, initiation,* and *induction.* Each of these processes is designed to bring about a particular educational aim, e.g., acquisition of skills (in the case of *training*) or retention of information (when it comes to *instruction*). These educational processes and aims are illustrated in Figure 2.

As shown in Figure 2, in training and instruction activities, the acquisition of skills and information are the learning outcomes, whereas, in induction and initiation processes, which provide the context for all other educational activities, students are inducted into the thought system and equipped with the abilities to understand and make judgments. Such capabilities should not be treated as merely skills or exit behaviors that are the same for all students.

Innovations in online teaching should be designed in accordance with these four distinct educational processes and their respective aims. According to Betts et al. (1993, p. 317), it is essential to seek appropriate answers to "why we teach what we do" before determining what and how to teach. Clear objectives and purposes constructed at the beginning of the innovation process help effectively design new tools, practices, technologies, or systems in online teaching. In addition, they are also essential guidelines for evaluating the innovation in the later stage of the process. Table 2 provides examples of educational objectives from which online teaching innovations have been designed, implemented, and evaluated.



Figure 2. Four distinct processes in education and their aims (Elliott, 2001; Stenhouse, 1975)

Studies	Educational process	Examples of online teaching innovations	Educational objective
Ibabe and Jauregizar (2010)	Induction	Development of a new online self- assessment tool for learners at the University of the Basque Country (Spain)	To improve students' academic performance and their metacognitive knowledge
Persico et al. (2014)	Training, Instruction	Development of a blended course called DID@STEEL	To make the university staff acquainted with the new platform for online learning at an Italian university
Rose et al. (2016)	Instruction	Development of a flipped classroom using online videos	To deliver instructions in pediatric emergency medicine
Foronda et al. (2014)	Training	Development of virtual clinical simulation exercises	To improve the communication skills of baccalaureate nursing students
Fidalgo-Blanco et al. (2017)	Induction	Development of a micro flip teaching model	To improve learners' attitudes and active engagement

T 1	1	\mathbf{a}	r 1	1 1	• 1	• ,•	C	1.		1 •	•	· •
Ian	n		HVampl	DC OF	nh	10001000	tor	onling	toac	nna	INNO	vations
1 401	ie	4.	Слати	es 01	vv	recuves	101	Onune	ieuci	ung	uuv	vanons
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · J		,	<i>)</i> -					

Instructional mode: Synchronous or Asynchronous

The use of communication technologies for online teaching has recently centered around asynchronous and synchronous modes. While the former provides learners with convenience and flexibility in accessing a large variety of learning materials yet lacks scheduled interactions between teachers with students or students with their peers, the latter addresses the issues of low participation ratings by offering real-time spontaneous interactions and immediate feedback through chat rooms, instant messaging, or desktop video-conferencing systems (Grant & Cheon, 2007; Kear et al., 2012). Although both of these two online-learning media are claimed to bring similar academic results, numerous studies report students' lower satisfaction in online asynchronous text-based lectures than in courses delivered through synchronous web conferencing tools (Moridani, 2007; Skylar, 2009). These studies have highlighted that the insufficient interactions in online asynchronous classes make learners feel impersonal and that their communication throughout the course is not real enough. It is worth noticing that interaction has been identified as one of the essential factors contributing to the academic success of online learners since this learning component provides the opportunities for students to engage in meaningful discussions which support the processes of sharing ideas, thoughts, comments and feelings with peers and teachers (Asadi et al., 2019; Long et al., 2011). Henceforth, when designing online courses which place interaction among the top integral learning components, instructional designers tend to prefer selecting synchronous conferencing technology through which impromptu online communication and discussions can be mediated.

Instructional design and learning activities

Based on the needs analysis and educational objectives, specific learning activities are designed. In some situations, the development of these activities is the innovation itself since transferring aspects of traditional face-to-face instructions to a new online teaching environment requires innovative approaches to ensure that meaningful interaction and learning effectiveness are maintained or enhanced. An example of innovative instructional design for online teaching can be found in the study by Foronda et al. (2014), where a new virtual simulation was designed to improve the communication skills of baccalaureate nursing students. This research provided a detailed description of the newly developed pedagogical procedure to demonstrate this virtual simulation activity. Other similar examples of innovative online pedagogical practices are presented by Rose et al. (2016) and Fidalgo-Blanco et al. (2017). These studies show that online teaching innovations do not necessarily center only on technological aspects. Instead,

innovative online pedagogical procedures or pedagogical technological integration practices can also be considered innovations in online teaching. Indeed, there has been empirical support for the theoretical view that learners benefit more from putting the pedagogy, not the technology, at the focus of online teaching innovations (Draper & Brown, 2004; Fawns et al., 2022).

Technological and administrative support

The existing literature has repeatedly emphasized the importance of technological and administrative support for online teaching. According to Meyer and Barefield (2010), such support is often in the form of "funding, guidance, oversight, assistance" in confronting challenges of online teaching and is "the vital foundation to a sound online educational program" (p. 1). In terms of technological infrastructure needed for online teaching, elements such as a well-supported high-speed internet connection, an effective server system, or comprehensive online library services play a significant role in enhancing the enthusiastic buy-in from online instructors. Undoubtedly, the availability and quality of online instructional media and technological tools are an important component of instructors' readiness to implement online teaching innovations (Scherer et al., 2021).

Evaluation methods

The last component of online teaching innovations is the assessment techniques designed to evaluate the extent to which the innovation has delivered the educational objectives or outcomes. As mentioned earlier, unlike creativity, innovation is not only about generating novel ideas. It is a multistage process that starts from problem identification and often ends with idea evaluation (Janssen, 2000; Liu et al., 2019; Scott & Bruce, 1994). According to Levin et al. (2014), various techniques can be used to evaluate learning in the online environment. These include an assessment by peers, professors, instructors, self-assessment, or assessment by a larger audience. Such evaluation approaches can be based on learners' performance scores, e.g., Ibabe and Jauregizar (2010), or conducted through self-evaluation surveys like in the study by Foronda et al. (2014) or interviews as in the research by Fidalgo-Blanco et al. (2017). In essence, it should be noted that while educational innovations may be new, it is not equivalent to success or effectiveness (Díaz-Gibson et al., 2019). Developing educational innovations requires a methodological approach in which educational gaps must be diagnosed, and evaluating the effectiveness of such innovations in filling the gaps needs to take place.

Although the components mentioned above, i.e., users' needs analysis, educational objectives, instructional mode, instructional design, technological and administrative support, and evaluation methods, are often included in studies about developing online teaching innovations, they have not been presented systematically. In other words, they are currently presented in any particular order in certain research work about online pedagogy. Numerous studies even overlook the significance of some of these components, making the overall notion of *online teaching innovations* remain an ambiguous and incomplete concept. Thus, there is a need to develop a framework to incorporate all necessary components and place them in an order conducive to the production, implementation, and evaluation of online teaching innovations.

Besides the lack of a framework to define online teaching innovations, numerous studies on this discipline also see the absence of appropriate theoretical underpinnings for designing the innovations. Most research focuses merely on the components mentioned above yet misses an explanation of why or on which foundation was some particular innovative instructional design developed. Prominent learning theories, such as behaviorism, cognitivism, or constructivism, should be given a critical role in establishing a solid theoretical background for developing educational interventions. According to Ertmer and Newby (1993), "learning theories provide instructional designers with verified instructional strategies and techniques for facilitating learning as well as a foundation for intelligent strategy selection" (p. 50). As a vast amount of research has suggested that constructivism "has relevance in all educational settings" (Kosnik et al., 2018, p. 4) and is especially recommended in the field of online teaching and learning (Gratz & Looney, 2020; Lane, 2013), this doctoral study has adopted this learning theory to design and introduce an online teaching innovation which aims at improving instructors' skills required for conducting synchronous online teaching sessions. Therefore, the next sub-sections of this chapter will review the literature on constructivist approaches to designing online training programs for teachers.

2.1.3. Constructivist approaches to online teaching and learning

According to Biggs (1996), constructivism has a long history in cognitive psychology and has increasingly become a "dominant espoused theory" in higher education (p. 348). The literature on the adoption of constructivism in education has been voluminous. Most studies emphasize the pre-eminence of constructivism while comparing it with competing theories such as objectivism or positivism. This study selects three prevailing constructivist approaches, which

Kosnik et al. (2018) refer to as "knowledge is constructed by learners," "knowledge is experience-based" and "a strong class community is essential" (p. 105).

In cognitive constructivism, as learners are put front and center, their assumptions, motivations, purposes, and prior knowledge play a vital role in how they construct new knowledge. They thus acquire new meanings by actively engaging in and subjectively experiencing learning activities to create their own knowledge (Wang & Ha, 2012). This perspective explains why new knowledge needs to be based on experience to be formed. In the field of teacher education, several studies have suggested that if teachers experience constructivism as students, they may adopt such an approach in their teaching and may later attempt to replace their lecture-driven teaching method with a more learner-centered one (Gold, 2001; Kosnik et al., 2018).

Unlike the cognitive constructivist approach, social constructivism focuses on how cultural and environmental settings influence how individuals construct their knowledge (Wang & Ha, 2012). In other words, knowledge construction takes place when an individual communicates with others, such as instructors, experts, or peers, in an authentic environment that may be simulated from reality. Creating "a strong class community," according to Kosnik et al. (2018), means strengthening the professional relationships among the class participants through activities such as open discussions, collaboration, working together, experiencing each other's work, and offering constructive and supportive feedback to each other. Such a supportive learning community has enhanced teachers' confidence in teaching with new technology (Arbaugh & Benbunan-Fich, 2006; Kosnik et al., 2018; Saidalvi & Samad, 2019; Wang & Ha, 2012).

The learner-centered framework in constructivism has been adopted by numerous researchers on teacher education, especially in studies about online training programs for teachers (Gratz & Looney, 2020; Lane, 2013). According to Cornelius (2014), when adopted in a virtual classroom, constructivism may offer more opportunities for interaction and thus generate more engagement and ownership among participants. Eom and Ashill (2016) also assert that "the defining characteristics of e-learning are derived from the constructivist model of learning" (p. 188). This family of learning theories has been a sound theoretical framework for research on virtual learning settings.

2.1.4. Teachers' training programs to improve online teaching skills

Among very few studies that focus on designing, implementing, and evaluating teachers' training in using synchronous technology in teaching, Table 3 lists those whose objectives and approaches are similar to this thesis. In addition to their meaningful contribution to the field of teachers' training in synchronous online teaching, these studies also have significant limitations, which are briefly described in Table 4.

Key conceptual words	Major findings	Studies		
Teachers' training in synchronous online teaching	The need to provide training, both technically and pedagogically, to instructors who lack experience in teaching with synchronous conferencing technology was reiterated.	d'Eça and Gonzáles (2006); Grenon et al. (2019); Johnson et al. (2006); Kamlaskar and Killedar (2015); Kannan and Narayanan (2015); Kannan and Narayanan (2016); Peachey (2017); Rehn et al. (2018); Wang et al. (2010); Zemliansky (2021)		
Constructivism as a compelling framework in synchronous online teaching	A translation of the constructivist theoretical framework into the practice of synchronous online teaching was conducted to enhance teachers' skills and confidence in synchronous online teaching.	Cornelius (2014); d'Eça and Gonzáles (2006); Johnson et al. (2006); Wang et al. (2010); Zemliansky (2021)		
Course design to enhance teachers' self-confidence in synchronous online teaching	To give the necessary technical and psychological support to teachers who have to deliver synchronous online sessions, specific guidelines and detailed description of training activities were provided.	d'Eça and Gonzáles (2006); Kamlaskar and Killedar (2015); Khairi et al. (2021); Wang et al. (2010)		

Table 3. Findings of studies on teachers' training in synchronous online teaching

Content	Limitations	Studies		
Theoretical framework	Insufficient details were given about the theoretical background.	d'Eça and Gonzáles (2006); Kannan and Narayanan (2015); Kannan and Narayanan (2016)		
Selecting a synchronous platform	There were few details on and explanations of why and how the platform used in the study was chosen.	d'Eça and Gonzáles (2006); Kannan and Narayanan (2015); Kannan and Narayanan (2016); Grenon et al. (2019); Wang et al. (2010)		
Course content	The details about the course objectives, structure, and content were insufficient.	Johnson et al. (2006); Kannan and Narayanan (2016); Grenon et al. (2019)		
Implementation of the program	No details were given on how the training program was implemented.	d'Eça and Gonzáles (2006); Johnson et al. (2006); Grenon et al. (2019)		
Program evaluation	Most of the studies claimed the success of the programs examined, but there were few details on how the evaluation methods employed in such studies were designed.	d'Eça and Gonzáles (2006); Kamlaskar and Killedar (2015); Wang et al. (2010)		

Table 4. Limitations of studies on teachers' training in synchronous online teaching

There are missing pieces in the literature on teachers' training in synchronous online teaching. First, although constructivism has been claimed to be a sound theoretical framework for research on virtual learning settings, it is noteworthy that studies on how this compelling family of theories is adopted in online education are often conducted on a general basis. Few studies have attempted to translate these theories into specific real-time pedagogical practices to enhance the effectiveness of online teaching and learning activities. This study was thus conducted to provide meaningful guidelines for educators and teachers in this regard.

Second, regarding the professional areas where online pedagogy is currently being studied and practiced, the recent studies, such as those by Lamy and Hampel (2007), Bauman et al. (2008), Compton (2009), Beaven et al. (2010), Wang et al. (2010), and Ernest et al. (2013), have focused more on how the live video-conferencing technology can mediate learning in the field of language training than in any other professional areas. Consequently, more research is needed to instruct teachers in other fields or occupational sectors in making use of synchronous online conferencing tools. To fill such a literature gap, this study gathered empirical evidence from the field of hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam, where numerous instructors are facing challenges in changing their mode of instructional delivery, a requirement imposed by the current COVID-19 pandemic. However, the proposed training design can be delivered not only to hospitality and tourism instructors but also to instructors in other disciplines or regions because the training concentrates on technological pedagogical integration rather than on the domain knowledge of the hospitality and tourism sector.

Third, although teacher training programs are directed at the acquisition of knowledge and skills, there are psychological factors influencing the delivery of synchronous online lessons that are worth examining. In their study on the use of synchronous online tools to conduct teacher training, Wang et al. (2010) emphasized that the changes in teachers' attitudes, motivation, anxiety, and confidence during the process of learning new online teaching practices are often neglected. They claim that these psychological factors should be given more attention as cyber environments are different from face-to-face classrooms due to their "novelty, complexity, and synchronicity" (Wang et al., 2010, p. 278). Some researchers add that to support teachers who are new to teaching with web conferencing, there is a need to focus on their personal experiences as learners (Cornelius, 2014; d'Eça & Gonzáles, 2006; Peachey, 2017; Wang & Wiesemes, 2012). These authors particularly stress the lack of research exploring instructors' individual experiences in online teaching and the necessary levels of selfconfidence in such mode of teaching. The innovative training program proposed in this study will pay attention to teachers' self-confidence, one of the essential psychological factors influencing the effectiveness of virtual online classrooms.

Lastly, considering that pre-service teachers generally lack professional knowledge, experience, and expertise in online education, the current literature appears to focus more on them than on experienced teachers. Nevertheless, despite already having expertise in both the subject matter and teaching strategies, in-service teachers still need professional development in teaching with technology (Downing & Dyment, 2013; Junaidia et al., 2020; Peachey, 2017). Therefore, focusing less on the domain knowledge and paying more attention to supporting experienced teachers in technological pedagogical integration, the training program proposed by this study is expected to provide experienced teachers with the training that they need in online pedagogical practices so that they can grow in confidence and can become more efficient in their daily teaching tasks.

2.2. Instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (for SRO2)

2.2.1. Definition of innovative behavior

While the concept of *innovation* is difficult to define and study (Asbari et al., 2021), the term *innovative behavior* appears to gain a more explicit recognition and definition. According to Liu et al. (2019, p. 774), *individual innovative behavior* is defined as "a complex set of actions" categorized into three different types: generating, promoting, and realizing ideas and solutions useful for the workplace. The first one, i.e., idea generation, refers to the creation and introduction of new or adapted methods for performing work tasks. The second group of actions is related to idea promotion, which involves the process of seeking support and sponsorship for implementing the proposed solutions. Finally, realizing ideas points to the application and convertion of new ideas into practical products, services, or operation procedures that help to improve work performance.

Other researchers also propose similar definitions for *individual innovative behavior*. For example, Dorenbosch et al. (2005), Kleysen and Street (2001), and Odoardi et al. (2015) characterize this concept as the purposeful introduction and application of ideas, processes, products, or procedures to bring benefits to stakeholders and others. Noticeably, while often being defined as "actions", the term can also be referred to as human competence or abilities to adopt and apply new and meaningful ideas into performing work tasks (Asbari et al., 2021). From this perspective, *innovative behavior* reflects a specific form of knowledge creation and change-oriented activities, not only in the workplace context but also in other daily areas of human life.

The uncertain and competitive environment of today's workplace requires organizations to increasingly rely on employees' contributions of innovative ideas. Therefore, *individual innovative behavior* has become more and more significant to the process of preserving or enhancing the competitiveness and effectiveness needed for sustainable development (Odoardi et al., 2015). In online teaching and learning environment, instructors' innovative behavior plays a vital role. The long-standing importance of *innovative behavior* has led to extensive literature and generated various frameworks for this construct. In this study, three major factors influencing instructors' *innovative behavior* in online teaching will be reviewed and discussed in the next sub-chapters. These include psychological, organizational, and macro-environmental elements. Each of these groups is comprised of constructs that are adopted to specify the hypothetical path model whose target endogenous variable is *instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching*.

2.2.2. Psychological factors responsible for innovative behavior

Numerous psychological constructs have been empirically indicated to influence individual innovative behavior. However, most of them were identified in a general workplace context. In the online learning environment, studies appear to focus mainly on instructors' readiness in online pedagogy rather than drivers of their innovative behavior. Therefore, in this thesis, most psychological factors influencing innovative behavior are selected from the existing literature in a broad workplace environment and adapted to the context of online teaching. These factors are (1) *skills* required for conducting a specific task (Birdi et al., 2016), referred to as *skill complexes required for online teaching* in this study, (2) *self-confidence* (Dar et al., 2022; He, 2013; Pons et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2021), and (3) *employees' attitude towards the task* (Avsec & Savec, 2021; Ettlie & O'Keefe, 1982; Lee et al., 2007), specifically adapted in this study as *instructors' attitudes towards online teaching*. Their concepts and significance are reviewed as follows.

Skill complexes required for online teaching

Teaching in a virtual classroom can be more challenging than teaching in a face-to-face environment (Cornelius, 2014; Kear et al., 2012). Specifically, planning for lessons and preparing materials for teaching in the online environment usually take more time (Cornelius, 2014), not to mention the requirement of handling the cognitive overload caused by the need

to perform multiple teaching tasks simultaneously when teaching in the synchronous online sessions (Kear et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2010). In addition, problems such as poor internet connection causing teaching interruptions, low quality of images or videos used, and teacher skill-shortage matters appear to lower teachers' efficacy in delivering synchronous online lessons (Grant & Cheon, 2007; Kear et al., 2012). Instructors thus need to be provided more support and training to enhance their confidence in delivering their online courses.

Based on the current literature and textbooks that provide guidelines on online teaching, this study identifies the complex skills needed to facilitate online classes. These include developing an online presence, planning lessons, handling technology, adapting to learners' preferences, and classroom management. A list of studies mentioning these is provided in Table 5.

Skills	Description	Studies
Developing online presence	 Recognizing the importance of online presence, which has three components: social, teaching and cognitive presence 	Bacon and Bloom (1995); Boettcher and Conrad (2016); Cornelius (2014); d'Eça and Gonzáles (2006); Després-Bedward et al. (2018); Eom and Ashill (2016) Ernest et al. (2013); Kear et al. (2012); Lee (2018); Wang et al. (2010)
	 Developing strategies to enhance the components of online presence 	Boettcher and Conrad (2016); Goh (2020); Sharp et al. (2021); Wang (2015)
Planning lessons	 Preparing learners before the course starts and designing learning activities 	Boettcher and Conrad (2016); Cornelius (2014); Grenon et al. (2019); Kannan and Narayanan (2016); Kear et al. (2012);
Handling technology	• Using the different functionalities of synchronous conferencing platforms to achieve the set learning outcomes	Alqurashi et al. (2017); Cornelius (2014); Ernest et al. (2013); Sharp et al. (2021)
Adapting to learners' preferences	 Recognizing varied learning preferences and learners' diverse backgrounds to identify supportive technological resources and tools 	Boettcher and Conrad (2016); Bonk and Zhang (2008); Eom and Ashill (2016); Min et al. (2018)
Classroom management	 Developing strategies to respond to learners' behaviors and manage virtual classrooms 	Boettcher and Conrad (2016); Cornelius (2014); Kaosaiyaporn et al. (2015); Pyke and Sherlock (2010)

Self-confidence in online teaching

Self-confidence refers to an individual's reflection of their perceived capabilities when attempting to complete a task or achieve a goal in a particular context (Hahn & Lee, 2017; Lindblom-Ylänne et al., 2006). Self-confidence is also discussed in relation to various self-concepts, such as self-efficacy, self-esteem, stability, and self-crystallization (Rosenberg & Kaplan, 1982). These constructs appear similar but are fundamentally different from each other. Table 6 introduces the definitions provided by well-known authors.

Although there are distinct theoretical definitions for the constructs, as mentioned earlier, such descriptions are insufficient to highlight their differences (Bong & Skaalvik, 2003). To illustrate, the concepts of self-efficacy and self-confidence have been used interchangeably to refer to an individual's self-perception of their capacity to attain a particular goal when performing a specific task (Hollenbeck & Hall, 2004; Kickul et al., 2008; Wilson et al., 2007). In the academic context, Landino and Owen (1988) define self-efficacy as "an estimate of confidence in one's ability to perform various tasks classified as research, service, and teaching in a university setting" (p. 2).

Constructs	Definitions	Authors
Self-efficacy	The belief in one's capacity to 'organize and execute the courses of action required to manage prospective situations' (p. 2)	Bandura (1995)
Self-confidence	'An individual's cognition of the probability of success in a task' (p. 567)	Hahn and Lee (2017)
Self-esteem	'The personal judgment of worthiness' (p. 4)	Coopersmith (1967)
Stability	'The ease or difficulty of changing the self-concept, and it depends on how crystalized or structured an individual's self-beliefs are' (p. 210)	Schunk (1991)
Self-crystallization	'Belief becomes crystallized with repeated similar experiences' (p. 210)	Schunk (1991)

Table 6. Definitions of different constructs related to self-confidence

Extensive research has proven that when teachers believe in their teaching capacity, their students' academic performance will improve. Notable evidence of this can be found in the study by Ashton and Webb (1986), where teachers' self-confidence was reported to be a predictor of students' learning achievement in an academic year. In another study about science, technology, engineering, and mathematics education, Scaradozzi et al. (2019) use self-confidence as one of the two essential criteria for evaluating the success of a training course equipping teachers with the skills needed for using technology in teaching. It is noteworthy

that for pre-service teachers, a significant goal in their professional development is to develop their confidence in selecting an educational framework and devising appropriate instructional strategies (Sadler, 2013). In-service teachers, despite having a reasonable degree of selfconfidence as a result of their vast experience in teaching (Landino & Owen, 1988), are not always able to maintain such self-confidence when teaching online (Downing & Dyment, 2013; Junaidia et al., 2020). During the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, although the development of educational technology has been accelerated dramatically, teachers' confidence and skills in using these technological advances have not been fully addressed.

According to Bong and Skaalvik (2003), the most popular method of measuring academic self-confidence is through self-evaluation reports, where participants are required to estimate their perceived ability to solve an actual specific problem successfully. Various questionnaires have been designed to measure an individual's self-confidence in the academic context. For example, the Teacher Efficacy Scale was developed by Gibson and Dembo (1984) to measure teachers' self-confidence in their abilities to instruct students. The questionnaire is a 30-item instrument, with each item scored on the basis of a six-point Likert scale (1 ="strongly disagree"; 6 = "strongly agree"). Another prominent example of self-report surveys for measuring instructors' self-confidence is the Measure of Self-Efficacy in Academic Tasks, which consists of three subscales: "research" (1 item), "service" (11 items), and "teaching" (10 items) (Landino & Owen, 1988, p. 5). Other similar instruments developed to focus more on measuring self-confidence in online teaching can be found in the studies by Downing and Dyment (2013) or Harrison et al. (2017). However, most of these questionnaires were designed merely for exploring instructors' confidence in delivering online courses. Apart from the study by Scaradozzi et al. (2019), there have been few studies that compared pre- and post-training teacher participant self-evaluation reports to understand the challenges in online teaching and assess educational interventions designed to enhance teachers' readiness to teach online. In this thesis, instructors' self-confidence plays two roles: (1) as a target learning outcome measured through a self-evaluation report to assess the effectiveness of the designed innovation in online teaching in *Study 1*, and (2) as one of the exogenous constructs influencing the endogeneous target variable, i.e., instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching, in *Study 2*.

Instructors' attitudes towards online teaching

According to Sangwan et al. (2021, p. 188), attitude is a psychological construct devised to explain "any phenomenon of interest" and is an essential feature of one's personality and behavior. In the online teaching environment, the success in delivering courses often depends mainly on the attitudes instructors hold towards the online teaching environment. Instructors with a positive attitude towards online teaching appear to be more willing to adopt technological web-based advances in their pedagogical practices than those with an unfavorable opinion of the online classroom environment (Uzunboylu, 2007). For this reason, when instructors believe in the strengths of online education, they may openly display their innovative behavior in online teaching.

There are various factors influencing instructors' attitudes towards online teaching. Among these factors, this thesis adapts the Technology Acceptance Model (Davis, 1989) and accordingly selects four widely-discussed variables to review and examine: (1) *perceived usefulness of online teaching technology* (Lai et al., 2016; Walker & Hong, 2017; Walker & Kim, 2015), (2) *perceived ease of use* (Kumar & Daniel, 2016; Lai et al., 2016; Walker & Hong, 2017; Walker & Hong, 2017; Walker & Kim, 2015), (3) *attitudes towards professional learning opportunities* (to enhance online teaching skills) (Flores, 2001; Geijsel et al., 2001), and (4) *internalization of organization goals into personal goals (regarding online teaching)* (Geijsel et al., 2003; Geijsel et al., 2009; Leithwood et al., 1999). Table 7 describes each of these constructs.

Factors	Definitions	Studies
Perceived usefulness of online teaching technology	"A person's expectation" that using online educational technology will result in improved teaching performance	Davis et al. (1992, p. 1112)
Perceived ease of use	The perceived "effort one experiences in the process of carrying out tasks using a given system"	Davis et al. (1992, p. 1115)
Attitude towards professional learning opportunities	The extent to which "teachers take responsibility for their own professional functioning and acquire the necessary knowledge and repertoire of activities to participate critically in the social and cultural practices" with regard to online teaching practices	Geijsel et al. (2001, p. 133); Geijsel et al. (2009, p. 408)
Internalization of organization goals into personal goals (regarding online teaching)	The degree of "belief in and acceptance of the organization's goals and values", the "willingness to exert considerable effort on behalf of the organization", and "a desire to maintain organizational membership".	Geijsel et al. (2009, p. 409)

Table 7. Definitions of factors influencing instructors' attitudes towards online teaching

2.2.3. Organizational innovative climate

Organizational innovative climate has been among the most significant antecedents of individual innovative behavior (Geijsel et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2019; Luo et al., 2018; Scott & Bruce, 1994; Zhang et al., 2018). This construct is characterized as "employees' experience and perception of the organization" (p. 774), which reflects environmental attributes conducive to innovations (Liu et al., 2019). In numerous studies, the organizational innovative climate is often treated as the perceived organizational conditions that support or motivate innovations necessary for enhancing organizational effectiveness and long-term development. Scott and Bruce (1994) explain that when an organization sends out specific signals that expose its values and expectation, organizational members will take such cues as guidelines for reacting or behaving in a manner that may lead to more satisfactory outcomes such as improved performance evaluation and recognition.

Organizational innovative climate has various dimensions (Chou, Shen, et al., 2010; He, 2013; Luo et al., 2018), among which four prominent factors are selected for the context of online teaching outlined in this thesis. These factors include *collaboration* (Chou, Hsiao, et al., 2010; He, 2013; Jing & Zhou, 2010), *transformational leadership* (Chou, Shen, et al., 2010; He, 2013; Jing & Zhou, 2010), *shared decision-making* (Jing & Zhou, 2010; Shamim et al., 2016), and *supportive infrastructure* (Chou, Hsiao, et al., 2010; He, 2013). Each is described as follows:

Collaboration among instructors

Research has indicated that when teachers have opportunities to work together or to exchange ideas in teaching, they will create positive changes in classroom practices and students' learning (Geijsel et al., 2001; Geijsel et al., 2009). One may wonder what fosters such collaboration practices since, in most cases, teachers often appear to work independently from each other, especially when they have to deliver distinct subject matters. In a general workplace context, Odoardi et al. (2015) note that employees' perceptions of management's emphasis on collaboration activities contribute indirectly to their motivations to initiate and implement new and effective methods of completing tasks. In the specific context of online pedagogy, however, few studies have examined the role of instructors' perception towards collaboration within their efforts to invent a new and helpful way of teaching in online classrooms.

Transformational leadership in implementing online teaching innovations

Bass (1985) has identified three groups of activities that characterize transformational leadership in educational settings: (1) building an organizational vision for the future, (2) providing support for each individual member of the organization, and (3) encouraging intellectual stimulation. Table 8 provides an overview of these three dimensions.

Table 8. Three dimensions of transformational leadership in educational settings

Dimensions	Definitions	Studies
Vision	The creation of organizational goals and directions for change necessary for workplace emotional connections, self-confidence, and willingness to internalize organizational goals and values into personal aspirations	Geijsel et al. (2009)
	"a mental image of a possible and desirable future state of the organization"	Bennis and Nanus (1985, p. 89)
Individual support	"an attempt to understand, recognize and satisfy" organization members' concerns and needs while treating each member as a unique individual	Geijsel et al. (2009, p. 411)
Intellectual stimulation	Through intellectual stimulation, leaders encourage teachers to improve problem-solving competencies and arouse teachers' awareness and recognition of their own beliefs and values as well as those of their peers.	Geijsel et al. (2009, p. 411)

Transformational leadership practices have been proved to significantly impact the innovation climate in numerous studies, e.g., in the construction industry (Zhang et al., 2018). Nevertheless, to the best of my knowledge, in the online educational settings, how large an impact these practices place on organizational innovative climate has not been fully examined. More empirical evidence is needed to explore to which extent organizational leaders should demonstrate their transformational leadership to create an environment in which online instructors can be motivated to innovate effectively in their virtual classrooms (Masry-Herzallah & Stavissky, 2021).

Shared decision making in online teaching

Online pedagogy has existed in the literature for a long time. However, the practical performance of this concept is still new to many regions and countries. Therefore, when delivering online lessons, instructors need to be given opportunities to participate in making decisions related to adopting new approaches or technology. According to Geijsel et al. (2009), such participative decision-making practices enhance instructors' self-efficacy and the internalization of organizational goals into individual goals. Since studies taking this factor into
consideration are scant, more research on how it influences instructors' perceived organizational climate is needed.

Supportive infrastructure for online teaching

When transitioning to the online teaching environment, instructors need to know that they receive strong infrastructure support from the organization. To employees, such perceived support indicates the organizational commitment to organizational goals, values, and the staff and thus motivates them to put more effort into performing their assigned tasks (Eisenberger et al., 1986). According to Meyer and Barefield (2010), instructors who realize that they have sufficient technological, financial, and emotional backing are often more willing to confront challenges in online teaching. Elements such as a well-supported high-speed internet connection, an effective server system, or comprehensive online library services play a significant role in enhancing the enthusiastic buy-in from online instructors. Therefore, the availability and quality of online instructional media and technological tools are an important antecedents of instructors' readiness in implementing online teaching innovations (Scherer et al., 2021).

2.2.4. Macro-environmental impact

For educational innovations to be fostered and implemented successfully, a mix of different factors in an environment wider than the organizational climate may also play an essential role (Lawrence, 2018; Nti, 2015). Every aspect in this larger setting appears to potentially impact instructors' motivation to design or adopt new methods or technology for teaching in virtual classrooms. For example, in some countries, e.g., Yemeni, access to the Internet or some particular websites is restricted due to political reasons (Tuparova et al., 2018). These restrictions may prohibit the distribution of certain materials necessary for online teaching and learning.

Besides political constraints upon internet access, governmental policies and economic conditions can either offer or limit the opportunities for institutions to innovate or be creative in the way educational products and services are provided. For example, in New Zealand, the governmental centralization of monitoring and reporting has created a less favorable environment for tertiary institutions to initiate and foster educational innovations (Crawford, 2016). Another example can be found in the context of Vietnam, where there is an urgent need for establishing a strong partnership between the government and educational institutions so that an integrated, holistic framework of policies and guidelines on integrating information and

communication technology (ICT) into pedagogical practices can be constructed (Peeraer & Van Petegem, 2012).

In professional education fields such as hospitality and tourism, instructors' perceptions on the importance of the industry-education linkage may also influence their innovative behavior in online teaching practices. In other words, it is essential to also consider the industry as a vital factor that may influence instructors' perceptions of the needs to be innovative in teaching practices. Catrett (2018) highlights that:

"If asking the industry, academia, and current or former students what is needed in hospitality curriculum cannot yield reliable results, then perhaps the only way to approach the subject is to reflect on how the industry and education appear to be evolving." (p. 28)

The existing literature has asserted that a competitive professional education system should be able to respond to the needs and expectations of various stakeholders, e.g., students, employers, and educators (Barrows & Walsh, 2002; Goodman & Sprague, 1991; Le et al., 2018; Lewis, 1993). In other words, there is a need to enhance the partnership between the industry and institutions to ensure that educational processes offer genuine benefits to all stakeholders (Luong et al., 2022). Barrows and Walsh (2002) suggested that short- and longterm forms of collaboration between industry associations and hospitality institutions should be established because such interactions are beneficial to delivering hospitality programs and the professional development of managers working in hospitality organizations. Oskam (2018b) and Gupta et al. (2021) also stressed that the main challenge for hospitality institutions is to balance between ensuring academic quality standards and keeping up with the rapid development and new trends in the industry, particularly in the post-COVID-19 era. Ultimately, teaching still plays a significant role in maintaining such hopefulness and loyalty, and teaching innovations to ensure learning effectiveness need to be among the primary concerns of hospitality and tourism stakeholders (Zhong et al., 2021). However, to assess the degree to which online instructors have taken into account the significance of the industry evolution, there is a need for more empirical research since the existing literature does not have sufficient research-based evidence (Kim & Jeong, 2018; Starks & Carroll, 2018).

Lastly, how instructors perceive the changes in learners' demographic traits can also influence their innovative behavior in online teaching practices. To illustrate, learners belonging to Generation Z require instructors to be not only familiar with digital technology but also confident, creative, and innovative since this group of students is often referred to as the "digital generation" or "internet generation"; therefore, there might be a pressure for online instructors to seek an optimal use of ICT in teaching practices for touching "the side of habits that are close to digital life" (Elmunsyah et al., 2020, p. 1). Nonetheless, the current literature has not empirically examined whether the perceived changes of learners' demographic characteristics may influence instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching practices.

2.3. Hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam

2.3.1. An overview

Vietnam is among the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), where tourism is an important source of foreign exchange income and employment opportunities (Rawat et al., 2015). Before the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, Hampton et al. (2018) reported that tourism contributed significantly to Vietnam's GDP and thus became a national strategic industry. In 2019, total international tourist arrivals to Vietnam reached a peak of over 18 million, increasing 16% over the same period in 2018, making the country the leading Best Asian destination for two consecutive years alongside with awards from international organizations for airlines, travel agencies, hotels and many other tourism hotspots (Huynh, 2020). However, according to numerous studies, the current pandemic has severely damaged the entire hospitality and tourism industry in Vietnam. Vu et al. (2022) contend that the overall economic efficiency of the industry has declined, making its role in the economy of Vietnam less substantial. The damage also has a considerable impact on students' decision to pursue hospitality and tourism academic programs. The number of students enrolled in these programs has decreased substantially since the fourth wave of the pandemic hit the country in 2020 (Anh, 2021; Thanh, 2021). As a result, there is a pressing need to help hospitality and tourism students maintain their hope and confidence in their academic program and future career, as well as their commitment to them.

According to Buzinde et al. (2018), although Vietnam is "an increasingly formidable player in the regional tourism arena", the country is still struggling to address its workforce issues, mainly in terms of education deficiencies leading to the lack of competent human resources for the hospitality and tourism industry. Many other esteemed authors also confirm that the current education system in Vietnam does not effectively equip graduates with sufficient skills and abilities to work successfully in the industry, especially in the international business context (Le, 2018; Le et al., 2018; Losekoot et al., 2019). Buzinde et al. (2018) suggest that students' motivation to enroll in hospitality and tourism degrees appears to form a

hierarchy with knowledge at the top. This study implies that to achieve student retention, educational institutions need to adopt pedagogical approaches that can effectively provide students with the necessary knowledge and skills to succeed in the industry. Another study by Nghia and My Duyen (2018) also emphasizes that greater attention needs to be paid to engaging students in the hospitality and tourism profession. The authors claim that institutions need to seek innovative approaches to improve students' learning experience. Likewise, Le et al. (2018) believe that Vietnamese hospitality and tourism institutions lack effective responses to labor market needs. This deficiency is caused by insuffient policies that facilitate and support the partnership between industrial enterprises and educational institutions to construct curriculum pedagogical approaches.

In brief, Vietnam appears to be an example of an ASEAN country where the fastgrowing hospitality and tourism industry poses numerous labor challenges, among which lacking quality training and education services have been empirically indicated (Hampton et al., 2018). To effectively contribute to human capacity building for the industry, institutions need to adopt more innovative approaches. Accordingly, educational curricula need to be progressively updated to respond to the rapid environmental changes in the industry, and innovative pedagogical practices are required to not only retain students but also equip them with the appropriate skills and attitudes needed to succeed in the workplace. Moreover, it is worth noticing that developing educational innovations requires systematic and methodical processes to identify the educational gap and verify whether the innovative practices fill in the gap. Therefore, any studies focusing on constructing and implementing innovations for hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam need such approaches to validate the innovations' success in achieving educational goals. Nonetheless, few studies have concentrated on building and testing innovations, especially for the hospitality and tourism education of an emerging country like Vietnam. We need more research on this discipline to guide teachers toward more effective pedagogical methodology and curriculum renewal to successfully address the workforce issues of the hospitality and tourism industry in this emerging country.

2.3.2. Current issues in online teaching

Although the government in Vietnam has placed a strong focus on setting ICT as an essential tool for innovating teaching methodology, the country is still one of the low and middle-income nations with uneven access to the internet connection, and online education thus continues to pose significant challenges to both instructors and learners. Dinh and Nguyen (2020) reported

numerous difficulties in online teaching and learning in Vietnam, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic, when school closures forced the shift from the traditional face-to-face classrooms to the new online learning environment. These challenges lie in technological issues such as loss of connection or managing various platforms and in pedagogical practices where instructors are struggling to transform their teaching mode to maintain meaningful interactive communication for the online classrooms. This is not to mention that instructors in Vietnam have received very limited teacher training to prepare themselves for the shift to the online teaching environment (Le et al., 2022; Pham et al., 2021). Universities, particularly those in the public sector (Dao Thi Thu & Duong Hong, 2021), have created or adopted inconsistent guidelines for online teaching, and instructors have had to learn by themselves the skills for delivering online lessons.

Indeed, online teaching has not gained much attention from education providers in Vietnam (Hung, 2021; Maheshwari, 2021). The COVID-19 pandemic has motivated the country to focus more on establishing a long-term strategy and necessary infrastructure for online education. Various problems related to teaching and learning effectiveness are being addressed. Online teaching capacity is being reviewed, and national policies and legal frameworks are being formed to meet the requirements of developing online education to a more advanced level to deal with the uncertainties surrounding the modern world. Therefore, more research to guide these transformations is needed. Particularly, studies that focus on supporting and motivating hospitality and tourism instructors to innovate online teaching practices become more important than ever because teaching plays a significant role in maintaining students' hopefulness and loyalty to this profession in both the present and future of the industry (Zhong et al., 2021). It is time for hospitality and tourism instructors in Vietnam to construct and search for new online pedagogical approaches and practices for the sake of their teaching effectiveness, which may also contribute significantly to the recovery of the industry in the post-pandemic era.

2.4. Summary

This chapter has described the contextual framework of the study and critically reviewed the literature relating to the concept of online teaching innovations and teachers' innovative behavior in online teaching. The previous review highlighted the significance of a methodological approach in which educational gaps can be diagnosed and educational innovations, particularly those related to the online teaching environment, can be implemented

and evaluated. Specifically, there is a need to develop a framework to incorporate all necessary components of online pedagogical innovations, which have been found in the existing literature and place them in an order conducive to the production, implementation, and evaluation of such innovations. This study will proactively fulfill this requirement by constructing a framework for designing, implementing, and evaluating an online teaching innovation.

Providing guidance on creating online teaching innovations is just as important as motivating instructors to foster their innovative behavior in the online classroom environment. Numerous factors have been empirically indicated to influence individual innovative behavior through previous studies. However, most of them were identified in a general workplace context. In the online learning environment, studies appear to focus mainly on instructors' readiness in online pedagogy rather than drivers of their innovative behavior. Therefore, this thesis contributes to the literature by providing empirical evidence to explore factors enhancing instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching in hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam. In this context, new online pedagogical approaches and practices for teaching effectivenes have become urgent and signicant in recent times.

3. Methodology

3.1. A Summary of Research design

The main research objective (**MRO**) of this thesis is to characterize the concept of *online teaching innovations* in the context of hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam and enhancing instructors' *innovative behavior* in the online pedagogical environment.

To achieve **MRO**, this research has two sub-objectives (see Figure 1): the first subobjective (*SRO1*) is to characterize the concept of *online teaching innovations*. The second sub-objective (*SRO2*)s is to develop a model of factors influencing Vietnamese hospitality and tourism instructors' *innovative behavior* in initiating and implementing such online teaching innovations. *SRO1* has a strong relationship with *SRO2* and vice versa. While achieving *SRO2* will generate a list of factors influencing instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching, the fulfillment of *SRO1* will provide a framework to characterize online teaching innovations and thus guide instructors through the process of initiating and implementing new online pedagogical practices. Achieving these two sub-objectives will fulfill the **MRO**.

Accordingly, there are two major studies conducted to fulfill *SRO1* and *SRO2*. The first study to achieve *SRO1*, referred to in this thesis as *Study 1*, presents a framework for designing, implementing, and evaluating an online teaching innovation. It adopts a pre-post research design to characterize the concept of innovations in online pedagogy in the context of hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam. The proposed innovation is in the form of a constructivist online training program for improving instructors' online teaching skills. The innovative training program is then evaluated by comparing the participants' self-evaluation ratings for skill improvement before and after the training program. Evaluation results of this online teaching innovation are presented in chapter 4 of this thesis. Through designing, implementing, and evaluating this innovative training program, the concept of innovation in online teaching is characterized in sub-chapter 6.1. Accordingly, a framework for online teaching innovations is provided to characterize online pedagogy innovations.

The second study to achieve *SRO2*, i.e., *Study 2*, employs the partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM) procedure suggested by Hair et al. (2022) as the primary approach to propose and evaluate a path model for instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching in the context of hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam. This path model comprises two components: (1) the structural model describing the relationships between the identified factors, and (2) the measurement models, which show the relationships between each

factor and its indicators. After specifying the model and the indicators in the questionnaire, data were collected, and the systematic procedure for applying PLS-SEM was conducted to assess the quality of the specified model. First, a pilot study was implemented to determine the required minimum sample size. The results of the pilot phase are reported and interpreted in sub-chapter 5.1. For the main study, after the quality of the measurement models is determined, the evaluation results of the structural model are provided to form a predictive model of factors influencing instructors' innovative behavior in implementing online teaching innovations. The explanatory and predictive power of the proposed model is shown in sub-chapter 5.2 - 5.4. The interpretation of these results are presented in sub-chapter 6.2.

Table 9 below demonstrates the overall research design, procedure, and respective outcomes of each research phase.

Phases	Procedure	Details	Outcomes
1. Study 1: Characterizing an innovation in online teaching	Designing the research	Designing the training program; Designing the pre- and post- training survey;	A training program for improving instructors' self- confidence in online teaching was proposed.
	Collecting quantitative and qualitative data	Recruiting participants; Designing and conducting a training program for improving teachers' self- confidence in online teaching Conducting semi-structured interviews Administering pre- and post- training surveys to participants.	Qualitative and quantitative data about teachers' level of self-confidence in online teaching were collected.
	Analyzing quantitative and qualitative data	Computing Cronbach's alpha to evaluate surveys' reliability; Conducting paired-samples t- tests to compare the pre- and post-training mean scores; Calculating the effect size of the intervention; Running PCA to identify underlying elements of the participants' self-confidence levels after training;	The reliability of the surveys was confirmed. The proposed training program to improve skills to teach online was effective. Underlying factors contributing to participants' self-confidence improvement after training were identified.
		Conducting semi-structured interviews.	Insights into participants' learning experiences were explored and suggestions to improve the proposed course were provided.

Table 9. Research design, process, and outcomes

2.	Study 2: Identifying factors enhancing instructors' innovative behavior	Specifying the structural models	Reviewing the current literature on factors influencing instructors' innovative behavior;	Measures (or indicators) of each identified factor were specified. The survey questionnaire (based on the hypothetical path model) was formed. Research hypotheses on relationships between the identified factors were formed and displayed in diagrams.
		Conducting the pilot study	Recruiting 30 participants; Administering online questionnaires to participants; Collecting and analyzing quantitative data for the pilot study;	Required sample size for the main study was determined (based on significance levels and the p_{min} values computed in the pilot study)
		Conducting the main study	Recruiting 76 participants; Administering online questionnaires to participants; Collecting and analyzing quantitative data for the pilot study;	
		Evaluating the measurement models	 Using the SmartPLS 3 software to examine: Indicator reliability; Internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha, composite reliability, reliability coefficient); Convergent validity (average variance extracted); Discriminant validity. 	The reliability and validity of the reflective measurement models were confirmed.
		Evaluating the structural models	 Using the SmartPLS 3 software to examine: The structural model for collinearity (VIF); Significance and relevance of the structural model relationships (path coefficients); Explanatory power (coefficients of determination, R2); Predictive power of the path model (by running the <i>PLS</i>_{Predict} procedure). 	Key constructs with highest relevance to explain the endogenous factors in the structural model were identified. The models' explanatory and predictive power were examined

3.2. Study 1: Sampling, data collection, and analysis

3.2.1. An overview of Study 1

As presented earlier, the aim of *Study 1* (*to achieve SRO1*) is to characterize the concept of *online teaching innovations*. *Study 1* adopts a pre-post research design to illustrate the concept of innovations in online pedagogy in the context of hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam. The proposed innovation is in the form of a constructivist online training program for improving instructors' online teaching skills. The innovative training program is then evaluated by comparing the participants' self-evaluation ratings for skill improvement before and after the training program.

To develop an effective instructor training program, it is necessary to select an appropriate theoretical background for designing the course. As a vast amount of research has suggested that constructivism "has relevance in all educational settings" (Kosnik et al., 2018) and is especially recommended in the field of teacher education (Bacon & Bloom, 1995; Johnson et al., 2006; Kosnik et al., 2018; Ledoux & McHenry, 2004; Lee, 2018), instructional designers of teacher education programs often consider selecting this learner-centered approach to design the training. In Vietnam, a developing Asian country, although the traditional Confucian educational values have prevailed and have contributed to the significant popularity of the teacher-centered model of teaching, the current research about its educational system has outlined the promising adoption of constructivist approaches in teaching methods (Nguyen, 2011). Endorsing the view of Ngo et al. (2015), who assert that "despite being culture-bound, teaching and learning are highly contextual, and learners are highly adaptive" (p. 687), this study was grounded in the theoretical underpinnings of compelling constructivist theories, including Piaget (1932)'s cognitive constructivism and Vygotsky (1978)'s social constructivist theory. Accordingly, Study 1 adopted the three aspects of these constructivist theories, referred to as "knowledge is constructed by learners," "knowledge is experiencebased", and "a strong class community is essential" (Kosnik et al., 2018, p. 105) to design a training course aimed at improving teachers' self-confidence in conducting synchronous online teaching in the context of a developing country in the Southeast Asian region.

As for the definition of training and its outcomes, in this study, training was mainly aimed at improving the trainees' self-confidence achieved in the post-training stage. This approach was inspired by Kraiger (2003), who defined training as involving not only activities aimed at advancing knowledge and skills but also activities embracing changes in attitudes.

3.2.2. Course design and content

A conceptual model for the proposed training program

The teacher training program proposed herein was designed to translate the three constructivist approaches of "knowledge is constructed by learners", "knowledge is based on experience", and "a strong class community is essential" (Kosnik et al., 2018, p. 105) into specific pedagogical practices. In this study, different types of learning activities are selected and designed for teachers (see Table 10) to help them acquire the complex skills required for synchronous online teaching (see Table 5).

Three aspect of constructivist approaches	Types of learning activities	How to conduct	
Knowledge is constructed by learners	Inquiry-based instruction	Participants' questions or problems drive the discussion to develop solutions.	
italiitis	Modeling and unpacking	The facilitator models a designed activity to assist learning and then instructs participants to discuss the activity afterward.	
	Self-reflection	After teaching-practice sessions, participants collect information for review purposes. Participants are given a self-reflective journal template where they can note down their feelings, observations, and questions.	
Knowledge is experience-based	Role playing	Before role-playing, participants are required to research the topic and study their roles in the situation presented. Hence, group discussions are held to consolidate learning.	
	Educational games	Online interactive quizzes, puzzles and games are designed to help participants learn about concepts.	
	Teaching practice	Each participant designs learning activities and practices teaching.	
A strong class community is essential	Online icebreaker	An online icebreaker is conducted in the first session to get participants to know each other and to stimulate conversations among them.	
	Collaborative brainstorming	Participants are required to generate new ideas about and solutions to a specific issue.	
	Group discussions	Each group discussion takes 10–15 minutes and is designed to make participants exchange ideas with each other.	
	Peer feedback	During teaching-practice sessions, peer observations are facilitated, with a rubric developed to guide peer evaluations.	

Table 10. Constructivism-based learning activities designed for the proposed course

To better illustrate the assumptions of and expectations from the proposed training program, a conceptual model was built and shown in Figure 3. In this model, the constructivism-based training program acts as an intervention designed to enhance the teachers' self-confidence in synchronous online teaching. The current study explored the effect of this intervention to evaluate the perceived improvement of the instructors' self-confidence in the complex skills required for synchronous online teaching after the training.



Figure 3. A conceptual model for the proposed training program

As shown in Figure 3 and Table 10, each learning activity was used to translate the constructivist theories into online pedagogical activities. For example, the aspect "knowledge constructed by learners" was translated into practice through inquiry-based pedagogical instruction. This activity allows the participants' questions to drive the learning process towards the target course outcomes. To illustrate, during the course session about "developing relationships and online presence," the participants take turns formulating questions about the concept of online presence and its related components, including cognitive, social, and teaching presence. Then these questions are responded to not only by the course facilitator but also by the other participants. The participants also brainstormed solutions for building an online presence by looking back at how they manage this concept in a traditional face-to-face classroom and how it will now be applied in the virtual online learning environment. This

active-learning process of asking questions and seeking the answers to them by oneself plays an essential role in helping the participants construct their knowledge proactively rather than passively listening to the facilitator or merely paying attention to how the course facilitator explains and demonstrates these concepts.

As this study focused on in-service teachers who already had expertise and experience in teaching, the constructivist aspect of "knowledge is based on experience" can bring the participants' rich background and accumulated knowledge to the training. Accordingly, teaching practice sessions, as an example of experienced-based learning activities, were designed to stimulate professional feedback and psychological encouragement during the course sessions.

To create "a strong class community," it is necessary to strengthen the participants' professional relationships through open discussions, collaborative activities, experiencing each other's work and providing constructive feedback. Accordingly, the primary responsibility of the instructor executing the proposed program is to create a collaborative atmosphere that is advantageous to the operation of this strong learning community.

Figure 4 demonstrates the frequency with which each type of learning activity is used in various course sessions and how all the learning activities contribute to the expected gained self-confidence in the five complex skills required for synchronous online teaching.



Figure 4. Course design framework and learning activities based on constructivist aspects

Selecting a synchronous platform and other technological tools

Study 1 proposes two dimensions for categorizing online classrooms conducted via synchronous online conferencing platforms. The first dimension is the epistemological approach to education, referring to the teacher- or learner-centered approach. The second is the classroom size or the number of learners in an online course. According to Jones (2007), the optimum number of students in a learner-centered language training class is 12, and the maximum size for such class is 30. The author of this study considers a class of 12–30 learners a small one, and a large one could be from more than 30–100 students. It should be noted that while the author uses the first dimension to determine which built-in features are required in a platform, e.g., a learner-centered class often needs more collaborative and interactive features such as Breakout Rooms and Polls, the second dimension is also deemed necessary as it influences the decision on platform capacity.

Figure 5 shows different types of synchronous online classrooms and which synchronous conferencing built-in features and capabilities are most needed for them. Accordingly, classes with more than 30–100 students and under the teacher-centered approach are named *live university lectures*, indicating that the instructors in these classes tend to adopt the passive format of lectures. Large classes following the learner-centered approach are *independent learning groups* (Scott et al., 1997). Courses with a smaller number of students where instructors tend to have students learn passively are named *online seminars*. Conducted with students actively engaged in knowledge construction, small classes are *online learner-centred classrooms*.



Figure 5. Synchronous conferencing platform features and capacity matching with different types of online classes

As Downing and Dyment (2013) recommend that constructivist online courses be conducted in small classrooms to be effective, the *online learner-centered classroom* model shown in Figure 5 appears to best match the purpose of this study. Accordingly, the author decided to use the classroom version of the Blackboard Collaborate platform because it has all the built-in features designed to best support the small learner-centered classes (Cheang, 2016).

Although this study focused mainly on synchronous online teaching, the author indeed adopted a blended mode for the training course and also used the Blackboard Coursesites' free version as a learning management system (LMS) to provide course materials, communicate with participants, encourage self-directed and asynchronous collaborative learning, monitor participants' performance and manage their attendance or performance. Despite a lack of builtin motivation tools such as gamification, the free Blackboard Coursesites LMS has sufficient features supporting all content formats.

Aside from the Blackboard Collaborate platform, the author also used numerous interactive and collaborative synchronous tools to motivate participants. Examples of these technological tools are the Miro real-time board, Kahoot, Google Form and Poll Everywhere. Figure 6 shows an example of the combination between the Blackboard Collaborate platform and the Miro real-time board to provide participants with a venue for interaction during a course session.

Instructure and the ← → C O	sources and To: X X Vogging for Degiments Exercise X + mino.com/app/board/o9/JMPy/2M=/			¢ 🖪	× 8 ×
miro 1	echnological Resources and Tools for Learning Prefe	rences (* 📩 🗠 🗠		F 🚺 🗐 💿 🔹 🐹 🚥 🖬 🥑	¢¢ Q ₪
	READ (AUDITORY AND VERBAL LEARNERS)	REFLECT (REFLECTIVE & OBSERVATIONAL LEARNERS)	DISPLAY (VISUAL LEARNERS)	DO (TACTILE AND KINESTHETIC LEARNERS)	
	Online Journals	Asynchronous Discussion	Movie Making	Debate tools	
	Online Exams		Video-streamed content	Simulations	
т	Powerpoint presentations	Reflective Writing Synchronous chats	Online Videos	Role-play	
	Blogs		Online Games	Collaborative tools	
6	E-books	Writing Alds	Simulations	Vodcasts Teamwork(discussion)	
Ę			Video Blogs (Vlogs)		
₽ ₽	Course Announcements		Guest Speaker Videos		
		R	D	o	
Ħ Ċ @	ក្នេះល្ប្រៈ០ខ្				125%
= ,0 =		5 🕱		A = 3, = 7 II ∧	10 DAG 9.30 PM

Figure 6. Blackboard Collaborate combined with Miro real-time board in Session 5

Course structure, tools, and content

The proposed course consists of eight online synchronous sessions, each lasting 90 min (this session duration is selected based on the author's personal experience as a student taking online courses). The first session introduces the course, its objectives and synchronous online teaching. The next five sessions aim to improve participants' confidence levels in the required complex skills. In sessions 7 and 8, participants are required to design learning outcomes and activities to practice online teaching. The details of the learning outcomes and activities are listed in Table 11 below.

Session	Learr (what sessio	ning outcomes participants can achieve in each n)	Learning activities	Duration (minutes)
1. Course Introduction	1.1	Get to know each other and have an open atmosphere for learning and collaborating.	Online icebreaker	40
	1.2	Familiarize with the course structure and objectives.	Group discussion	20
	1.3– 1.5	Familiarize with synchronous online learning.	Educational game (Kahoot)	30
2. Developing Online Presence	2.1	Define three types of online presence: social, teaching and cognitive presence.	Inquiry-based instruction, educational game (Kahoot)	45
	2.2	Develop methods of enhancing online presence.	Collaborative brainstorming, modelling and unpacking	45
3. Planning Lessons	3.1	Describe what constructs quality educational experience in online learning.	Group discussion, collaborative brainstorming	20
	3.2	Create steps to prepare learners before launching online courses.	Modelling and unpacking	30
	3.3	Design synchronous learning activities.	Group discussion, collaborative brainstorming	40

Table 11. Proposed course structure, learning outcomes and activities

4. Handling Technology	4.1	List factors to consider when selecting an online platform.	Collaborative brainstorming, group discussion	20
	4.2	Use applications and tools for real- time teaching.	Modelling and unpacking	35
	4.3	Use different synchronous features to implement learning activities.	Modelling and unpacking, peer feedback	35
5. Adapting to Learners' Preferences	5.1	Address varied learning styles.	Educational quizzes (Google Form, Miro)	30
	5.2	Identify resources and tools for matching with different learning styles.	Modelling and unpacking, teaching practice	60
6. Classroom Management	6.1	Compare online and offline classroom management.	Group discussion	20
	6.2	Apply techniques to give constructive and corrective feedback to online learners.	Inquiry-based instruction, role playing	30
	6.3	Develop strategies to respond to learners' behaviours or misbehaviours.	Group discussion, collaborative brainstorming	40
7 & 8. Teaching Practice	Partic reflec	ipants practice teaching, self- tion and peer feedback.	Teaching practice, self-reflection, peer feedback	15 minutes/ participant

3.2.3. Research questions

On the basis of the established conceptual model, *Study 1* attempts to answer the following research questions:

RQ1. To what extent does the proposed training program in synchronous online teaching affect the self-confidence ratings of hospitality and tourism teachers in Vietnam?

RQ2. If the proposed training program has an impact on the participants' selfconfidence in synchronous online teaching, are there any possible underlying factors that contribute to this perceived improvement?

RQ3. How can the proposed training program be improved?

3.2.4. Research methods

This study defined teachers' improved self-confidence as their perceived improvement in the skills required for synchronous online teaching as expressed in their self-evaluation. The study was carried out as mixed-method research to evaluate the proposed course by measuring participants' perceived improvement in their synchronous online teaching skills. Training needs analysis (TNA) and post-training evaluation (PTE) (Salas & Cannon-Bowers, 2001; Scaradozzi et al., 2019) were adopted for the quantitative approach. The items in these two questionnaires measured the participants' perceived levels of self-confidence in conducting online teaching before and after attending the course. The TNA and PTE survey questionnaires were administered before and after the course, respectively, to the 67 teachers who participated in the course. Using SPSS Statistics 27.0, the Cronbach's alpha was computed to evaluate the reliability of the TNA, the PTE, and the ten course evaluation items. Then paired-samples t-tests were conducted to compare the pre- and post-training mean scores of the participants' self-confidence in each required skill complexes. The effect size was also calculated to determine the extent to which the proposed program is an effective educational intervention.

For the qualitative evaluation of the course, ten online semi-structured interviews were conducted. Online interviews complemented the PTE questionnaire because they enabled the individual course participants to provide insights into their learning experiences and the factors contributing to their post-training confidence levels. The interviews were conducted after collecting and analyzing the PTE data. Participants were invited for an interview if they had perceived either the greatest or lowest self-improvement in the complex skills required for synchronous online teaching as expressed in their self-evaluation. Each interview was approximately 20 minutes long.

3.2.5. Recruitment of participants

The author of this study recruited 67 participants by sending invitations to in-service teachers working at various hospitality and tourism institutions in Vietnam. Additionally, "snowball sampling" (Kosnik et al., 2018, p. 109) offered the opportunities to recruit more participants. Those who accepted our invitation suggested their colleagues who might also be interested in participating in our study. The recruited participants were experienced hospitality and tourism teachers with knowledge in the relevant subject matters but mostly in offline settings, or corporate trainers/training managers working at lodging properties, restaurants or travel agencies in Vietnam. They were required to conduct synchronous online classes during

the COVID-19 pandemic. Table 12 summarizes the participants' demographics and backgrounds.

Participants' der	nographics and background (n = 67)	Number of cases	Percentage
Gender	Male	15	22.4
	Female	51	76.1
	Prefer not to answer	1	1.5
Age	25–30	11	16.4
	31–40	30	44.8
	41–50	12	17.9
	51-60	10	14.9
	> 60	4	6.0
Education	Bachelor's degree	33	49.3
	Master's degree	30	44.8
	Ph.D. or higher	4	6.0
Teaching	Less than a year	27	40.0
experience	1 year – less than 5 years	16	23.9
	5 years – less than 10 years	12	17.9
	10–15 years	10	14.9
	More than 15 years	2	3.0
Specialization	Hospitality vocational training	3	4.5
	Hospitality management	10	14.9
	Tourism vocational training	3	4.5
	Travel services management	4	6.0
	Vocational culinary arts	1	1.50
	Vocational restaurant serving	4	6.0
	Restaurant management	12	17.9
	Supervisory/ Management/ Leadership training	41	61.2
	English for hospitality and tourism	13	19.4
	Others	23	34.3

Table 12. Participants' demographics and background (Study 1)

Regarding the age, most participants were 31–40 years old (44.8%). Only four participants were over 60 years old. Most (49.3%) of the participants had a bachelor's degree, and 44.8% had a master's degree. Only four participants had a Ph.D. Regarding teaching experience, 40% of the participants had less than one-year teaching experience in hospitality and tourism; 23.9%, more than one year to less than five years; 17.9%, five to less than ten

14.9%, 10–15 years. There were only two senior teachers with more than 15 years' teaching experience.

A noticeable characteristic is the teaching specialization. Although all participants had a professional background in hospitality and tourism, most specialized in delivering management courses (each participant may be teaching more than one subject matter). Only 7.5% conducted vocational training. Teachers who gave language training in the hospitality and tourism sector also participated, accounting for 19.4% of the study participants. The author conducted six courses from the beginning of June to the end of September 2020. Each had 10– 12 participants. This small class size supported the adoption of the *online learner-centered classrooms* mode outlined in Figure 5.

3.2.6. Data coding and analysis

The TNA survey questionnaire is a 25-item instrument consisting of eight subscales. Two subscales focus on participants' demographic data and registered classes (ten items). The others represent participants' confidence levels in the complex skills needed for synchronous online teaching: general knowledge about synchronous online conferencing technology (three items), developing online presence (three items), planning lessons (two items), handling technology to ensure learning (two items), adapting to learners' preferences (two items) and classroom management (two items). Each item is rated on the basis of a five-point Likert scale, where 1 means "strongly disagree" and 5, "strongly agree." There is one open-ended question asking participants about their challenges when teaching in synchronous online classrooms.

The structure of the PTE questionnaire is similar to that of the TNA questionnaire, but it has additional ten items related to participants' evaluation of the course. All the items in the PTE questionnaire seek to measure participants' self-confidence in the complex skills required for synchronous online teaching after taking part in the proposed program. As in the TNA questionnaire, all the self-evaluation items are scored on the basis of a five-point Likert scale, where 1 means "strongly disagree" and 5, "strongly agree."

The data obtained from the individual interviews were analyzed by answering the following guide questions:

- What are the features of feelings of self-confidence in synchronous online teaching?
- In what aspects did the proposed course contribute to the post-training perceived improvement of participants' self-confidence?

• How can the training course be improved?

The interview coding involved identifying words and phrases from the interviews that respond to any of the aforementioned guide questions. Emerging themes were also determined to provide suggestions for future research on the topic.

3.3. Study 2: Sampling, data collection, and analysis

3.3.1. An overview of PLS-SEM

Study 2 uses the PLS-SEM procedure suggested by Hair et al. (2022) as the primary approach to propose and evaluate a path model for instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching in the context of hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam. PLS-SEM is a regression-based approach that investigates the linear relationships between various independent variables and a single or multiple dependent variable(s) which are often "unobservable or unable to be measured directly" (Hair et al., 2022, p. 18).

This quantitative method has offered substantial benefits to social research, particularly those aiming to identify psychological success drivers to draw out managerial implications. First, it has been a prominent "causal-predictive" approach that estimates coefficients, i.e., path model relationships, to maximize the R^2 values, i.e., the amount of explained variance of the model's endogenous constructs. The fundamental causal-predictive logic of PLS-SEM follows what Gregor (2006) refers to as explaining and predicting (EP) theories. According to Gregor (2006, p. 626), this theory "corresponds to commonly held views of theory in both the natural and social sciences". Influential theories and models, e.g., Oliver (1980)'s expectationdisconfirmation theory or Davis (1989)'s technology acceptance model, have followed this EP approach as they were constructed primarily to explain and predict. Second, it works efficiently with small samples and complex models composed of both reflective and formative models (Cassel et al., 1999; Chin, 2010). However, to avoid misusing this characteristic of PLS-SEM, numerous researchers have provided guidelines for determining the sample size needed to ensure the statistical quality of PLS-SEM results. In their most recent study on finding the appropriate sample size for PLS-SEM research, Hair et al. (2022) propose a prospective approach where the required sample size is determined via the minimum expected effect size prior to data analysis drawn from a pilot study or previous research. Table 13 shows Hair et al. (2022, p. 27)'s guidelines on the minimum sample size requirement for different significance levels and varying ranges of the minimum path coefficient, i.e., p_{min} .

n		Significance level	
Pmin	1%	5%	10%
0.05-0.1	1,004	619	451
0.11-0.2	251	155	113
0.21-0.3	112	69	51
0.31-0.4	63	39	29
0.41-0.5	41	25	19

Table 13. Minimum Sample Sizes for Different Levels of Minimum Path Coefficients (p_{min})and Significance Levels (Hair et al., 2022, p. 27)

Last, unlike its alternative SEM approach, i.e., covariance-based structural equation modeling (CB-SEM), PLS-SEM does not require normally distributed data. Thus, it can be adopted in a broad range of research disciplines. However, because of this nonparametric characteristic, when testing the significance of path coefficients, PLS-SEM researchers need to derive a distribution from the data using *bootstrapping* technique in which subsamples of data are randomly drawn with replacements from the original set of data. This replacement process is repeatedly conducted until a large number of random subsamples (often 10,000) have been produced. The estimated parameters from the subsamples, e.g., the path coefficients, are used to derive standard errors for the estimates (Hair et al., 2022). Then, researchers can rely on the *bootstrap confidence interval* to determine whether the estimated parameters are statistically significant or not.

There is a variety of software programs that offer the PLS-SEM algorithm. The first built program was LVPLS (Lohmöller, 1987), which later was visually supported by Chin (2001)'s PLS-Graph. According to Hair et al. (2022), more user-friendly softwares have been developed recently. Researchers can choose from some of the most popular ones, such as Adanco (Henseler, 2017), SmartPLS (Ringle et al., 2015), and WarpPLS (Kock, 2020). Among these programs, SmartPLS has been the most broadly used, comprehensive, and advanced application for performing PLS analyses (Hair et al., 2022; Sarstedt & Cheah, 2019). For this reason, SmartPLS 3, i.e., the latest version of the software, is used as the primary tool for evaluating all the path models proposed in this thesis.

3.3.2. Research questions

Study 2 attempts to answer the following research questions:

RQ1. What are the exogenous factors influencing instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching?

RQ2. How are these factors related to each other?

RQ3. To what extent do these factors influence instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching?

3.3.3. Hypothetical path models and designed questionnaire

Although this study's target construct of interest is the *instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT)*, this study has its particular interests in two other endogenous constructs, which are simultaneously the antecedents of *IBOT*. These are *instructors' attitudes towards online teaching (ATT)* and *innovative organizational climate (OGC)*. Accordingly, there are three path models constructed and evaluated in this study. It should be noted that, to reduce model complexity, the author of this thesis chose to propose three separate path models despite their connections (instead of placing them all in the same model).

The original questionnaire was a 95-item instrument consisting of two subscales. One subscale is about participants' demographic and background data (six items). The others represent participants' perceptions about 14 different constructs, as shown in Table 14. Each item is rated on the basis of a five-point Likert scale, with the categories: (1) Fully disagree (or Never), (2) Disagree (or Rarely), (3) Neither agree nor disagree (or Every once in a while), (4) Agree (or Sometimes), and (5) Fully agree (or Always).

Subscales	Number of items
Participants' demographic and background	6
Instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT)	8
Skill complexes required for online teaching (SKILL)	14
Self-confidence in Online Teaching (SCOT)	6
Instructors' attitude towards online teaching (ATT)	7
Organizational innovative climate (OGC)	6
Macro-environmental factors (MEF)	6
Perceived usefulness of online teaching technology (PU)	4
Perceived ease of use of online teaching technology (PEU)	3
Attitude towards professional learning (PROF)	4
Internalization of organizational goals into personal goals (ISPG)	3
Transformational leadership (LEAD)	10
Collaboration among instructors (COLL)	7
Shared decision making (SDM)	3
Supportive infrastructure for online teaching (SIF)	8

Table 14. Structure of the questionnaire (Study 2)

The above measurement scale is appropriate because it presents symmetry of Likert items about a middle category and thus ensures that equidistant attributes can be observed. According to Hair et al. (2022), when a Likert scale is symmetric and equidistant, it can act more like an interval scale since it does not bias any results in favor of a preferable outcome. "So, while a Likert scale is ordinal, if it is well presented, then it is likely that the Likert scale can approximate an interval-level measurement" (Hair et al., 2022, p. 10). In addition, according to Simms et al. (2019), the psychometric differences between an odd- and even-numbered scale were "small to nonexistent" (p. 19), and a six-option response might be preferred to a seven-option one merely due to parsimonious advantage. Given the symmetric and equidistant advantage of an odd-numbered Likert scale, this study thus selects the five-point Likert scale for its measurement.

The three path models specified in this study are presented as follows.

Path model 1: Instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT)

In this study, *instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching* is defined as a complex set of actions categorized into three different types: generating, promoting, and realizing ideas and solutions useful for online teaching practices. The first one, i.e., idea generation, refers to the creation and introduction of new or adapted pedagogical methods for teaching in virtual classrooms. The second group of actions is related to idea promotion, which involves seeking support and sponsorship for implementing the proposed solutions. Finally, realizing ideas points to applying and converting new ideas into practical and effective online teaching practices or procedures. Table 15 shows the measurement indicators for this construct and the existing surveys from which these items are drawn.

Based on the current literature about *individual innovative behavior* and personal experiences of the author of this study, five antecedent dimensions of *instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching* were identified. Three of these constructs belong to the psychological group of factors, which includes: *skill complexes required for online teaching (SKILL), self-confidence in online teaching (SCOT),* and *instructors' attitude towards online teaching (ATT).* The other two antecedents are instructors' perceptions of environmental conditions, which are *innovative organizational climate (OGC)* and *macro-environmental factors (MEF).*

IBOT	Instructor's innovative behavior in online teaching (1 – "never" to 5 – "always")	Existing surveys
ibot_1	I create new teaching practices to solve challenges in the online teaching environment.	Scott and Bruce (1994); Zhou and George (2001); Zhang et al. (2018); Asbari et al. (2021)
ibot_2	I am looking for new teaching methods, techniques, and technologies to deliver my online lessons/lectures.	Scott and Bruce (1994); Asbari et al. (2021)
ibot_3	I promote my ideas in online teaching so that other teachers can use them in their online classes.	Scott and Bruce (1994); Zhang et al. (2018); Asbari et al. (2021)
ibot_4	I make important organizational members enthusiastic about innovative ideas in online teaching.	Janssen (2000)
ibot_5	I develop adequate plans and schedules to implement new ideas in online teaching.	Scott and Bruce (1994); Zhang et al. (2018)
ibot_6	I evaluate the utility of innovative ideas in online teaching.	Janssen (2000)
ibot_7	I contribute suggestions or approaches for others' teacher creative ideas in online teaching.	Zhang et al. (2018)
ibot_8	I am innovative in online teaching/ I am a good source of innovative ideas online teaching.	Scott and Bruce (1994); Zhou and George (2001)

Table 15. Indicators for Instructors' Innovative Behavior in Online Teaching (IBOT)

Based on the current literature and textbooks that provide guidelines on online teaching, this study identifies *the complex skills needed to facilitate online classes* which include developing an online presence, planning lessons, handling technology, adapting to learners' preferences, and classroom management. A list of studies mentioning these skills has been provided in Table 5. Table 16 below displays the indicators for this construct.

Skill complexes	SKILL	Skill complexes required for online teaching
		(1 – "fully disagree" to 5 – "fully agree")
Basic knowledge	skill_1	I can distinguish synchronous from asynchronous technology.
about online	skill_2	I can list the pros and cons of synchronous and asynchronous online teaching.
teaching	skill_3	I can list the differences among popular synchronous online conferencing platforms (WebEx, Microsoft Teams, Blackboard, Zoom, etc.)
Planning lessons	skill_4	I can list steps to help learners prepare before the online course starts.
	skill_5	I can design and implement online learning activities.
Developing online	skill_6	I can explain the definition and importance of online presence.
presence	skill_7	I can identify strategies to enhance my relationships with and among learners.
	skill_8	I can develop methods of enhancing social presence to overcome the lack of visual clues in online classes.
Handling	skill_9	I can explain what creates a quality online learning experience.
technology	skill_10	I can use the different built-in features of synchronous video conferencing platforms.
Adapting to	skill_11	I can recognize varied learning preferences and backgrounds.
learners' preferences	skill_12	I can identify technological resources and tools for adapting to various learning preferences.
Classroom	skill_13	I can distinguish between online and offline class management approaches.
management	skill_14	I can identify strategies to respond to student behaviors/misbehaviors in online classes.

Table 16. Indicators for Skill Complexes Required for Online Teaching (SKILL)

In this study, *instructors' self-confidence in online teaching (SCOT)* is defined as the reflection and expectation of their perceived capabilities when attempting to teach in online classrooms. Table 17 presents the measurement indicators for this construct and the existing surveys from which these items are adapted.

Table 17. Indicators for Self-confidence in Online Teaching (SCOT)

SCOT	Self-confidence in online teaching	Existing surveys
	(1 – "fully disagree" to 5 – "fully agree")	
scot_1	I expect myself to design new online teaching practices that work effectively.	Shrauger and Schohn
scot_2	I expect myself to implement new online teaching practices effectively.	(1995); Kolb (1999) ; Cox et al. (2003)
scot_3	I expect myself to design a new online course.	Shrauger and Schohn (1995): Cox at al
scot_4	I expect myself to engage students better with my new methods in online teaching.	(1995), Cox et al. (2003)
scot_5	I expect myself to maintain students' hope and commitment to their study and future career in the hospitality and tourism profession with my new methods in online teaching.	
scot_6	I am innovative in online teaching/ I am a good source of innovative ideas for online teaching.	Kolb (1999)

In this study, *instructors' attitude towards online teaching (ATT)* refers to opinions instructs hold towards the online teaching environment. Instructors with a positive attitude towards online education appear to be more willing to adopt technological web-based advances in their pedagogical practices than those with an unfavorable opinion of the online classroom environment. For this reason, when instructors believe in the strengths of online education, they may openly display their innovative behavior in online teaching. Table 18 shows the measurement indicators and the existing surveys where these items are adapted.

Table 18. Indicators for Instructors' Attitude towards Online Teaching (ATT)

ATT	Instructors' attitude towards online teaching (1 – "fully disagree" to 5 – "fully agree")	Existing surveys
att_1	Digital competence is an important 21st-century skill for every teacher.	Sangwan et al. (2021)
att_2	I believe online learning can improve the quality of my teaching performance.	
att_3	Online teaching is more interesting than classroom teaching.	
att_4	Online teaching can replace traditional teaching styles (face-to-face physical classrooms).	
att_5	I enjoy teaching online.	
att_6	I like reading magazines on new technology innovations for teaching.	
att_7	Discussions on online teaching technologies are interesting.	

Organizational innovative climate (OGC) is defined in this study as the perceived organizational conditions that support or motivate innovations necessary for enhancing organizational effectiveness and long-term development. When an organization sends out specific signals that expose its values and expectation, organizational members will take such cues as guidelines for reacting or behaving in a manner that may lead to more satisfactory outcomes such as improved performance evaluation and recognition. Table 19 presents the measurement indicators for this construct and the existing surveys from which these items are adapted.

Table 19. Indicators for Organizational Innovative Climate (OGC)

OGC	Organizational innovative climate (1 – "fully disagree" to 5 – "fully agree")	Existing surveys
ogc_1	My organization values my innovations in online teaching practices.	Eisenberger et
ogc_2	Help is available from my organization when I have a problem in shifting from face- to-face to online classrooms.	al. (1986)
ogc_3	My organization would forgive an honest mistake in implementing online teaching innovations.	
ogc_4	My organization takes pride in my innovations in online teaching.	
ogc_5	My organization provides financial rewards for online teaching innovations.	
ogc_6	I have enough supportive technological infrastructure needed for online teaching.	

The author of this research also based on the literature and personal experiences to identify *macro-environmental factors (MEF)* that may influence *instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching*. Although the existing research mentions these factors, survey items reflecting this construct have not been developed. Therefore, the MEF measurement items produced in this study are newly designed and shown in Table 20.

Table 20. Indicators for Macro-Environmental Factors (MEF)

cal
ng.
ine
ent
ore
c n ii e

Note. (R) indicates the item is reverse scored.

Based on the preceding review and previous research, a diagram demonstrating the hypothetical path model for *instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT)* is proposed and displayed in Figure 7.



Figure 7. A conceptual model for Innovative Behavior in Online Teaching (IBOT) Accordingly, the following hypotheses are posited in this study:

 H_1 : (*Perceived*) Skills complexes required for online teaching (SKILL) positively influence instructors' self-confidence in online teaching (SCOT).

 H_2 : Instructors' self-confidence in online teaching (SCOT) positively influences their innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT).

 H_3 : (Perceived) Skills complexes required for online teaching (SKILL) positively influence instructors' attitudes toward online teaching (ATT).

 H_4 : Instructors' attitude towards online teaching (ATT) positively influences their innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT).

 H_5 : Innovative organizational climate (OGC) positively influences instructors' (perceived) skills in online teaching (SKILL).

 H_6 : Innovative organizational climate (OGC) positively influences instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT).

 H_7 : (*Perceived*) macro-environmental factors (MEF) positively influence instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT).

 H_{8a} : Instructors' attitude towards online teaching (ATT) mediates the relationship between instructors' (perceived) skills in online teaching (SKILL) and their innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT).

 H_{8b} : Instructors' self-confidence in online teaching (SCOT) mediates the relationship between (perceived) skills in online teaching (SKILL) and instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT).

 H_{8c} : Instructors' (perceived) skills in online teaching (SKILL) mediate the relationship between innovative organizational climate (OGC) and instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT).

Path model 2: Instructors' attitude towards online teaching (ATT)

In addition to the main model, i.e., the *instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (IBOT)*, there are two more endogenous constructs that are simultaneously the antecedents of *IBOT*. They are also explored further in this study. One of them is the *instructors' attitude towards online teaching (ATT)*, whose measurement items have been displayed earlier in Table 18. Based on the current literature, five antecedent dimensions of this psychological construct are identified: *Perceived usefulness of online teaching technology (PU)*, *Perceived ease of use of online teaching technology (PEU)*, *Attitude towards professional learning (PROF)*, and *Internalization of organizational goals into personal goals (ISPG)*. The definitions of these constructs are provided in Table 7 (in sub-chapter 2.2.2). Tables 21-24 below show the measurement indicators for PU, PEU, PROF, ISPG, and the existing surveys from which these items are adapted.

Table 21. Indicators for Perceived Usefulness of Online Teaching Technology (PU)

PU	Perceived usefulness of online teaching technology (1 – "fully disagree" to 5 – "fully agree")	Existing surveys
pu_1	Online teaching and learning are very economical for institutions to adopt.	Kisanga and Ireson (2016)
pu_2	Online teaching can enhance the quality of knowledge attained.	103011 (2010)
pu_3	Communicating through online social networks in online classrooms is fun.	
pu_4	Online teaching and learning are flexible for both teachers and students.	

Table 22. Indicators for Perceived Ease of Use of Online Teaching Technology (PEU)

PEU	Perceived ease of use of online teaching technology (1 – "fully disagree" to 5 – "fully agree")	Existing surveys
peu_1	It's easier to prepare online lessons than face-to-face lessons.	Kisanga and
peu_2	Interacting with computer systems is easy.	neson (2010)
peu_3	Using online technologies for teaching requires few mental efforts.	

Table 23. Indicators for Attitude towards Professional Learning (PROF)

PROF	Attitude towards professional learning (1 – "never" to 5 – "always")	Existing surveys
prof_1	I proactively work on my own professional development in online education.	Geijsel et al.
prof_2	I participate in professional training programs in online teaching, even if it is not compulsory.	(2007)
prof_3	I enjoy reading professional literature about online teaching.	
prof_4	I study online-teaching textbooks and lesson material thoroughly and regularly.	

Table 24. Indicators for Internalization of Organizational Goals into Personal Goals (ISPG)

ISPG	Internalization of organizational goals into personal goals (1 – "fully disagree" to 5 – "fully agree")	Existing surveys
ispg_1	I make an effort to put the school's vision of online education into practice.	Geijsel et al. (2009)
ispg_2	I do my best to understand what implications the school's vision has for my teaching strategies for online classes.	
ispg_3	I know the next steps for putting the schools' vision of online education into practice.	

Based on the existing literature, a diagram demonstrating the hypothetical path model for *instructors' attitudes towards online teaching (ATT)* is proposed and displayed in Figure 8 below.



Figure 8. A conceptual model for instructors' Attitude towards Online Teaching (ATT) As shown in Figure 8, the following hypotheses are posited in this study:

 H_9 : Perceived usefulness of online teaching technology (PU) positively influences instructors' attitudes toward online teaching (ATT).

 H_{10} : Perceived ease of use of online teaching technology (PEU) positively influences instructors' attitudes towards online teaching (ATT).

 H_{11} : Attitude toward professional learning (PROF) positively influences instructors' attitudes toward online teaching (ATT).

 H_{12} : Instructors' internalization of organizational goals into personal goals (ISPG) positively influences their attitudes toward online teaching (ATT).

Path model 3: Innovative organizational climate (OGC)

Innovative organizational climate has various dimensions, among which four prominent antecedents are selected for the context of online teaching outlined in this thesis. These factors include *transformational leadership* (*LEAD*), collaboration among instructors (COLL), shared decision making (SDM), and supportive infrastructure for online teaching (SIF). Tables 25-28 show the measurement indicators for these constructs and the current surveys from which these items are adapted.

LEAD	Transformational leadership (1 – "fully disagree" to 5 – "fully agree")	Existing surveys
lead_1	The leaders make use of all possible opportunities to communicate the school's vision of online education to teaching staff, students, parents, and others.	Geijsel et al. (2009)
lead_2	The leaders have comprehensive knowledge about online education.	
lead_3	The leaders understand the current problems caused by the shift from face-to-face to online classrooms.	
lead_4	The leaders believe in the power of online teaching and learning.	
lead_5	The leaders support me in solving problems related to online teaching.	
lead_6	The leaders appreciate it when a teacher takes the initiative to improve online teaching.	
lead_7	The leaders offer financial rewards for my innovations in online teaching.	
lead_8	The leaders encourage teachers to implement innovations in online teaching.	
lead_9	The leaders encourage teachers to seek and discuss new information and ideas relevant to the institution's vision of online education.	
lead_10	The leaders provide me with opportunities to participate in professional training programs about online teaching.	

Table 25. Indicators for Transformational Leadership (LEAD)

Table 26. Indicators for Collaboration among Instructors (COLL)

COLL	Collaboration among instructors (1 – "never" to 5 – "always")	Existing surveys
coll_1	My colleagues discuss new methods for online teaching with me.	Geijsel et al.
coll_2	My colleagues give me positive feedback about my online teaching.	(2009)
coll_3	My colleagues give support when I try out new teaching methods for online classrooms.	
coll_4	My colleagues tell me what online teaching problems they have and how they solve them.	
coll_5	My colleagues pass on to me things they have learned from training programs about online teaching.	
coll_6	My colleagues let me observe their teaching performance in online classrooms.	
coll_7	My colleagues often co-teach (online) to learn from each other.	

Table 27. Indicators for Shared Decision Making (SDM)

SDM	Shared decision making (1 – "never" to 5 – "always")	Existing surveys
sdm_1	Teachers at my organizations are involved in decisions about acquiring new technologies/resources/materials for online teaching.	Geijsel et al. (2009)
sdm_2	At my organization, teachers make decisions about new educational objectives together.	
sdm_3	At my organization, teachers are involved in decisions about using new online teaching methods.	

SIF	Supportive infrastructure for online teaching (1 – "never" to 5 – "always")	Existing surveys
sif_1	My organization has an IT department/team to support teachers in teaching online.	Meyer and Barefield (2010)
sif_2	My organization has an effective and well-supported campus network.	
sif_3	My organization has effective server support.	
sif_4	My organization has an effective learning management system (LMS).	
sif_5	My organization has effective online library services.	
sif_6	My organization evaluates new online technology for online teaching.	
sif_7	My organization assesses and updates the quality of online course content.	
sif_8	When I have to deliver online lessons from home, my organization provides incentives and financial support for my online teaching.	

Table 28. Indicators for Supportive Infrastructure for Online Teaching (SIF)

In this study, the author argues that *transformational leadership* (*LEAD*) directly impacts all constructs in this model. That is to say, when leaders show their efforts in building an organizational vision for the future, providing support for each member of the organization, and encouraging intellectual stimulation, they strengthen the collaboration among instructors and create more opportunities for instructors to participate in making decisions related to adopting new approaches or technology. Based on these arguments, a hypothetical path model for *innovative organizational climate* (*OGC*) is proposed and shown in Figure 9 below.



Figure 9. A conceptual model for Innovative Organizational Climate (OGC)

As can be seen in Figure 9, the following hypotheses are posited in this study:

 H_{13} : Transformational leadership (LEAD) positively influences collaboration among instructors (COLL).

 H_{14} : Collaboration among instructors (COLL) positively influences innovative organizational climate (OGC).

 H_{15} : Transformational leadership (LEAD) positively influences innovative organizational climate (OGC).

 H_{16} : Transformational leadership (LEAD) positively influences shared decision-making (SDM).

 H_{17} : Shared decision-making (SDM) positively influences innovative organizational climate (OGC).

 H_{18} : Transformational leadership (LEAD) positively influences supportive infrastructure for online teaching (SIF).

 H_{19} : Supportive infrastructure for online teaching (SIF) positively influences innovative organizational climate (OGC).

 H_{20a} : Collaboration among instructors (COLL) mediates the relationship between transformational leadership (LEAD) and innovative organizational climate (OGC).

 H_{20b} : Shared decision-making (SDM) mediates the relationship between transformational leadership (LEAD) and innovative organizational climate (OGC).

 H_{20c} : Supportive infrastructure for online teaching (SIF) mediates the relationship between transformational leadership (LEAD) and innovative organizational climate (OGC).

3.3.4. Sample size and recruitment of participants

The author of this study used "*targeted personal network sampling*" (Spreen & Zwaagstra, 1994), i.e., "*network sampling*" (Frank, 2011), for implementing both the pilot and the main study. *Targeted sampling* is a data collection technique for obtaining an appropriate sample of respondents for survey research while allowing researchers to better control the sampling process and the implementation of the survey (Kozłowski et al., 2021; Spreen & Zwaagstra, 1994). In this study, respondents are experienced hospitality and tourism instructors or corporate trainers/training managers working at lodging properties, restaurants, or travel agencies in Vietnam. They were required to conduct online classes during the COVID-19 pandemic. It can be noted that around 50% of participants in *Study 1* also took part in *Study 2*.

A pilot phase was conducted to test the three hypothesized models, using a smaller sample of respondents from the same population. Quantitative data were collected through an online survey, which was open from 6th to 18th March 2022. Because the draft questionnaire was initially developed in the English language, the author translated it into Vietnamese and performed back-translation with the support of two English language experts. The results from this pilot study were used to improve the designed questionnaire and draw a minimum path coefficient used for determining the sample size needed for the main study. According to Johanson and Brooks (2009), 30 representative participants from the population of interest is a reasonable minimum recommendation for a pilot study where the purpose is a preliminary survey or scale development. Therefore, 30 participants were recruited for the pilot study. The characteristics of these respondents are summarized in Table 29.

After the pilot study had been conducted and the scale's reliability had been initially tested, the original questionnaire was shortened, and the total number of items was reduced from 95 to 60. Since the pilot study produced a minimum path coefficient of 0.24, this value is chosen as input for computing the required sample size for the main study. Accordingly, as suggested by Hair et al. (2022) (see Table 13), when the minimum path coefficient expected to be significant is from 0.21 to 0.3, the main study would need approximately 69 observations to render the corresponding effect significant at 5%. Therefore, in the main study, 76 participants were recruited for the second online survey, which was open from 19th to 31st March 2022. The characteristics of these respondents are summarized in Table 30.

As can be seen in Table 30, female instructors account for approximately 58%. Regarding the age, most participants in the main study were 31–40 years old (48.7%). Those under 30 comprise a lower percentage of the total (19.7%), teachers from 41 to 50 years old account for approximately 17.1%, while the oldest group accounts for the lowest percentage (about 14.5%).

Most (49.3%) of the participants in the main study had a Master's degree (53.9%), and 42.1% had a Bachelor's degree. Only one participant had a Ph.D. Regarding teaching experience, most of the participants had less than five years of teaching experience in the area of hospitality and tourism; 18.4%, five to less than ten years; the most experienced instructors (10-15 years, and more than 15 years) account for the lowest percentages (14.5% each). Regarding teaching specialization, although all participants had a professional background in hospitality and tourism, most of them specialized in delivering management courses (each

participant may be teaching in more than one subject matter). 48 participants conducted vocational training. In addition, instructors who gave language training in the hospitality and tourism sector also participated in the study, accounting for 15.8% of the study participants.

Participants' demographics and background (n = 30)		Number of cases	Percentage
Gender	Male	7	23.3
	Female	23	76.7
Age	25-30	2	6.7
	31–40	19	63.3
	41–50	6	20.0
	51-60	3	10.0
Education	Vocational College Diploma	1	3.3
	Bachelor's degree	8	26.7
	Master's degree	20	66.7
	Ph.D. or higher	1	3.3
Teaching	Less than a year	4	13.3
experience	1 year – less than 5 years	7	23.3
	5 years – less than 10 years	9	30.0
	10-15 years	7	23.3
	More than 15 years	3	10.0
Specialization	Hospitality vocational training	4	13.3
	Hospitality management	5	16.7
	Tourism vocational training	5	16.7
	Travel services management	1	3.3
	Vocational culinary arts	4	13.3
	Vocational restaurant serving	1	3.3
	Restaurant management	4	13.3
	Supervisory/ Management/ Leadership training	16	53.3
	English for hospitality and tourism	10	33.3
	Others	10	33.3

Table 29. Participants' demographics and background (Study 2 - pilot phase)
Participants' dem	ographics and background (n = 76)	Number of cases	Percentage
Gender	Male	27	35.5
	Female	44	57.9
	Prefer not to answer	5	6.6
Age	25–30	15	19.7
	31–40	37	48.7
	41–50	13	17.1
	51-60	11	14.5
Education	High School	1	1.3
	Vocational College Diploma	1	1.3
	Bachelor's degree	32	42.1
	Master's degree	41	53.9
	Ph.D. or higher	1	1.3
Teaching	Less than a year	15	19.7
experience	1 year – less than 5 years	25	32.9
	5 years – less than 10 years	14	18.4
	10–15 years	11	14.5
	More than 15 years	11	14.5
Specialization	Hospitality vocational training	11	14.5
	Hospitality management	11	14.5
	Tourism vocational training	24	31.6
	Travel services management	8	10.5
	Vocational culinary arts	8	10.5
	Vocational restaurant serving	5	6.6
	Restaurant management	5	6.6
	Supervisory/ Management/ Leadership training	26	34.2
	English for hospitality and tourism	12	15.8
	Others	19	25.0

Table 30. Participants' demographics and background (Study 2 - main study)

3.3.5. Analysis procedure

The author of this study adopted the PLS-SEM's systematic procedure suggested by Hair et al. (2022) to evaluate all the proposed path models. Specifically, after specifying the models and collecting data, the analysis starts with assessing the measurement models. When the data for the measures are deemed reliable and valid, the structural models can be evaluated. The established criteria used for each phase of the evaluation process are as follows.

Evaluation of the measurement models

According to Hair et al. (2022), assessing the measurement models involves the evaluation of the relationships between the indicators and the constructs. Since all the measurement models in this study are reflective, i.e., the specified indicators represent the effects of the underlying constructs, the author focuses on evaluating their *indicator reliability*, *internal consistency reliability*, *convergent reliability*, and *discriminant validity*.

Indicator reliability refers to assessing the outer loadings of the measurement items. The large size of the outer loadings on a construct signifies that its indicators have much in common captured by the construct. Specifically, the standardized outer loadings should be at least 0.708 because this number squared $(0.708)^2$ equals 0.5, i.e., the latent construct could explain at least 50% of each indicator's variance (Hair et al., 2022). Figure 10 shows Hair et al. (2022)'s recommendations on indicator retention based on outer loadings.

The *internal consistency reliability* of measurement models is measured via three primary criteria: the *Cronbach's alpha*, the *composite reliability* (ρ_c), and the *reliability coefficient* (ρ_A). These three reliability metrics complement each other and thus should be jointly used by researchers to ensure the satisfactory level of the measurement models' *internal consistency reliability*. Although their values often vary between 0 and 1, with larger sizes indicating higher levels of reliability, the range 0.6-0.7 is acceptable in exploratory studies, and values above 0.95 are not desirable since such high rates are often the results of rephrasing the same indicators (Hair et al., 2022).



* *Content validity* refers to the degree to which researchers ensure a reasonable theoretical background

Figure 10. Outer Loading Relevance Testing (Hair et al., 2022)

Convergent validity is the degree to which an indicator correlates positively with its alternatives in the same construct (Hair et al., 2022). In other words, the measurement items of a particular reflective construct should share a relative amount of variance. The typical metric for this criterion is the *average variance extracted (AVE)*. Similar to the rationale behind the *indicator reliability*, *AVE* should have a value of at least 0.5, i.e., the reflective construct can explain more than 50% of the variance of its indicators.

Discriminant validity is defined by Hair et al. (2022, p. 120) as "the extent to which a construct is truly distinct from other constructs by empirical standards". Although there are various metrics to establish this criterion, numerous researchers recommend that the heterotrait-monotrait ratio of the correlations among constructs (HTMT) is the most accurate indicator of *discriminant validity*. HTMT is the mean of all correlations of indicators across constructs. It estimates the degree to which two particular constructs are genuinely correlated. Although the threshold for this metric is often set at 0.9 (Henseler et al., 2015), Garson (2016) contends that *discriminant validity* between two closely-related reflective constructs can also be justified when the *HTMT* ratio is below 1.0. Noticeably, when adopting the *HTMT* approach in PLS-SEM analysis, since there is no distributional assumption, researchers need to rely on the bootstrapping procedure, i.e., randomly and repeatedly drawing subsamples (with replacement) from the original dataset. This process helps researchers to acquire a distribution of the HTMT statistics and accordingly obtain a bootstrap confidence interval, which is used for assessing whether the HTMT ratio is statistically significantly lower than a given threshold value with a certain level of confidence, e.g., 95%. As suggested by Hair et al. (2022), the typical number of randomly drawn subsamples in the *bootstrapping* procedure is about 10,000. Therefore, in this study, the *bootstrapping* process is only conducted in the main study where sufficient data have already been collected.

Evaluation of the structural models

After the reliability and validity of the measurement models are established, the next step is to assess the path models' capabilities in explaining and predicting the target constructs. Hair et al. (2022) introduced a systematic procedure to conduct this task. This procedure is shown in Figure 11 below.



Figure 11. Structural model assessment procedure, based on Hair et al. (2022)

As can be seen in Figure 11, the first step of evaluating the structural models is to examine whether there are collinearity issues. The rationale behind this step is that the estimated path coefficients might be biased if excessive levels of collinearity among the predictor variables exist. To assess collinearity, the author of this study computes the *variance inflation factor (VIF)*, which is defined as the inverse of the *tolerance coefficient (TOL)*, i.e., the amount of variance of one formative indicator not explained by the other indicators in the same block. Each set of predictor constructs (of the same target construct) needs to be examined separately to determine whether there are high levels of collinearity between them. According to Hair et al. (2022), the *VIF* values in the predictor constructs should be lower than 5 and preferably below 3 to ensure that no substantial collinearity issues exist in the structural models. If the *VIF* estimates indicate a high level of collinearity, there might be a need to eliminate, merge predictor constructs, or even create higher-order constructs.

After treating collinearity problems and ensuring that there is no critical level of collinearity, the next step in evaluating structural models is to assess the *significance* and *relevance* of the model relationships. The *significance* of these relationships is examined through the size of the *path coefficients*, which indicate the *hypothesized relationships* among the constructs. The standardized values of these coefficients range from -1 to +1. The closer their estimated values are to +1, the stronger positive relationships are indicated (and vice versa for negative values). A low value close to 0 represents a relationship potentially not statistically significant (Hair et al., 2022).

To better determine whether the *path coefficients* are statistically significant, the author of this study uses the *bootstrapping* procedure in which the empirical *p* values for all the

structural *path coefficients* are computed. The p value is the "probability of erroneously rejecting a true null hypothesis, i.e., assuming a significant path coefficient when in fact it is not significant" (Hair et al., 2022, p. 192). When assuming a significance level of 5%, the p value must be lower than 0.05 to conclude that the relationship under investigation is significant at a 5% level.

After the *significance* of relationships is examined, the *relevance* of these relationships needs to be evaluated. It should be noted that the *path coefficients* in the structural models may be significant, but their values may be very low and thus may not require managerial attention. Therefore, it is suggested that instead of merely focusing on the direct effects, one should also compute the *total effects*, i.e., the sum of *direct* and *indirect effects* that one construct has on one another. The *indirect effects* are indicated via one or more *mediating* constructs. The interpretation of the *total effects* has been considered essential in research studies where various driver constructs impact an endogenous construct (through one or more mediators) (Hair et al., 2022).

In step 3, i.e., assessing the models' explanatory power or their ability to fit the dataset, a commonly used metric to establish this criterion is the *coefficient of determination* (R^2) value, calculated as the squared correlation between a specific endogenous construct's actual and predicted values. R^2 indicates the amount of variance in one endogenous construct explained by all of the predictor constructs. Hair et al. (2022) also refer to this value as an indicator for *in-sample predictive power*. Since it ranges from 0 to 1, a higher value of this metric represents a higher level of the model's *explanatory power*. Interpreting its size can be based on related studies and models with comparable complexity.

The R^2 value can also be used to compute the f^2 *effect size*, which is the change in the R^2 value when a specific predictor construct is discarded from the model. Although the f^2 *effect size* is somewhat similar to the *path coefficient*, the author of this study still uses this metric to make the evaluation more comprehensive. Guidelines for assessing this metric are that values of 0.02, 0.15, and 0.35, respectively, represent the predictor constructs' small, medium, and large effects (Cohen, 1988).

The last step of the evaluation process is essential for ensuring that the structural models produce generalizable findings, i.e., the results not only apply to the original data but also to other datasets. When this generalizable quality is established, the specified path models thus can be used for making managerial decisions (Hair et al., 2022). In other words, PLS-SEM

researchers need to assess their models' *out-of-sample predictive power*, commonly referred to as their *predictive power*. In this study, the author uses two indicators of this criterion: the *Stone-Geisser's Q² statistic* (Geisser, 1974; Stone, 1974) and the *root mean square error* (*RMSE*), obtained through the process of running the *blindfolding* and the Shmueli et al. (2016)'s *PLS*_{predict} procedure, respectively.

Blindfolding is a sample reuse technique that repeatedly omits every dth data point in the endogenous variable's indicators and estimates the parameters with the remaining data points. The difference between the actual (omitted) data points and the predicted one is used as an input for the *Stone-Geisser's* Q^2 *statistic*. According to Henseler et al. (2009), a Q^2 value above zero indicates that the model has predictive relevance.

The $PLS_{predict}$ procedure guided by Shmueli et al. (2019) refers to the process of dividing the original dataset into *training* and *holdout samples*. A *training sample* is used for estimating parameters such as the *path coefficients* or the *outer loadings*, whereas the *holdout sample* is the remaining portion of the dataset. $PLS_{predict}$ uses the values for the predictor constructs' indicators of observations in the *holdout sample* and applies the model estimates from the *training sample* to produce predictions of the target constructs' indicators (Shmueli et al., 2016). Accordingly, a minor difference between the actual and the predicted values indicates that the model has high *predictive power*.

When conducting the $PLS_{predict}$ procedure, researchers need to base on the concept of *k-fold cross-validation* where the original dataset is separated into *k* equally sized subsets of data. Hair et al. (2022) recommend that *k* can be set to 10 for predictive studies as long as the minimum sample size requirements are met (see Table 13). Therefore, in this study, when performing the $PLS_{predict}$ procedure, the author also set *k* to 10 in the main study for assessing the models' *predictive power* (the pilot study does not have a large-enough sample size to conduct this validation step). In addition to the concept of *k-fold cross-validation*, the author also pays attention to the number of times the $PLS_{predict}$ algorithm is repeatedly run, i.e., *r times*. The higher value *r* is, the higher precision of the estimates (Hair et al., 2022). According to Witten et al. (2016), setting *r* to 10 generally helps balance accuracy and runtime. Therefore, in this study, the author also sets *r* to 10 when performing the $PLS_{predict}$ procedure for generating the prediction statistics.

Regarding the prediction statistics, the *mean absolute error* (*MAE*) and the *root mean* square error (*RMSE*) are two important metrics for evaluating the path models' predictive

power. As suggested by Hair et al. (2022), since the *RMSE* should be primarily used unless the prediction error distribution is highly non-symmetric, the author considers the *RMSE* as the default metric for interpreting the prediction error of the endogenous construct' indicators. Because the *RMSE* is scaled, the smaller its values are, the higher predictive power the path models have. This statistic is defined as follows, whereby y_i represents the value of y for observation i (i = 1,...,n) and \hat{y}_i is the predicted value for that observation:

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \hat{y}_i)^2}{n}}$$

Lastly, a *linear regression model (LM) benchmark*, suggested by Shmueli et al. (2016), is adopted in this study to generate predictions for the manifest variables by running a linear regression of each of the endogenous variable's indicators on the indicators of the exogenous variables in the path models. Researchers would expect their predictions, which consider the whole model structure, to outperform the *naive LM benchmark*. In other words, when the $Q_{predict}^2$ value, i.e., the naive benchmark using the mean value of the variables in a *training sample* as predictions of the variables in the *holdout samples*, is higher than zero, the indicator outperforms the most naive benchmark, i.e., the indicator means from the *training sample* for the formula to compute $Q_{predict}^2$. In this study, only when $Q_{predict}^2 > 0$ has been established, the author then started comparing the RMSE values with the *naive LM benchmark*. According to Hair et al. (2022), this comparison can lead to four outcomes:

- 1. If all indicators (of the target construct) have lower *RMSE* values than that of the *naive LM benchmark*, the model has *high predictive power*.
- 2. If the majority (or the same number) of indicators in the path models produce smaller prediction errors compared to the *LM*, this indicates a *medium predictive power*.
- 3. If a minority of the indicators yield lower prediction errors compared to the *LM*, this indicates the model has *low predictive power*.
- 4. If none of the indicators have lower *RMSE* values, the model *lacks predictive power*.

4. Results of *Study 1*: Evaluating an innovation in online teaching (*SRO1*)

4.1. Perceived improvement of self-confidence in the complex skills required for online teaching through the proposed course

The resulting α coefficients of reliability of the TNA, PTE, and course evaluation items ranged from 0.74 to 0.94 (see Table 31), indicating that the designed questionnaires are reliable instruments.

Measures	Number of items	Cronbach's alpha
Training Needs Analysis (TNA)	14	0.94
Post-Training Evaluation (PTE)	14	0.89
Course evaluation	10	0.74

Table 31. a coefficients of the TNA, PTE, and course evaluation items

Before taking the proposed course, the TNA results show that participants rated their self-confidence in the complex skills required for synchronous online teaching at a medium level, ranging from 2.32 to 2.71 (see Table 32 below). In their responses to the open-ended question on their current difficulties in synchronous online teaching, most participants claimed that they had not had much experience conducting virtual training programs and thus felt a significant lack of confidence in interacting with their target learners. Furthermore, participants whose job was running vocational training programs shared their common challenges in moving their hands-on training programs to virtual classrooms. They also expressed their doubts on whether practice-based courses can be delivered through a virtual environment. Such concern may explain the low percentage of vocational trainers who participated in this study. Lastly, most participants claimed that they could not distinguish synchronous from asynchronous technologies and thus were unable to use such tools. In essence, participants' lack of both pedagogical and technological knowledge appears to force them and other hospitality and tourism instructors in Vietnam to adopt a traditional passive lecture format, which is not participartly effective in online classrooms.

The PTE results revealed an enhancement in the 67 participants' self-confidence in the complex skills required for synchronous online teaching, with average post-training self-evaluation ratings ranging from 4.17 to 4.53 (see Figures 12-17 and Table 32). The paired-samples t-tests confirmed that the proposed training course had a significant impact on the participants' self-confidence in the complex synchronous online teaching skills, with all the p-values lower than 0.001. The Cohen's d values, which were computed to evaluate the effect

size, ranged from 0.83 to 0.96, indicating that the course had a large effect on the participants' perceived improvement in self-confidence across the complex synchronous online teaching skills (RQ1). The effect size results also ensures that the selected sample size meets the requirements of sample size for evaluating educational interventions, according to McConnell et al. (2019). Table 32 shows the paired self-evaluation ratings (before and after the training) in each online teaching skill.



Figure 12. Perceived improvement in 'knowledge on online teaching' after training



Figure 13. Perceived improvement in 'developing online presence' after training



Figure 14. Perceived improvement in 'planning lessons' after training



Figure 15. Perceived improvement in 'handling technology' after training



Figure 16. Perceived improvement in 'adapting to learners' preferences' after training



Figure 17. Perceived improvement in 'classroom management' after training

Learnin	g outcomes (LO)	Mean (Pre- training)	Mean (Post- training)	T value	Cohen's d	p value < 0.001?
L01	Knowledge on synchronous online teaching	2.34	4.53	-18.74	0.95	Yes
L01-3	I can distinguish synchronous from asynchronous technology.	2.22	4.87			
LO1-4	I can list the pros and cons of synchronous online teaching.	2.49	4.7			
LO1-5	I can list differences among popular synchronous conferencing platforms.	2.31	4.01			
LO2	Developing online presence	2.56	4.41	-16.23	0.94	Yes
LO2-1	I can explain the definition and importance of online presence.	2.96	4.61			
LO2-2	I can develop strategies to enhance relationships with and among learners.	2.43	4.43			
LO2-3	I can develop methods to enhance social presence to overcome the lack of visual clues in online classes.	2.28	4.19			
LO3	Planning lessons	2.32	4.17	-15.76	0.96	Yes
LO3-1	I can list steps to help learners prepare before the course starts.	2.36	4.42			
LO3-2	I can design and implement synchronous online learning activities.	2.43	3.93			
LO4	Handling technology	2.52	4.21	-14.37	0.96	Yes
LO4-1	I can explain what creates quality online learning experience.	2.52	4.51			
LO4-2	I can use different built-in features of synchronous platforms.	2.43	3.91			
LO5	Adapting to learners' preferences	2.68	4.21	-14.29	0.88	Yes
LO5-1	I can recognize varied learning preferences and background.	2.97	4.43			
LO5-2	I can identify technological resources and tools for adapting to various learning preferences.	2.39	4.00			
LO6	Classroom management	2.71	4.43	-16.90	0.83	Yes
LO6-1	I can distinguish between online and offline class management approaches.	3.03	4.66			
LO6-2	I can identify technological resources and tools for adapting to various learning preferences.	2.39	4.19			

Table 32. Paired-samples t-test results for perceived improvement in online teaching skills

As shown in Table 32, participants' perceived improvement in the general knowledge about synchronous online teaching had the highest mean value. On the other hand, the lowest mean value was found in the perceived improvement in the complex skill of adapting to learners' preferences. These findings are consistent with the interview results, indicating that participants need more time to identify the technological tools and resources that could enable them to adapt to learners' learning styles and practice using these.

This study also found two participants with negative differences between the post- and pre-training self-evaluation ratings. This result subtly showed a reperception of the self-evaluation ratings after the training. The two participants with these lower self-evaluation ratings were invited for a posttraining interview for a more in-depth analysis of their unique results.

4.2. Underlying factors contributing to the perceived self-confidence improvement

Principal component analysis (PCA) was run on the 14-item PTE questionnaire to identify the underlying elements of the participants' self-confidence levels after the training. The suitability of PCA was assessed prior to its use. The inspection of the correlation matrix showed that all the 14 learning outcome items in the PTE had at least one correlation coefficient greater than 0.3. The PCA revealed three components that had eigenvalues greater than 1. These three components explained 44.2%, 12.1%, and 7.5% of the total variance, respectively. The visual inspection of the scree plot in Figure 18 also indicated that three components should be retained (Cattell, 1966). Therefore, the three-component solution was adopted. Table 33 shows the rotated loading matrix, with all the factor loadings less than 0.3 omitted.



Figure 18. Retention of the three components before the last inflection point

Learnin (post-tr:	Rotated component coefficients Component			
(P 000 C)		1	2	3
LO3-1	I can list steps to help learners prepare before the course starts.	0.764	0.376	
LO1-4	I can list the pros and cons of synchronous online teaching.	0.763		
LO4-1	I can explain what creates quality online learning experience.	0.750		
LO6-1	I can distinguish between online and offline class management approaches.	0.702		0.391
LO1-3	I can distinguish synchronous from asynchronous technology.	0.683		
LO5-1	I can recognize varied learning preferences and backgrounds.	0.637	0.319	
LO3-2	I can design and implement synchronous online learning activities.		0.844	
LO4-2	I can use the different built-in features of synchronous platforms.		0.767	0.318
LO5-2	I can identify technological resources and tools for adapting to various learning preferences.	0.436	0.753	
LO2-3	I can develop methods of enhancing social presence to overcome the lack of visual clues in online classes.		0.723	0.378
LO6-2	I can identify strategies to respond to student behaviours/misbehaviours in synchronous online classes.	0.391	0.683	
LO2-2	I can develop strategies to enhance my relationships with and among learners.			0.793
LO2-1	I can explain the definition and importance of online presence.			0.746
LO1-5	I can list the differences among popular synchronous online conferencing platforms (WebEx, Microsoft Teams, Blackboard, Zoom).			0.367

Table 33. Rotated structure matrix for PCA with Varimax rotation of a three-component solution

Notes: The major loadings for each PTE item are boldfaced. Extraction method: PCA. Rotation method: Varimax with Kaiser normalization.

As shown in Table 33, although some PTE items loaded onto two components in the PCA (e.g. LO3-1, LO6-1, LO5-1, LO4-2, LO5-2, LO2-3 and LO6-2), the difference in factor loadings for the two components either reach nearly 0.3 (in the case of LO6-2) or are more than 0.3 (in all the remaining cases). Therefore, all these items are deemed to measure the underlying constructs with the higher corresponding factor loading. Other items loaded onto only one component, when grouped accordingly, appeared to measure the same element of the

participants' self-confidence level in the post-training stage. After grouping the items that measure the same underlying element, we adopted the structure of the knowledge dimension of the revised Bloom's taxonomy developed by Krathwohl (2002) to recognize the elements that might have contributed to the participants' improved self-confidence after the training.

Based on the PCA results, the PTE items with primary loadings onto the first component are LO3-1, LO1-4, LO4-1, LO6-1, LO1-3, and LO5-1. Despite being embedded in various course sessions, all these items belong to the category of "factual knowledge," defined by Krathwohl (2002) as the "basic elements that students must know to be acquainted with a discipline or solve problems in it" (p. 214). Specifically, factual knowledge includes knowledge of terminology and an understanding of specific details and elements. Therefore, in this study, the course sessions that equipped the participants with such knowledge might have contributed to the resulting participants' perceived improvement in their abilities to teach online.

Similarly, the PTE items with major loadings onto the second component included LO3-2, LO4-2, LO5-2, LO2-3, and LO6-2. These items appeared to characterize "procedural knowledge," which refers to as "how to do something, methods of inquiry, and criteria for using skills, algorithms, techniques, and methods" (p. 214). Accordingly, the second component was related to the procedural knowledge needed to practice synchronous online teaching.

The last component had three items, LO2-2, LO2-1, and LO1-5, which were deemed to measure "knowledge of principles and generalizations," "knowledge of theories, models and structures", and "knowledge of classifications and categories," respectively. According to Krathwohl (2002), these three types of knowledge are categorized as "conceptual knowledge."

In essence, the PCA results in this study suggested that a training program for building teachers' self-confidence in conducting synchronous online teaching should enhance three essential categories of the knowledge dimension in the revised Bloom's taxonomy: factual, conceptual, and procedural knowledge.

4.3. Participants' evaluation of the proposed training program

Regarding the participants' course evaluation, the participants had a high level of satisfaction with the proposed course. However, among the evaluation items (see Table 34), the time allotted for the training received the lowest mean score, indicating that the proposed course needs to offer more time for the participants to adopt and practice synchronous online teaching.

Evaluation items	Minimum	Maximum	Mean
1. The objectives of the training were well defined.	4.00	5.00	4.86
2. The topics covered were relevant to me.	4.00	5.00	4.91
3. The content was well organized and easy to follow.	4.00	5.00	4.82
4. Blackboard Coursesites LMS was helpful for the learning process.	3.00	5.00	4.44
5. The materials that were distributed were helpful.	4.00	5.00	4.77
6. The learning activities helped achieve the learning outcomes.	4.00	5.00	4.79
7. The training facilitator was able to establish an online presence.	4.00	5.00	4.71
8. Blackboard Collaborate was a helpful synchronous platform for this training.	3.00	5.00	4.43
9. The time allotted for the training was sufficient.	2.00	5.00	4.07
10. This training experience will be useful for my future work.	4.00	5.00	4.89

Table 34. Participants' evaluation of the proposed course (n = 67)

Spearman's rank-order correlation tests were also conducted to determine if there was a relationship between the participant's satisfaction with the proposed course and the mean difference in their self-confidence ratings before and after the training. The preliminary analysis showed that all the relationships were monotonic, as evaluated through the visual inspection of the scatterplots. The results showed that all the Spearman's correlations were not statistically significant (i.e., p > 0.05). Therefore, the participants' expressed satisfaction with the proposed course and the self-confidence improvement they achieved after the training were not correlated. This finding indicates that a high level of satisfaction with a training course does not necessarily relate to the participants' self-confidence improvement after attending the course, although the paired-samples t-tests that were conducted in this study confirmed that the proposed training course had a significant impact on the participants' self-confidence in conducting synchronous online teaching.

To further identify what contributes to the participants' improved self-confidence in conducting synchronous online teaching and to search for ways to improve the design of the proposed course, ten participants were invited to participate in the post-training interviews. Five of them perceived the greatest improvement in their post-training self-confidence, while the others had the lowest perceived improved self-confidence levels.

The participants who perceived the most considerable improvement in their selfconfidence after the training shared their overall satisfaction with the constructivist design and learning activities of the proposed course. They particularly enjoyed the process of active reflection as part of a learning community. One participant noted:

At the end of the course, I felt that each class member was <u>an essential part of a community</u>. Despite our lack of openness at the beginning of the course, we learned during our <u>teaching</u> <u>practice</u> and <u>peer feedback</u> sessions that we face the same challenges in online teaching. We then learned a lot by seeing how each member designed learning activities and handled difficult situations (Female, 40 years old, conducting training on supervisory skills).

Another participant particularly noted her changing attitude towards synchronous online teaching as follows:

I believe that my <u>self-confidence in teaching online has improved significantly</u>. Besides numerous technological tools that I can now utilize in my future online classes, I <u>no longer</u> <u>feel scared of delivering online lessons</u> after completing the course. As my <u>negative feeling</u> <u>about online teaching has faded away</u>, I just <u>need to practice and innovate more</u> in my online classes, and <u>I'm ready for that</u>. (Female, 47 years old, teaching restaurant management courses).

A teacher who expressed her eagerness to conduct an online session to apply what she had learned from the course stated:

The course came at the right time because many teachers in Vietnam had to adapt to the COVID-19 situation and deliver their lessons online. Many tools and classroom management activities were introduced in the course, giving the trainee <u>enough confidence</u> to begin a class right away (Female, 29 years old, teaching English to hospitality and tourism professionals).

The two participants who perceived a lower level of self-confidence in conducting synchronous online teaching after the training were asked why their self-confidence became even lower. We also asked whether the negative differences between their post- and pretraining self-evaluation ratings indicate a lower level of self-confidence in the complex skills concerned. The responses appeared to show the occurrence of a reperception process as one participant noted:

Before participating in the training, I thought I had a thorough understanding of the technological tools that could be used for online teaching. This prior belief led me to give a high rating for my self-confidence before the training. I thus chose to register for the course with very low motivation. Also, I used to believe that online teaching could never replace the traditional face-toface classroom. However, after attending the course and learning from the other teachers who likewise attended it, <u>I have changed this attitude of mine and now know that my prior knowledge was restricted</u>. I now believe that there's more that I need to learn about online education (Male, 61 years old, giving courses in hospitality and restaurant management).

The interviews with the five participants with the lowest perceived skill improvement revealed that more time for practice designing learning activities and handling the technological features of the online teaching platforms used is needed to achieve a higher level of self-confidence in teaching online. More specifically, these participants suggested that each session in the proposed course should be allocated two hours instead of only 90 min so that participants would have more time for discussion and teaching practice.

To summarize, at the end of the proposed course, the teacher participants' selfconfidence in conducting synchronous online teaching improved because they perceived selfimprovement in the complex skills required for such. Also, this study suggested that training programs for increasing teachers' self-confidence in synchronous online teaching should enhance three essential categories of the knowledge dimension in the revised Bloom's taxonomy (Krathwohl, 2002): factual, conceptual, and procedural knowledge.

5. Results of *Study 2*: Evaluating the path models (*SRO2*)

5.1. Results from the pilot phase

5.1.1. Path model 1: Innovative Behavior in Online Ieaching (IBOT)

After running the PLS-SEM algorithm for the pilot phase, all indicators with outer loadings lower than 0.4 were deleted. As suggested by Hair et al. (2022), this study retained only indicators with outer loadings of at least 0.708 to ensure sufficient levels of indicator reliability. A few indicators with loadings between 0.4 and 0.7, e.g., *ibot_4*, *scot_4*, *mef_1*, were also maintained due to their contribution to the content validity. In addition, the construct *MEF* was merged into *ATT* to improve the model's validity and reliability. Therefore, its indicators (with outer loadings at least 0.7) were reassigned to *ATT*. A summary of the measurement model evaluation results is shown in Table 35 and Table 36.

As can be seen in Table 35, the *convergent validity* of all the measurement models has been achieved because the *indicator reliability* has been established, i.e., indicators' outer loadings meet the required minimum level. In addition, the *AVE* values of all the constructs are well above the 0.50. Regarding the *internal consistency reliability*, the Cronbach's Alpha, p_A , and p_c values of all the reflective constructs in the *IBOT* model are larger the 0.70 threshold, indicating that all construct measures have high degrees of *internal consistency reliability*.

From Table 36, the *discriminant validity* of the *IBOT* measurement models is also confirmed as the *HTMT* ratios for all pairs of constructs are below the conservative threshold value of 0.85. It should be recalled that the threshold value of *HTMT* ratios for conceptually similar constructs is 0.90 (Henseler et al., 2015) or 1.00 (Garson, 2016). In this pilot phase, the *bootstrapping* procedure for testing whether the *HTMT* values are significantly different from the threshold value was not conducted since the sample size requirement has not been met. This procedure will be implemented in the main study. In brief, in the pilot phase, the most valid and reliable indicators have been retained and the assessment results for the measurement models show that all model evaluation criteria have been met, providing support for the measures' reliability and validity.

Latent	Indicators	Indicators Convergent validity			Internal Consistency Reliability			
variables		Loadings	Indicator reliability	AVE	Cronbach's Alpha	Reliability p_A	Composite Reliability p _c	
		>0.70	>0.50	>0.50	>0.70	>0.70	>0.70	
IBOT	ibot_1	0.71	0.50	0.57	0.85	0.86	0.89	
	ibot_2	0.79	0.62					
	ibot_3	0.83	0.69					
	ibot_4	0.67	0.45					
	ibot_7	0.77	0.59					
	ibot_8	0.75	0.56					
SCOT	scot_1	0.77	0.59	0.60	0.77	0.80	0.85	
	scot_2	0.91	0.83					
	scot_3	0.77	0.59					
	scot_4	0.61	0.37					
ATT	att_6	0.82	0.67	0.56	0.75	0.82	0.83	
	att_7	0.85	0.72					
	mef_1	0.57	0.32					
	mef_5	0.73	0.53					
OGC	ogc_1	0.84	0.71	0.69	0.85	0.87	0.90	
	ogc_2	0.80	0.64					
	ogc_3	0.77	0.59					
	ogc_4	0.91	0.83					
SKILL	skill_3	0.71	0.50	0.54	0.92	0.92	0.93	
	skill_4	0.80	0.64					
	skill_5	0.70	0.49					
	skill_6	0.66	0.44					
	skill_7	0.81	0.66					
	skill_8	0.78	0.61					
	skill_9	0.68	0.46					
	skill_10	0.72	0.52					
	skill_11	0.72	0.52					
	skill_12	0.79	0.62					
	skill_13	0.71	0.50					

 Table 35. Results summary for IBOT measurement models (pilot phase)

	۸ T T	IDOT	000	SCOT	SVII I
	AII	IBOI	UGC	SCOT	SKILL
ATT					
IBOT	0.71				
OGC	0.39	0.49			
SCOT	0.40	0.71	0.82		
SKILL	0.47	0.81	0.76	0.72	

Table 36. HTMT ratios showing discriminant validity of IBOT measurement models (pilot
phase)

After evaluating the measurement models, the next step is to examine the structural model. Assessing the structural model in the pilot phase refers to only addressing potential *collinearity* issues (since path coefficients might be biased if high levels of *collinearity* among predictor constructs exist) and establishing the path coefficients necessary for determining the sample size required for the main study. Table 37 displays the *collinearity* statistic, i.e., the *VIF* values, of all combinations of endogenous constructs (represented by the columns) and corresponding exogenous (i.e., predictor) constructs (represented by the rows). These values are clearly below the conservative threshold of 3, indicating that collinearity among the predictor constructs is not a critical issue in the structural model. The path coefficients of the structural model can then be examined.

	ATT	IBOT	OGC	SCOT	SKILL
ATT		1.24			
IBOT					
OGC		2.40			1.00
SCOT		2.10			
SKILL	1.00	2.30		1.00	

Table 37. VIF values in the IBOT structural model (pilot phase)

In the pilot phase, only the path coefficients, which show the relative importance of the predictor constructs, were examined to determine the sample size needed for the main study. As shown in Figure 19 below, the lowest path coefficient in the *IBOT* model is 0.27 (OGC \rightarrow IBOT). This value is chosen as input for computing the required sample size for the main study. Accordingly, as suggested by Hair et al. (2022) (see Table 13), when the minimum path coefficient expected to be significant is between 0.21 and 0.3, the main study would need approximately 69 observations to render the corresponding effect significant at 5%. Therefore, 76 participants were recruited for the second online survey in the main study.



Figure 19. IBOT model obtained in the pilot phase

5.1.2. Path model 2: Instructors' Attitude towards Online Teaching (ATT)

The PLS-SEM algorithm for the *ATT* model eliminated numerous indicators whose outer loadings are lower than 0.7. Only indicators with outer loadings of at least 0.7 were retained to ensure sufficient levels of indicator reliability. In addition, the construct *PROF* was merged into *ATT* to improve the model's validity and reliability. Therefore, three of its indicators (with outer loadings at least 0.7) were reassigned to *ATT*. The measurement model evaluation results are displayed in Table 38 and Table 39.

As shown in Table 38, the *convergent validity* has been achieved because the indicator reliability has been established, i.e., indicators' outer loadings are at least 0.7. Also, the *AVE* values of all the constructs are higher than the required minimum level of 0.5. For the *internal consistency reliability*, the Cronbach's Alpha, p_A , and p_c values of all the constructs in the *ATT* model are above the 0.70 thresholds, indicating that all construct measures have high degrees of *internal consistency reliability*. It should be noted that for the single item construct PEU, these metrics are not appropriate measures because the indicator loading is fixed at 1.00. Therefore, this construct will be re-examined in the main study.

Latent	Indicators	Convergent validity		Internal Consistency Reliability			
variables		Loadings	Indicator reliability	AVE	Cronbach's Alpha	Reliability p_A	Composite Reliability p_c
		>0.70	>0.50	>0.50	>0.7	>0.7	>0.7
ATT	att_6	0.79	0.62	0.62	0.85	0.86	0.89
	att_7	0.77	0.59				
	prof_1	0.76	0.58				
	prof_2	0.74	0.55				
	prof_3	0.86	0.74				
ISPG	ispg_1	0.91	0.83	0.83	0.79	0.79	0.91
	ispg_2	0.91	0.83				
PEU	peu_1	1.00					
PU	pu_1	0.80	0.64	0.66	0.75	0.81	0.85
	pu_3	0.75	0.56				
	pu_4	0.88	0.77				

Table 38. Results summary for ATT measurement models (pilot phase)

Regarding the *discriminant validity* of the measurement models, from Table 39, the *HTMT* ratios for all pairs of constructs in the *ATT* measurement models are below the conservative threshold value of 0.85, showing that the measurement models have high levels of *discriminant validity*.

Table 39. HTMT ratios to show discriminant validity of ATT measurement models (pilot phase)

	ATT	ISPG	PEU	PU
ATT				
ISPG	0.66			
PEU	0.48	0.46		
PU	0.54	0.39	0.10	

Next, potential *collinearity* issues are investigated to ensure that the estimated path coefficients are not biased. Table 40 shows the *VIF* values, all of which are below the conservative threshold of 3, indicating that there are not any collinearity issues among the

predictor constructs exist the *ATT* structural model. The path coefficients of the structural model can then be examined.

	ATT
ATT	
ISPG	1.31
PEU	1.20
PU	1.10

Table 40. VIF values in the ATT structural model (pilot phase)

As shown in Figure 20 below, the lowest path coefficient obtained in the *ATT* model is 0.28 (PEU \rightarrow ATT), this value is chosen as input for computing the required sample size for the main study. Like the *IBOT* model, the main study for further evaluating the ATT model would also need approximately 69 observations to make the corresponding effect significant at 5%. Therefore, the sample size of 76 participants recruited for the main study of the *IBOT* model can also be used for further assessing the *ATT* model.



Figure 20. ATT model obtained in the pilot phase

5.1.3. Path model 3: Innovative Organizational Climate (OGC)

Similar to the previous two path models, i.e., the *IBOT* and *ATT* model, running the PLS algorithm helps retain only indicators with outer loadings above 0.7 to ensure sufficient levels of indicator reliability. Furthermore, the construct *SDM* was merged into *OGC* to improve the model's validity and reliability. However, only one of its indicators, i.e., *sdm_2*, was retained

and reassigned to *OGC*. A summary of the measurement model evaluation results of the OGC measurement models is displayed in Table 41 and Table 42.

As can be seen in Table 41, the *convergent validity* of the *OGC* measurement models has been established because all indicators' outer loadings are well above 0.7. Also, the *AVE* values of all the constructs are higher than the required minimum level of 0.5. Regarding the *internal consistency reliability*, the Cronbach's Alpha, p_A , and p_c values of all the constructs in the OGC model are above the 0.70 thresholds, indicating that these latent constructs have high degrees of *internal consistency reliability*. The *discriminant validity* of the *OGC* measurement models is also confirmed because the *HTMT* ratios for all pairs of constructs shown in Table 42 are below or equal to the conservative threshold value of 0.85, indicating that the measurement models have high levels of *discriminant validity*.

Latent variables	Indicators	Convergent validity		Internal Consistency Reliability			
variables		Loadings	Indicator reliability	AVE	Cronbach's Alpha	Reliability p_A	Composite Reliability p_c
		>0.70	>0.50	>0.50	>0.7	>0.7	>0.7
OGC	ogc_1	0.88	0.77	0.63	0.85	0.87	0.89
	ogc_2	0.82	0.67				
	ogc_4	0.72	0.52				
	ogc_6	0.72	0.52				
	sdm_2	0.80	0.64				
COLL	coll_2	0.85	0.72	0.79	0.87	0.88	0.92
	coll_4	0.94	0.88				
	coll_5	0.88	0.77				
LEAD	lead_5	0.87	0.76	0.79	0.93	0.93	0.95
	lead_6	0.90	0.81				
	lead_8	0.90	0.81				
	lead_9	0.89	0.79				
	lead_10	0.88	0.77				
SIF	sif_1	0.77	0.59	0.68	0.92	0.93	0.94
	sif_2	0.86	0.74				
	sif_3	0.87	0.76				
	sif_4	0.87	0.76				
	sif_5	0.82	0.67				
	sif_6	0.80	0.64				
	sif_7	0.80	0.64				

Table 41. Results summary for OGC measurement models (pilot phase)

	COLL	LEAD	OGC	SIF
COLL				
LEAD	0.70			
OGC	0.85	0.82		
SIF	0.64	0.48	0.68	

Table 42. HTMT ratios to show discriminant validity of OGC measurement models (pilotphase)

Then, potential *collinearity* issues are examined. As shown in Table 42, all the *VIF* values are below the conservative threshold of 3, indicating that there are no collinearity issues among the predictor constructs in the *ATT* structural model. The path coefficients of the structural model can then be examined.

	COLL	LEAD	OGC	SIF
COLL			2.05	
LEAD	1.00		1.72	1.00
OGC				
SIF			1.53	

Table 43. VIF values in the OGC structural model (pilot phase)

As shown in Figure 21 below, the lowest path coefficient obtained in the OGC model is 0.24 (SIF \rightarrow OGC), this value is chosen as input for computing the required sample size for the main study. Like the *IBOT* and *ATT* models, the main study for further evaluating the OGC model would also need approximately 69 observations to make the corresponding effect significant at 5%. Therefore, the sample size of 76 participants recruited for the main study of the *IBOT* and *ATT* models can also be applied for further assessing the OGC model.



Figure 21. OGC model obtained in the pilot phase 87

5.2. Main study: Evaluation results for IBOT (path model 1)

5.2.1. Evaluation results for the measurement models

After collecting data for the main study, the PLS-SEM algorithm was rerun to evaluate the path models. For the first path model, i.e., *IBOT*, indicators with outer loadings at least 0.7 were retained. Those with loadings between 0.4 and 0.7, i.e., *ibot_2, scot_3, mef_5, ogc_3,* were also not eliminated due to their contribution to the content validity. In addition, the construct *SCOT* was merged into *IBOT* to improve the model's validity and reliability. In addition, according to Asbari et al. (2021), the concept of *individual innovative behavior* can be open to various modifications which embrace and reflect change-oriented activities that impact employees' performance. In the online teaching context, the indicator *scot_3 (I expect myself to design a new online course)* clearly shows an inclination to innovate in the virtual classroom environment. Therefore, the combination of the two constructs, *SCOT* and *IBOT* (with *scot_3* is now retained under the *IBOT* construct), is deemed relevant and still ensures the model's content validity. A summary of the measurement model evaluation results is shown in Table 44.

As shown in Table 44, the *convergent validity* of all the measurement models has been achieved because the indicator reliability has been established, i.e., indicators' outer loadings meet the required minimum level. In addition, the *AVE* values of all the constructs are well above 0.50. Regarding the *internal consistency reliability*, the Cronbach's Alpha, p_A , and p_c values of all the reflective constructs in the IBOT model are larger than the 0.70 thresholds, indicating that all construct measures have high degrees of *internal consistency reliability*.

To evaluate the *discriminant validity* of the IBOT measurement models, in addition to examining the *HTMT* ratios, the author of this study also tested whether they were significantly different from the threshold value. Specifically, first, a threshold of 0.9 for all pairs of constructs was assumed. Then, the *bootstrapping* procedure was run to compute the *bootstrap confidence intervals*. With 10,000 bootstrap samples and a 0.05 significance level, the results from the procedure show that all *HTMT* values are significantly lower than the corresponding threshold value of 0.9 (with a 5% probability of error). Therefore, the bootstrap confidence interval results of the *HTMT* criterion demonstrate the *discriminant validity* of the constructs.

Latent variables	Indicators	Conv	ergent validi	ty	Internal C	Internal Consistency Reliability		
		Loadings	Indicator reliability	AVE	Cronbach's Alpha	Reliability p_A	Composite Reliability	HTMT
		>0.70	>0.50	>0.50	>0.70	>0.70	>0.70	Significantly lower than 0.90?
IBOT	ibot_2	0.60	0.36	0.57	0.81	0.83	0.87	Yes
	ibot_3	0.87	0.76					
	ibot_4	0.78	0.61					
	ibot_7	0.85	0.72					
	scot_3	0.66	0.44					
ATT	att_6	0.81	0.66	0.61	0.87	0.89	0.90	Yes
	att_7	0.74	0.55					
	mef_5	0.57	0.32					
	prof_1	0.80	0.64					
	prof_2	0.85	0.72					
	prof_3	0.87	0.76					
OGC	ogc_1	0.81	0.66	0.61	0.78	0.82	0.86	Yes
	ogc_3	0.64	0.41					
	ogc_4	0.90	0.81					
	sdm_2	0.75	0.56					
SKILL	skill_4	0.71	0.50	0.59	0.86	0.87	0.90	Yes
	skill_7	0.80	0.64					
	skill_9	0.70	0.49					
	skill_10	0.66	0.44					
	skill_11	0.81	0.66					
	skill_13	0.78	0.61					

Table 44. Results summary for IBOT measurement models (main study)

5.2.2. Evaluation results for the structural model

After establishing the *IBOT* measures' reliability and validity, the next step is to assess the *IBOT* structural model by means of the *bootstrapping* routine, the *blindfolding* technique, and the $PLS_{predict}$ procedure. First, the potential *collinearity* issues need to be examined to ensure that the estimated path coefficients are not biased. The results from running the PLS-SEM algorithm show that the *VIF* values (see Table 45) of all combinations of endogenous constructs (represented by the columns) and corresponding predictor constructs (represented by the rows)

are clearly below the conservative threshold of 3. Therefore, it can be concluded that *collinearity* among the exogenous constructs is not a critical issue in the *IBOT* structural model.

	ATT	IBOT	OGC	SKILL
ATT		1.91		
IBOT				
OGC		1.45		1.00
SKILL	1.00	2.17		

Table 45. VIF values in the IBOT structural model (main study)

The next step of the structural model assessment process is to evaluate the significance and relevance of the structural model relationships. The *significance* of these relationships is examined through the size of the *path coefficients*. In addition, to better determine whether the *path coefficients* are statistically significant or not, the author of this study uses the *bootstrapping* procedure in which the empirical p values for all the structural *path coefficients* are computed. Accordingly, Figure 22 displays the estimated size of the path coefficients, while Table 46 shows the significance testing results of these coefficients. It can be noted that when assuming a significance level of 5%, the p value must be lower than 0.05 to conclude that the relationship under investigation is significant at a 5% level.



Figure 22. IBOT model path coefficients (main study)

	Path coefficients	<i>p</i> values	Significance (p<0.05)?
OGC →IBOT	0.37	0.00	Yes
ATT → IBOT	0.32	0.01	Yes
SKILL \rightarrow IBOT	0.22	0.11	No
SKILL → ATT	0.68	0.00	Yes
$OGC \rightarrow SKILL$	0.55	0.00	Yes

Table 46. Significant testing results of the IBOT structural model path coefficients

As shown in Figure 22, it can be found that among the driver constructs for the *IBOT*, the *OGC* has the highest path coefficient (0.37), followed by the *ATT* (0.32). The (*perceived*) *SKILL* have the lowest impact on *IBOT*. However, it has a relatively large influence on *ATT* with a path coefficient of 0.68 (RQ3). Accordingly, *ATT* appears to mediate the relationship between *SKILL* and *IBOT*. Furthermore, it can be noted that for instructors to have a high level of *SKILL*, *OGC* also has some bearing (the *OGC* \rightarrow *SKILL* path coefficient is 0.55). With respect to significance testing, Table 46 shows that, assuming a 5% significance level, all relationships in the *IBOT* structural model are significant since all the *p* values obtained from the *bootstrapping* procedure (by the percentile approach) are lower than 0.05, except *SKILL* \rightarrow *IBOT* (*p* = 0.11).

After the significance of relationships is examined, the *relevance* of these relationships needs to be evaluated. It should be noted that the *path coefficients* in the structural models may be significant, but their values may be very low and thus may not require managerial attention. Therefore, instead of merely focusing on the direct effects, the author of this study also computed the *total effects*. In the *IBOT* model, the *indirect effects* might be indicated via the *mediating* constructs, i.e., *SKILL* and *ATT*. Again, the *bootstrapping* procedure was run to examine whether the *total effects* of the predictor constructs *SKILL*, *ATT*, *and OGC* on the target construct *IBOT* are significant. As shown in Table 47, all the *total effects* are significant. Noticeably, although *SKILL* does not directly affect IBOT, it is indeed at the second highest position in terms of the *total effects* on the target construct *IBOT* (RQ3).

	Total effects	p values	Significance (p<0.05)?
OGC →IBOT	0.61	0.00	Yes
SKILL \rightarrow IBOT	0.44	0.00	Yes
ATT → IBOT	0.32	0.01	Yes
SKILL →ATT	0.68	0.00	Yes
$OGC \rightarrow SKILL$	0.55	0.00	Yes
<i>OGC</i> → <i>ATT</i>	0.37	0.00	Yes

Table 47. Significance testing results of the total effects for IBOT model

Since the *SKILL* construct has been identified as a *mediator*, it is necessary to evaluate further the significance of the *specific indirect effects* from the relationships displayed in the model. Table 48 shows the significance analysis of these *specific indirect effects*.

	Specific indirect effects	p values	Significance (p<0.05)?
$OGC \rightarrow SKILL \rightarrow ATT \rightarrow IBOT$	0.12	0.02	Yes
$OGC \rightarrow SKILL \rightarrow ATT$	0.37	0.00	Yes
$OGC \rightarrow SKILL \rightarrow IBOT$	0.12	0.13	No
$SKILL \rightarrow ATT \rightarrow IBOT$	0.22	0.01	Yes

Table 48. Significance analysis of the specific indirect effects in the IBOT model

Interestingly, as shown in Table 48, *SKILL* has been identified as a *mediator* between *OGC* and *ATT*, which mediates the relationship between *SKILL* and *IBOT*. From these results, it can be concluded that *ATT* plays a mediating role between their *SKILL* and *IBOT*. In other words, without having the right positive attitude towards online teaching, even teachers with high levels of skills may not have sufficient motivation to create more innovations in their pedagogical practices (because, as found earlier, *SKILL* does not have a direct impact on *IBOT*).

Meanwhile, it should be noted from Table 48 that, whereas *SKILL* mediates the relationship between *OGC* and *ATT*, its mediating role between *OGC* and *IBOT* is not statistically significant (*p* value >0.05). That is to say, instructors' high levels of skills result from a supportive organizational environment, and such skills may drive instructors towards having a positive attitude about online teaching, which ultimately motivates them to initiate and implement innovations in online teaching. In other words, *SKILL* is not a direct cause for *IBOT*, not without the proper attitude towards online teaching (*ATT*), as empirically indicated in this study.

To classify the mediating effects found in the *IBOT* model, the author compares the *direct effects* with the *indirect effects*. The mediation analysis in Table 49 shows that the *direct effects* that *OGC* has on *IBOT* are significant, but its *indirect effects* on *IBOT* via merely *SKILL* is not significant). Accordingly, this type of relationship is classified by Hair et al. (2022) as *complementary mediation* or *partial mediation*, i.e., both the *indirect* and *direct* effects are significant (and point in the same direction). On the other hand, when examining the mediating role of *ATT*, it can be found that this construct completely functions as a *mediator* in the relationship between *SKILL* and *IBOT*. In other words, since *SKILL*'s *direct effect* on *IBOT* is not significant while its *indirect effect* on *IBOT* via *ATT* is significant, the type of mediating effects is found to be *indirect-only mediation* or *full mediation*. That is to say, having a high level of perceived skills needed for online teaching does not encourage more innovative behavior in online teaching, although it partly contributes to a more positive attitude towards online teaching tasks so that online pedagogical innovations can be fostered.

	Direct effects	Significance (p<0.05)?	Indirect effects	Significance (p<0.05)?	Types of mediating effects
OGC →IBOT	0.37	Yes			
$OGC \rightarrow SKILL \rightarrow IBOT$			0.12	No	Complementary mediation
OGC → SKIL → ATT → IBOT			0.12	Yes	(Partial mediation)
SKILL → IBOT	0.22	No			Indirect-only
SKILL →ATT →IBOT			0.22	Yes	mediation (Full mediation)

Table 49. Types of mediating effects in the IBOT model

To assess the model's *explanatory power*, following the rules of thumb set by Hair et al. (2011), the *coefficient of determination* (R^2) value of *IBOT*, which was 0.58 (see Figure 22), can be considered *moderate*, i.e., the amount of variance in *IBOT* explained by all of the predictor constructs (*OGC*, *ATT*, *SKILL*) associated with it is at a *moderate* level. However, while interpreting the R^2 size also needs to be based on related research; there has not been any study focusing on instructors' *innovative behavior in online teaching*. This study is the first work that identifies and evaluates factors influencing this endogenous construct.

Then, the R^2 value was used to compute the f^2 effect size, i.e., the change in the R^2 value when a specific predictor construct is omitted from the model. Table 50 shows the f^2

values for all the combinations of endogenous constructs (represented by the columns) and corresponding exogenous constructs (represented by the rows). As can be seen, for the key target construct *IBOT*, both *innovative organizational climate* (*OGC*) and *instructors' attitude towards online teaching* (*ATT*) have a medium effect size of 0.22 and 0.13, respectively. On the contrary, the f^2 size of *SKILL* on *IBOT* is relatively small (0.05), although it does have a large effect size for *ATT* (0.88). Last, *OGC* also has a significant f^2 value for *SKILL* (0.43), indicating that organizational conditions play a major role in helping instructors acquire the skills for online teaching (RQ3).

	ATT	IBOT	OGC	SKILL
ATT		0.13		
IBOT				
OGC		0.22		0.43
SKILL	0.88	0.05		

Table 50. f^2 *Effect sizes (IBOT model)*

The last step of the evaluation process is to assess the model's *out-of-sample predictive* power. In this study, the author uses two indicators of this criterion: the *Stone-Geisser's* Q^2 statistic (Geisser, 1974; Stone, 1974) and the root mean square error (RMSE), obtained through the process of running the *blindfolding* and the Shmueli et al. (2016)'s *PLS*_{predict} procedure, respectively. According to Henseler et al. (2009), a Q^2 value above zero indicates that the model has predictive relevance. After the *blindfolding* procedure was run, all the Q^2 values obtained for the endogenous constructs, i.e., *IBOT* (0.31), *ATT* (0.27), and *SKILL* (0.15), are above the threshold zero. Therefore, based on the *blindfolding* routine and the corresponding *Stone-Geisser's* Q^2 statistic, the proposed model for instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (*IBOT*) can be considered to have predictive relevance.

Most PLS-SEM studies rely mainly on the *Stone-Geisser's* Q^2 *statistic* to draw evaluative conclusions about the *predictive power* of the proposed models. In this study, in addition to the Q^2 values produced from the *blindfolding* routine, the *PLS*_{predict} procedure guided by Shmueli et al. (2019) was also used for assessing the models' predictive power. With 10 *folds* and 10 *repetitions*, i.e., *k* and r is set to 10 each, the *PLS*_{predict} analysis was run. When reporting the results, the author focus mainly on the model's key target construct *IBOT* and considers the *RMSE* as a default metric for interpreting the prediction error of this construct's indicators. Figure 23 displays the *PLS*_{predict} results.

MV Prediction Summary						MV Pre	diction 9	Summary				
PLS	E LM	PLS Pre	diction Error (D	escriptives)	PLS Predictions (Descriptive	s) PLS	LM	PLS Pree	diction Error (D	escriptives)	PLS Predictio	ons (Descriptives)
		RMSE	MAE	MAPE	Q ² _predict	1	_	RMSE	MAE	MAPE	Q ² _predict	
prof_2		1.09	0.87	35.51	0.16	prof_2		1.13	0.87	36.18	0.09	
prof_3		0.91	0.72	24.37	0.18	prof_3		0.91	0.69	22.78	0.17	
prof_1		0.80	0.65	18.19	0.15	prof_1		0.82	0.67	18.45	0.12	
att_6		1.01	0.76	31.34	0.08	att_6		0.95	0.73	28.03	0.18	
mef_5		0.97	0.73	24.30	-0.04	mef_5		1.00	0.78	25.10	-0.10	
att_7		0.83	0.63	18.32	0.07	att_7		0.83	0.63	18.35	0.06	
ibot_4		1.02	0.86	32.01	0.21	ibot_4		1.04	0.89	32.44	0.17	
ibot_2		0.80	0.66	17.37	-0.02	ibot_2		0.76	0.63	16.68	0.07	
scot_3		0.90	0.70	26.70	0.20	scot_3		0.90	0.68	25.58	0.19	
ibot_3		0.88	0.69	25.44	0.30	ibot_3		0.90	0.70	25.92	0.26	
ibot_7		0.83	0.62	21.04	0.31	ibot_7		0.86	0.63	21.12	0.25	
skill_9		0.97	0.79	26.51	0.18	skill 9		0.99	0.81	27.32	0.13	
skill_13		0.86	0.72	19.71	0.00	skill 13		0.86	0.71	19.32	0.00	
skill_7		0.74	0.60	17.12	0.22	skill 7		0.71	0.59	16.69	0.27	
skill_4		0.80	0.62	21.13	0.32	skill 4		0.81	0.65	20.85	0.30	
skill_11		0.89	0.72	24.57	0.05	skill 11		0.90	0.71	24.92	0.04	
skill_10		0.92	0.78	24.43	0.12	skill_10		0.95	0.81	25.45	0.06	

Figure 23. PLS_{predict} results for IBOT model

As shown in Figure 23, most $Q_{predict}^2$ values for the IBOT indicators (except for *ibot_2*) are above zero, indicating the PLS path model outperforms the most naive benchmark. For those indicators with $Q_{predict}^2 >0$, the *RMSE* values were compared with the *naive LM benchmark*. As can be seen, the PLS-SEM analysis produces smaller prediction errors (i.e., smaller *RMSE* values) than the *LM* for three out of five *IBOT* indicators (except for the *ibot_2*). These results suggest that the proposed IBOT model has a *medium predictive power*, i.e., it has a medium level of usefulness for producing generalizable findings and thus can be adopted for managerial decision-making.

5.3. Main study: Evaluation results for ATT (path model 2)

5.3.1. Evaluation results for the measurement models

The evaluation results for the first path model, which focuses on the target construct *IBOT*, indicate that *ATT* is an essential factor influencing *IBOT*. In addition to *SKILL*, identified earlier as a predictor for *ATT*, the author also proposes a path model of factors responsible for *ATT*. This section assesses the *ATT* measurement models and its structural model as follows.

In the first step to assess the *ATT* measurement models, all indicators with outer loadings at least 0.7 were retained. Those with loadings between 0.4 and 0.7, i.e., *mef_5* and pu_1 , were also not eliminated due to their contribution to the content validity. A summary of the measurement model evaluation results is shown in Table 51. As can be seen, the indicator reliability has been achieved, i.e., indicators' outer loadings meet the required minimum level.

The AVE values of all the constructs are also well above 0.50. Regarding the *internal* consistency reliability, the Cronbach's Alpha, p_A , and p_c values of all the reflective constructs in the ATT model are larger the 0.70 thresholds, except for PU, whose Cronbach's Alpha was 0.68, yet it was still acceptable, according to Hair et al. (2022). Based on these results, the *internal consistency reliability* of the ATT measurement models has been established. Regarding the *discriminant validity* of the *IBOT* measurement models, the *bootstrapping* procedure was run to compute the *bootstrap confidence intervals*. With 10,000 bootstrap samples and a 0.05 significance level, the results from the procedure show that all HTMT values are significantly lower than the corresponding threshold value of 1.0 (with a 5% probability of error). Therefore, the bootstrap confidence interval results of the HTMT criterion demonstrate the *discriminant validity* of the constructs in the ATT path model.

Latent variables	Indicators	Conv	ergent validi	ty	Internal C	Consistency R	eliability	Discriminant validity
		Loadings	Indicator reliability	AVE	Cronbach's Alpha	Reliability p_A	Composite Reliability p_c	HTMT
		>0.70	>0.50	>0.50	>0.7	>0.7	>0.7	Significantly lower than 1.0?
ATT	att_6	0.80	0.64	0.61	0.87	0.89	0.90	Yes
	att_7	0.76	0.58					
	mef_5	0.56	0.31					
	prof_1	0.80	0.64					
	prof_2	0.84	0.71					
	prof_3	0.87	0.76					
ISPG	ispg_1	0.95	0.90	0.91	0.90	0.90	0.95	Yes
	ispg_2	0.95	0.90					
PEU	peu_1	1.00						Yes
PU	pu_1	0.67	0.45	0.60	0.68	0.71	0.82	Yes
	pu_3	0.81	0.66					
	pu_4	0.84	0.71					

Table 51. Results summary for ATT measurement models (main study)

5.3.2. Evaluation results for the structural model

To assess the *ATT* structural model, the potential collinearity issues were examined. The results from running the PLS-SEM algorithm show that all the VIF values of all combinations of endogenous constructs are below the conservative threshold of 3. Therefore, it can be
concluded that *collinearity* among the exogenous constructs is not a critical issue in the *ATT* structural model.

Next, to evaluate the *significance* and *relevance* of the structural model relationships, the *bootstrapping* procedure was run to compute the empirical *p* values for all the structural *path coefficients*. Accordingly, Figure 24 displays the estimated size of the path coefficients.



Figure 24. ATT model path coefficients (main study)

As shown in Figure 24, it can be found that among the driver constructs for *ATT*, the *PU* construct has the highest path coefficient (0.55), followed by *ISPG* (0.29). The *PEU* has the lowest impact on *ATT*. With respect to significance testing, Table 52 shows that, assuming a 5% significance level, all relationships in the *ATT* structural model are significant since all the *p* values obtained from the *bootstrapping* procedure (by the percentile approach) are lower than 0.05, except *PEU* \rightarrow *ATT* (*p* = 0.74). Accordingly, the impact of both *PU* and *ISPG* on *ATT* has been statistically significantly established. The *PEU* has been shown to have very little bearing on *ATT*. Unlike the *IBOT* model, there is no mediation analysis needed to be done for the *ATT* model.

	Path coefficients	p values	Significance (p<0.05)?		
PU →ATT	0.55	0.00	Yes		
ISPG →ATT	0.29	0.01	Yes		
$PEU \rightarrow ATT$	-0.03	0.74	No		

Table 52. Significant testing results of the ATT structural model path coefficients

In the next step, i.e., assessing the model's *explanatory power*, the *coefficient of determination* (R^2) value of *ATT*, which was nearly 0.5 (see Figure 24), can be considered *moderate*. In addition, the f^2 values for all the combinations of the endogenous construct ATT and corresponding exogenous constructs *PU*, *PEU*, and *ISPG*, are 0.47 (large effect), 0.00 (no effect), and 0.15 (medium effect), respectively. These results indicate that instructors need to be aware of the usefulness of online teaching technology so that they can adopt a more positive attitude towards teaching in online classrooms. Also, organizations may need to pay more attention to communicating their goals and visions about online education to instructors to encourage instructors to internalize these goals into their personal goals. Last, the results from both path coefficient and f^2 value analyses show that *instructors' perceived ease of use of online teaching technology (PEU)* does not influence their attitudes toward the task of teaching online.

The last step of the evaluation process is to assess the model's *predictive power*. After the *blindfolding* procedure was run, the Q^2 value obtained for the endogenous construct *ATT* is 0.27 (i.e., above the threshold zero). Therefore, based on the *blindfolding* routine and the corresponding *Stone-Geisser's* Q^2 *statistic*, the proposed model for instructors' attitude towards online teaching (*ATT*) can be considered to have *predictive relevance*. Furthermore, with *k* and r is set to 10 each, all $Q_{predict}^2$ values for the *ATT* indicators are above zero (see Figure 25), indicating the PLS path model outperforms the most naive benchmark. Since all the $Q_{predict}^2$ values meet the requirements (i.e., >0), the *RMSE* values were then compared with the *naive LM benchmark*. As shown in Figure 25, the PLS-SEM analysis produces smaller *RMSE* values than the *LM* for all the *ATT* indicators. These results suggest that the proposed *ATT* model has a *high predictive power*, i.e., it has a high level of usefulness for producing generalizable findings and thus can be adopted for drawing managerial implications.

MV Prediction Summary						M	MV Prediction Summary							
PLS	📰 LM	PLS Prediction Error (Descriptives)			PLS Predictions (Descriptives)		PLS	🔲 LM	A PLS Prediction Error (Descriptives)			PLS Predictions (Descriptives)		
		RMSE	MAE	MAPE	Q ² _predict				RMSE	MAE	MAPE	Q ² _predict	Å	
mef_5		0.93	0.73	23.09	0.05	r	nef_5		0.95	0.75	24.23	0.02		
prof_1		0.67	0.54	14.64	0.40	ş	prof_1		0.68	0.51	13.61	0.38		
att_6		0.98	0.71	29.03	0.13	a	tt_6		1.05	0.76	31.86	0.01		
att_7		0.72	0.56	16.10	0.30	a	tt_7		0.72	0.55	15.54	0.30		
prof_3		0.87	0.65	22.36	0.24	5	prof_3		0.89	0.67	22.17	0.20		
prof_2		1.01	0.76	30.99	0.27	ş	prof_2		1.02	0.79	30.72	0.25		

Figure 25. PLS_{predict} results for ATT model

5.4. Main study: Evaluation results for OGC (path model 3)

5.4.1. Evaluation results for the measurement models

The evaluation results for the first path model, which focuses on the target construct *IBOT*, indicate that the *OGC* is an essential factor influencing the *IBOT*. Therefore, to further understand what factors contribute to the OGC, the author also proposes a path a model for this construct. First, a summary of the measurement model evaluation results is shown in Table 53 below.

Latent variables	Indicators	Conv	ergent validi	ty	Internal C	Discriminant validity		
		Loadings	Indicator reliability	AVE	Cronbach's Alpha	Reliability p_A	Composite Reliability p_c	HTMT
		>0.70	>0.50	>0.50	>0.7	>0.7	>0.7	Significantly lower than 1.0?
OGC	ogc_1	0.87	0.76	0.78	0.71	0.71	0.87	Yes
	sdm_2	0.89	0.79					
COLL	coll_4	0.95	0.90	0.90	0.89	0.89	0.95	Yes
	coll_5	0.95	0.90					
LEAD	lead_8	0.88	0.77	0.81	0.88	0.90	0.93	Yes
	lead_9	0.90	0.81					
	lead_10	0.92	0.85					
SIF	sif_1	0.83	0.69	0.73	0.93	0.93	0.94	Yes
	sif_2	0.87	0.76					
	sif_3	0.91	0.83					
	sif_4	0.87	0.76					
	sif_5	0.86	0.74					
	sif_6	0.80	0.64					

Table 53. Results summary for OGC measurement models (main study)

For the *OGC* measurement models, all indicators with outer loadings of at least 0.7 were retained. Accordingly, the indicator reliability has been achieved, i.e., indicators' outer loadings meet the required minimum level. In addition, the *AVE* values of all the constructs are well above 0.50. Regarding the *internal consistency reliability*, the Cronbach's Alpha, p_A , and p_c values of all the reflective constructs in the *OGC* model are larger than the 0.70 thresholds. Based on these results, the *internal consistency reliability* of the *OGC* measurement models has been established. Regarding the *discriminant validity*, with 10,000 bootstrap samples and

a 0.05 significance level, the results from the procedure show that all *HTMT* values are significantly lower than the corresponding threshold value of 1.0 (with a 5% probability of error). Therefore, the bootstrap confidence interval results of the *HTMT* criterion clearly demonstrate the *discriminant validity* of the constructs in the *OGC* path model.

5.4.2. Evaluation results for the structural model

The potential *collinearity* issues in the *OGC* model were investigated first. The results from running the PLS-SEM algorithm show that all the *VIF* values of all combinations of endogenous constructs are below the conservative threshold of 3. Therefore, it can be concluded that *collinearity* among the exogenous constructs is not a critical issue in the *OGC* structural model.

Next, to evaluate the *significance* and *relevance* of the structural model relationships, the bootstrapping procedure was run to compute the empirical p values for all the structural path coefficients. As can be seen in Figure 26, among the predictor constructs for *innovative organizational climate (OGC), collaboration among instructors (COLL)* has the highest path coefficient (0.38), followed by *the supportive infrastructure for online teaching (SIF)* (0.35) and *transformational leadership (LEAD)* (0.32). In addition, *COLL* and *SIF* appear to mediate the relationship between *LEAD* and *OGC*. These mediating effects will be tested further in this section after the significance testing for the path coefficients. As respect to significance testing, Table 54 shows that, assuming a 5% significance level, all relationships in the *OGC* structural model are significant, i.e., all the *p* values are lower than 0.05.

	Path coefficients	p values	Significance (p<0.05)?
$COLL \rightarrow OGC$	0.42	0.00	Yes
LEAD \rightarrow COLL	0.46	0.00	Yes
LEAD $\rightarrow OGC$	0.34	0.00	Yes
LEAD \rightarrow SIF	0.48	0.00	Yes
SIF → OGC	0.31	0.00	Yes

Table 54. Significant testing results of the OGC structural model path coefficients



Figure 26. OGC model path coefficients (main study)

Regarding the *total effects*, in the OGC model, the *indirect effects* are indicated via two *mediators*, i.e., COLL and SIF. Again, the *bootstrapping* procedure was run to examine whether the *total effects* of the predictor constructs LEAD, COLL, and SIF on the target construct OGC are significant. As a result, all the *total effects* are significant at a 5% level. To further analyze the mediating effects, the significance of the *specific indirect effects* from the relationships displayed in the OGC model was also evaluated and shown to be significant (at a 5% level). As can be seen in Table 55, since both the direct effects, i.e., the path coefficients, and the indirect effects are significant and point in the same direction, the mediation shown in the OGC model can be classified as *complementary mediation*, or *partial mediation*. That is to say, *transformational leadership* (LEAD) has a statistically significant impact on all the other constructs in this OGC model (i.e., COLL, SIF, and OGC), as indicated from the mediation analysis.

	Direct effects	Significance (p<0.05)?	Indirect effects	Significance (p<0.05)?	Types of mediating effects
LEAD $\rightarrow OGC$	0.32	Yes			Complementary
$LEAD \rightarrow COLL \rightarrow OGC$			0.17	Yes	(Partial mediation)
LEAD $\rightarrow OGC$	0.32	Yes			Complementary
LEAD →SIF →OGC			0.17	Yes	mediation (Partial mediation)

Table 55. Types of mediating effects in the OGC model

To evaluate the model's *explanatory power*, following the rules of thumb set by Chin (1998), the *coefficient of determination* (R^2) value of *OGC*, which is 0.71 (see Figure 26), can be considered as *substantial*, i.e., the amount of variance in *OGC* explained by all of the predictor constructs (*LEAD*, *COLL*, *SIF*) associated with it is at a high degree. In addition, the f^2 values for all the combinations of the endogenous construct *OGC* and corresponding exogenous constructs *LEAD*, *COLL*, and *SIF* are respectively 0.24 (medium effect), 0.36 (large effect), and 0.30 (medium effect). Accordingly, it is found that the perceptions about collaboration among instructors in online teaching have the most considerable impact on creating a (perceived) innovative organizational climate. These results indicate that it's necessary for organizations to focus on constructing a collaborative environment where instructors can share their experiences and pass on lessons they have learned from their pedagogical practices in online classrooms.

The last step of the evaluation process is to assess the model's *predictive power*. After the *blindfolding* procedure was run, all the Q^2 values obtained for the endogenous constructs, i.e., OGC (0.52), COLL (0.19), and SIF (0.16), are above the threshold zero. Therefore, based on the *blindfolding* routine and the corresponding *Stone-Geisser's* Q^2 *statistic*, the proposed model for *innovative organizational climate* (OGC) can be considered to have predictive relevance. Furthermore, with 10 *folds* and 10 *repetitions*, the *PLS*_{predict} procedure shows that all $Q_{predict}^2$ values for the OGC indicators are above zero (see Figure 27), indicating the PLS path model outperforms the most naive benchmark. Then, the *RMSE* values were compared with the *naive LM benchmark*. The results demonstrate that among the two OGC indicators, only one yields a smaller prediction error (i.e., lower *RMSE* value) than the *LM*. Therefore, it can be concluded that the proposed OGC model has a *medium predictive power*, i.e., it has a medium level of usefulness for producing generalizable findings.

MV Prediction Summary						MV Prediction Summary							
PLS	E LM	PLS Prediction Error (Descriptives)		PLS Predictions (Descriptives)	E PLS	🔲 LM	PLS Prec	PLS Prediction Error (Descriptives)			ons (Descriptives)		
		RMSE	MAE	MAPE	Q ² _predict			RMSE	MAE	MAPE	Q ² _predict		
coll_4		0.89	0.71	24.80	0.13	coll_4		0.89	0.69	24.59	0.12		
coll_5		0.88	0.72	25.43	0.20	coll_5		0.89	0.70	25.40	0.19		
ogc_1		0.82	0.71	23.35	0.23	ogc_1		0.84	0.72	23.87	0.19		
sdm_2		0.92	0.69	30.67	0.40	sdm_2		0.91	0.68	28.74	0.41		
sif_1		1.08	0.78	39.32	0.07	sif_1		1.07	0.79	39.12	0.09		
sif_2		1.17	0.88	44.47	0.14	sif_2		1.23	0.92	46.08	0.05		
sif_5		1.24	1.05	56.43	0.13	sif_5		1.25	1.05	54.78	0.12		
sif_6		1.02	0.78	39.37	0.18	sif_6		1.12	0.81	41.65	0.01		
sif_3		1.04	0.77	39.10	0.23	sif_3		1.09	0.78	39.59	0.15		
sif_4		1.20	0.92	47.84	0.15	sif_4		1.25	0.97	49.58	0.08		



5.5. A summary of evaluation results

Based on the evaluation results of the three path models, i.e., *IBOT, ATT, and OGC*, Figure 28 shows the overall path model, which combines and integrates the obtained evaluation results. This model will be further discussed to draw out managerial implications in sub-chapter 6.2. of this thesis.



Figure 28. Factors enhancing innovative behavior in online teaching

6. Discussion and Conclusion

6.1. From Study 1: Components of innovations in online teaching

Study 1 of this thesis addressed the lack of a framework to define online teaching innovations and the absence of appropriate theoretical underpinnings for designing such innovations. The proposed teachers' training program for improving online teaching skills has illustrated the argument that educational innovations should not be defined generally and merely as new tools, practices, technologies, or systems developed and shared to improve educational quality (Foray and Raffo (2012). Instead, such innovations should be referred to as a multistage process starting from selecting appropriate theoretical underpinnings and analyzing relevant users' needs to evaluating the innovative ideas. Each of these single steps is composed of the input from the previous and current stage, and the output as the result of the current stage. Therefore, each step itself is also deemed to be a multistage procedure. Although this definition is somewhat similar to how Scott and Bruce (1994) characterized "innovation", it is introduced in this study as more specific guidelines and in the particular context of online educational settings. Specifically, to characterize online pedagogical innovations, there should be a specific framework or a checklist for practitioners to adopt when planning and implementing innovations. As shown through Study 1, to implement an online teaching innovation, it is necessary for educators or instructors to conduct six steps of the following procedure shown in Figure 29.



Figure 29. Six steps to implement online teaching innovations

Since this framework is constructed on the basis of the current literature, it can be referred to as an example of *incremental innovation* rather than a *disruptive* one. In other words, it does not focus on developing an entirely new framework. Instead, its target is improving or innovating the existing process (by gathering all the components of online teaching mentioned

in the literature and placing them in an appropriate sequence). These steps are also described further below.

6.1.1. Selecting theoretical underpinnings for designing the innovations

Most research on online teaching innovation often misses an explanation of why or on which foundation was some specific innovative instructional design developed. Prominent learning theories, such as behaviorism, cognitivism, or constructivism, should be given a critical role in establishing a solid theoretical background for developing educational interventions. According to Ertmer and Newby (1993), "learning theories provide instructional designers with verified instructional strategies and techniques for facilitating learning as well as a foundation for intelligent strategy selection" (p. 50). In the illustrative online teaching innovation proposed and conducted in this study, i.e., the proposed teachers' training program to improve online teaching skills, the author of this thesis has adopted the compelling theory of constructivism as the theoretical groundwork to design and implement an online teaching innovation. Without a theory-informed approach to transforming online education, the online pedagogical innovation remains merely adding technology to educational processes.

6.1.2. Analyzing users' profiles and needs

An important step in developing any educational intervention is needs analysis (Cook & Dupras, 2004). Educational innovations are designed and implemented to serve the needs of various users, e.g., learners, instructors, or management staff. Therefore, understanding the preferences and characteristics of these target users is significant to the successful development of the new tools, practices, technologies, or systems in online classrooms. In *Study 1*, the author has determined that the target participants were experienced hospitality and tourism teachers with knowledge in the relevant subject matters but mostly in offline settings, or corporate trainers/training managers working at lodging properties, restaurants, and travel agencies in Vietnam. They were required to conduct synchronous online classes during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, a sophisticated and reliable TNA survey was also designed and administered to participants to investigate their learning needs. Without being derived from a proper understanding of the target learners/users' needs, the designed innovation might not be as effective as expected (Bienvenu, 2016; Mahmoud, 2014; Shi, 2013). It may even lead to failure and waste of resources (Gould et al., 2004).

6.1.3. Determining educational objectives of the innovation

Educational innovations are designed to serve a variety of purposes. Based on the needs analysis, whether the innovation aims at the acquisition of skills (in the case of *training*), retention of information (when it comes to *instruction*), or construction of abilities to understand and make judgments (as in *induction*), needs to be determined so that the outcomes or effectiveness of the innovation can be evaluated later. According to Betts et al. (1993, p. 317), it is essential to seek appropriate answers to the question "why we teach what we do" before determining what and how to teach. Clear objectives and purposes constructed at the beginning of the innovation process help effectively design new tools, practices, technologies, or systems in online teaching. In addition, they are also essential guidelines for evaluating the innovation in the later stage of the process. In *Study 1*, the designed training program aimed to improve the trainees' self-confidence in online teaching skills. The expected outcomes were carefully outlined in the course structure (see Table 11).

6.1.4. Developing instructional design and learning activities

Based on the needs analysis and educational objectives, specific learning activities are designed. In *Study 1*, the development of these activities based on the three compelling aspects of constructivism is the innovation itself since transferring aspects of traditional face-to-face instructions to a new online teaching environment requires innovative approaches to ensure that meaningful interaction and learning effectiveness are maintained or enhanced. It should be noted that online teaching innovations do not necessarily center only around technological aspects. Instead, innovative online pedagogical procedures or pedagogical technological integration practices can also be considered innovations in online teaching. Learners may benefit more from putting the pedagogy, not the technology, at the focus of online teaching innovations (Draper & Brown, 2004).

6.1.5. Ensuring technological and administrative support

Through the design and implementation process of *Study 1*, the author has the opportunity to recognize the importance of technological and administrative support for online teaching as an online instructor. Support under any forms such as funding, guidance, oversight, and assistance in confronting challenges of online teaching is critical to an effective online classroom (Meyer & Barefield, 2010). In terms of technological infrastructure needed for online teaching, elements such as a well-supported high-speed internet connection, an effective server system, or comprehensive online library services also significantly enhance the enthusiastic buy-in

from online instructors. This study confirms what Scherer et al. (2021) have contended: the availability and quality of online instructional media and technological tools are an important component of instructors' readiness to implement online teaching innovations.

6.1.6. Designing and implementing evaluation methods

The last component of online teaching innovations is the assessment techniques designed to evaluate the extent to which the innovation has delivered its objectives or outcomes. Developing educational innovations requires a methodological approach in which educational gaps have to be diagnosed, and evaluating the effectiveness of such innovations in filling the gaps needs to occur. In *Study 1*, in addition to having a TNA survey, the author has built and administered a PTE questionnaire to measure the participants' perceived levels of self-confidence in conducting online teaching after attending the course. Semi-structured interviews were also conducted to further explore participants' evaluative insights into the proposed course. Both the qualitative and quantitative approaches adopted to evaluate the proposed training program have enabled the author to improve the program in the future and determine which learning activities should be maintained, revised, or omitted. In essence, without well-designed evaluation methods, instructors would not be able to determine whether the online teaching innovations have genuinely worked.

6.1.7. Further implications from *Study 1*

Besides proposing components essential for characterize online teaching innovations, *Study 1* also provides important insights that could help address the considerable challenges online instructors faced in Vietnam during the current COVID-19 pandemic. It has underscored the inadequacy of governmental support in financing, guiding, and encouraging educational institutions' use of advanced technology in their teaching and learning activities. Particularly, the study highlighted the need for the Vietnamese government and its Ministry of Education and Training to establish a set of official guidelines and quality standards for online teaching administrators and teachers to successfully switch to the online lesson delivery mode. In addition, unlike the numerous recent studies that generally focused on outlining Vietnamese schools' difficulties during the current pandemic owing to school closures, this study proposed a specific pedagogical solution in the form of a training program designed to enhance teachers' self-confidence in synchronous online teaching. Although the empirical evidence gathered by the study was from the field of hospitality and tourism education, the designed course content

could also be delivered to instructors in other disciplines or regions because the training concentrates on technological pedagogical integration rather than on the specialized knowledge domain in the hospitality and tourism sector.

For the leaders and administrators in the Vietnamese educational institutions, the proposed training program offers an effective pedagogical model that can be adopted to enhance the teachers' readiness in transitioning from face-to-face classrooms to the virtual learning environment to maintain the quality of teaching and learning. Providing details on how the proposed course was designed and implemented based on the compelling theory of constructivism, the author recommends that universities and schools in Vietnam adopt this theoretical framework in their online teaching activities and promptly equip their teachers with sufficient training and support. More importantly, this study invites the educational institutions in Vietnam to take the proposed training program as a reference and use it in their teacher education programs so that the potential of online pedagogy can be fully harnessed.

For instructors and students not only in the hospitality and tourism institutions in Vietnam but also in other institutions, this doctoral study offers a way of settling into a worldwide "new normal" where numerous transformed modes of teaching and learning are being established. As the proposed training program aims to equip teachers with self-confidence and skills in online teaching, it thus also helps students learn better and become more motivated in the online learning environment. Therefore, it brings both the instructors and learners in Vietnam, where online education is still in the early stages, closer to the cutting-edge global modern educational technology.

For society as a whole, this research urges the use of new information and communication technologies in education not only to cope with the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic but also as a way of moving towards a knowledge-based society, where people are required to be familiar with strategies to access and process information and thus be capable of learning flexibly and continuously. Accordingly, the author reckons that a long-term strategy for developing online education is essential and needs to be mapped out by both the government and educational institutions in a developing country such as Vietnam. Such a strategy can articulate and operationalize a collective vision of establishing high-quality and cost-effective online learning services and programs and consequently help the country benefit from the transformation.

6.2. Managerial implications from Study 2

6.2.1. Factors enhancing instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching

While Study 1 provides a framework to define online teaching innovations and thus guide instructors through their process of initiating and implementing new online pedagogical practices, *Study 2* has generated a list of factors motivating online instructors to innovate in online teaching. As shown in Figure 28, through the PLS-SEM analysis results, it is found that for instructors to foster innovative behavior in online teaching, the first essential factor is the organizational climate conducive to initiating and implementing changes. As empirically indicated in this study, this innovative climate needs to be composed of various dimensions: collaboration among instructors, transformational leadership, and supportive infrastructure necessary for online teaching. While collaboration among instructors has been identified as the most critical element contributing to the innovative organizational climate, transformational leadership plays a central driver role. It influences the two other dimensions (collaboration among instructors and supportive infrastructure necessary for online teaching) directly, and the perceived innovative climate, both directly and indirectly. In other words, effective transformational leadership leads to an organizational environment favorable for instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching and fosters collaboration among instructors in confronting challenges in shifting classes to the online environment. Such shared experiences and knowledge create a workplace environment that motivates instructors to initiate and experiment with their online pedagogical innovations. Additionally, transformational leaders appear to pay more attention to providing supportive infrastructures such as a well-supported high-speed internet connection, an effective server system, or comprehensive online library services. The findings of this study reiterate previous studies which highlighted that, to employees, such perceived support indicates an organizational commitment to organizational goals, values, and the staff themselves and thus motivates them to put more effort into performing their assigned tasks more effectively (Amabile, 1998; Chou, Hsiao, et al., 2010; He, 2013; Rich et al., 2010).

The second factor responsible for instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching is instructors' attitude towards online teaching. This research indicates that instructors with a positive attitude towards online teaching are more willing to adopt technological web-based advances in their pedagogical practices than those with an unfavorable opinion of the online classroom environment. This finding is compatible with the previous study by Uzunboylu (2007), who contends that when instructors believe in the strengths of online education, they may openly display their innovative behavior in online teaching. Interestingly, as shown through the PLS-SEM analysis performed in *Study 2*, instructors' attitudes towards online teaching are reflected primarily and specifically in their interests in acquiring knowledge and skills necessary for improving the quality of online education (see Figure 30). Most of the retained indicators for measuring instructors' attitudes towards online teaching (which have a high level of reliability and validity) focus on the positive opinions of how instructors take responsibility for their own professional development and acquire the essential knowledge to perform their online teaching tasks properly. This finding is different from previous studies, which often refer to instructors' attitudes generally and merely as their belief in the power of online education and the intention to adopt advanced online teaching technology (Davis, 1989; Ertmer et al., 2012; Kisanga & Ireson, 2016; Sangwan et al., 2021; Uzunboylu, 2007).

Furthermore, the item *mef_5*, i.e., '*The hospitality and tourism industry is forcing institutions and teachers to shift classes online*', is also retained and placed under the reflective construct of instructors' attitudes towards online teaching. This indicator was used initially to reflect instructors' perceptions about the macro-environment factors that might impact their innovative behavior in online teaching. This construct was then omitted due to its indicators' lack of reliability, validity, and its ability to make predictions. Only one of its indicators, *mef_5*, was retained and merged into the latent construct of instructors' attitudes towards online teaching. That is to say, other external macro-environmental conditions such as political restraints, economic situations, learners' changing demographic characteristics, or governmental policies do not influence instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching. Only the practical operation of the hospitality and tourism industry appears to reflect instructors' focus on shifting classes to the online environment and making such learning more effective. In essence, the findings of this study provide empirical support for the newly-found relationship between instructors' attitudes towards the industry's pressure for changes and their innovative behavior in performing online pedagogical practices.



Figure 30. Instructors' attitude towards online teaching

Another factor that is found to have a bearing on instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching is their perceived levels of skills needed for teaching online. However, unlike previous research which often refers to this factor as a variable directly responsible for the target construct (Birdi et al., 2016), in this study, this factor is found to have an indirect influence on instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching. It serves as a full mediator (or indirect-only mediator) for the relationship between innovative organizational climate and instructors' attitudes towards online teaching (which directly affects their innovative behavior in online teaching). In other words, an innovative organizational environment leads to instructors' high level of perceived skills in online teaching, and such perceptions about one's skills, in turn, lead to more optimistic perspectives about online teaching. These positive attitudes will ultimately encourage innovative behavior. Therefore, what has been newly found is that having a high level of perceived skills needed for online teaching does not necessarily encourage more innovative behavior in online teaching, although it directly contributes to a more positive attitude towards teaching in the virtual environment. Figure 31 demonstrates this indirect influence of required skills on the innovative behavior in online teaching via instructors' attitudes towards online teaching.



Figure 31. The influence of attitudes and skills on innovative behavior in online teaching

Study 2 also investigated further what contributes to a positive attitude towards online teaching, i.e., what makes instructors interested in developing their skills and knowledge in online teaching because this factor has been a vital antecedent for instructors' innovative behavior in online learning teaching. The PLS-SEM results revealed that among the hypothetical driver constructs for instructors' attitudes towards online teaching, the perceived usefulness of online teaching technology has the highest impact, followed by instructors' internalization of organizational goals into personal goals. Unlike what previous studies often emphasize (Davis, 1989; Saadé & Bahli, 2005; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000; Yuen & Ma, 2008), instructors' perceived ease of use of online teaching technology does not influence their opinions about online teaching technology so that they can adopt a more positive attitude towards teaching in online classrooms. Also, organizations may need to pay more attention to communicating their goals and visions about online education to instructors to encourage instructors to take a positive attitude towards online teaching.

6.2.2. Managerial implications

Study 2 revealed several meaningful managerial implications for motivating instructors to create and implement online teaching innovations, particularly in the context of hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam. First, the study encourages institutions' leaders and administrators to create an innovative organizational climate by demonstrating an influential transformational leadership role in guiding and supporting instructors along the path to shift

classes from the traditional face-to-face learning environment to the online virtual classrooms. To show such a leadership style, administrators should focus on creating opportunities for instructors to participate in professional development programs where instructors can enhance their knowledge and skills in online teaching. In addition, there is a need to direct more attention to cultivating the collaborative partnership between instructors so that they can share their online teaching problems and how they solve them with colleagues who might be facing similar issues. A transformational leadership style also provides sufficient equipment, tools, technology, and infrastructure essential for successfully delivering an online lesson. That is to say, the more attention to details leaders pay toward what instructors need for teaching in online classrooms, the greater extent to which instructors can feel confident in initiating and experimenting with their online pedagogical innovations.

Second, in addition to creating an organizational climate conducive to instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching, leaders should also pay attention to whether instructors have an interest or belief in the strength of the online learning environment, i.e., their attitudes towards online teaching. What is newly found in this study is that, leaders may provide numerous opportunities for instructors to develop their knowledge and skills needed for online teaching. However, without an appropriate attitude towards the power of online teaching and learning, even instructors with high levels of online pedagogical skills may not want to create and implement new ideas for making online classes more effective and meaningful. To help instructors build a positive attitude towards online teaching, besides providing sufficient teacher training programs which enable instructors to understand the usefulness of online teaching technology, administrators need to ensure that organizational goals and visions about online education are communicated clearly and openly to instructors as a way to build instructors' desire to internalize organizational goals into their personal objectives. These organizational efforts will help instructors shape an appropriate attitude needed to enhance their innovative online teaching behavior.

Lastly, for the context of hospitality and tourism education in Vietnam, the results of this study reiterate the significance of a competitive professional education system that should be able to respond to the changing industry. According to Zhong et al. (2021), the future of hospitality and tourism education depends on whether students' hopefulness and career loyalty can be maintained when the industry starts recovering after having experienced the substantial damage caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Teaching still plays a significant role in maintaining such hopefulness and loyalty. Therefore, what and how to teach still need to be

among the primary concerns of hospitality and tourism stakeholders. Thus, policy makers and administrators in Vietnam need to build a long-term strategy for online education so that sufficient and prompt guidance and support are in place for instructors to search for and construct new online pedagogical approaches and practices for the sake of improving teaching effectiveness, which may also contribute significantly to the recovery of the industry in the post-pandemic era.

6.3. Contribution to Knowledge Science

Knowledge science is the science of all other sciences. In other words, it is the science from which meta-knowledge is created. Meta-knowledge is the knowledge that guides the processes of collecting, organizing, validating, and applying domain knowledge in various fields or industries (Nakamori, 2020). Therefore, knowledge science plays a significant role in decisionmaking and problem-solving in society because of its dominant theories and tools to support these processes. As this doctoral research focuses on encouraging teachers to create and implement innovations in online teaching for the hospitality and tourism education system in Vietnam, it aims at creating meta-knowledge that guides and facilitates the process of defining online pedagogical innovations and the development of a model for enhancing instructors' innovative behavior in implementing these innovations. Such knowledge provides practical managerial implications for policymakers, institutions' leaders, and instructors in making resource allocation decisions to improve the efficiency and quality of online pedagogical practices. Accordingly, education providers or instructors will gain the meta-knowledge, which is the framework for creating online teaching innovations and enhancing the individual innovative behavior necessary for implementing such innovations. They thus can use this knowledge to continue producing domain knowledge in their narrower fields, such as teaching hotel or restaurant serving skills to students via the online learning environment.

In summary, this doctoral thesis contributes to the creation of meta-knowledge to guide educational providers and instructors in hospitality and tourism institutions towards more effective online pedagogical practices in their specific teaching fields. It could be considered that this research is guided by the meta-knowledge established by knowledge science. At the same time, it also produces meta-knowledge for instructors who wish to understand how to initiate and implement their online teaching innovations. When these teachers develop innovative teaching practices that solve educational quality issues, their innovations are no longer merely domain knowledge but a body of meta-knowledge that will guide students towards effective learning, thus creating more knowledge not only for the recovery of the hospitality and tourism industry but also for the transformation of online education in a broad sense.

6.4. Limitations and future research

6.4.1. Study 1

Among the six steps outlined as a framework for implementing online teaching innovations (Figure 29), Study 1 did not point out which step(s) is (are) the most critical to the process of innovating in online teaching. Future studies could adopt qualitative approaches such as interviews or focus groups to identify which steps should receive more attention than the others so that resources can be better allocated to the implementation of each step in the overall process.

Due to its focus on enhancing teachers' self-confidence in conducting synchronous online teaching by helping them develop the complex skills required for such, Study 1 did not examine if the proposed training program achieved its expected learning outcomes, i.e., improving the actual skill levels. In other words, besides using self-evaluation surveys, future research should design assessment instruments to measure how much knowledge and skills the participants genuinely acquired from the training. Such evaluation will complement the comprehensive assessment of how effective educational interventions for teacher development can be. In addition, although this study did not investigate how the participants would apply the acquired knowledge in their daily work, the author of this study has been informed that the teachers who have participated in the proposed training course have taken the initiative to practice what they have learned by taking turns delivering weekly synchronous sessions on various topics within their field of specialization and have formed an informal Facebook group so they can share their related experiences with each other. Therefore, to improve this study's value and the generalizability of the findings, future studies should use training follow-up methods such as sending out self-reflection reports or conducting post-training meetings for the participants to have exchanges with each other on what they have done after the training.

Regarding practicality, the costs of using the existing synchronous online conferencing platforms were not considered in this study, whereas in reality, it is an essential factor to be considered by administrators and teachers. For greater practicality, studies on the use of technological tools in online teaching need to consider the platforms' pricing plans to give the stakeholders helpful suggestions on how to select an appropriate platform to use.

With regard to the factors that may have been responsible for the participants' increased level of self-confidence in synchronous online teaching, besides the effects of the constructivism-based learning activities in the proposed training program, which were recognized mainly through the post-training interviews, the author has not conducted any further procedure to identify them. Such factors may include the participants' motivation, their psychological conditions, or the support that they obtain from their supervisors or administrators. Although there have been numerous studies on factors influencing training effectiveness, few have focused on analyzing these elements in the context of the online learning environment for instructors. Thus, future studies will further investigate the other possible factors that may contribute to the effectiveness of online training courses for teachers.

Despite indicating the minor appearance of the reperception process in the participants' self-evaluation of their skill development, this study subtly reinforced what Vásquez Der (2018) posited about this psychological change, that "reperception implies a change in the appreciation of a person's experiences, which, in turn, leads to other additional mechanisms, such as exposure, self-regulation, clarification of values, as well as emotional, cognitive and behavioral flexibility" (p. 143). Accordingly, further research on how educational interventions contribute to the acceptance and achievement of teachers' reperception is needed.

Lastly, the findings from *Study 1* indicate that although online classes should be shorter than traditional face-to-face sessions, a sufficient amount of time is required to ensure that interactive activities, group discussions, and practice sessions are appropriately delivered in an online teacher training course. Specifically, the study suggests that each training session be allocated 2 hours instead of only 90 minutes. This additional amount of time should be added to the time spent on collaborative and interactive activities.

6.4.2. Study 2

Study 2 has two primary limitations. First, although all the reliability, validity, and in-sample predictive relevance criteria of every path model proposed in this study were well established, the substantial out-of-sample predictive power was shown only in one model, i.e., the instructors' attitude towards online teaching (path model 2). The other two models, which are instructors' innovative behavior, i.e., the main model of the study, and the innovative organizational climate, have only medium out-of-sample predictive power. In other words, these two models' ability to produce generalizable findings is only at a medium level. Future research should increase the sample size and reconsider the measurement models to treat this

predictive-power issue. Secondly, due to a lack of available theoretical literature about instructors' innovative behavior in online teaching (the literature on teachers' innovative behavior is extensive yet in a broad context), the content validity of the measurement models proposed in this study was based mainly on the adaptation of the existing studies about innovative behavior in a wide context into the specific circumstances of online pedagogy. Since an increasing number of studies focusing on supporting instructors in online teaching are produced as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, future studies on this topic will benefit from these expanding theoretical considerations and accordingly improve the content validity of the future measurement models.

Publications

1. Scholarly Journals

- Luong, T.-T., & Kim, E. (2021). Teachers' Training Course Using Synchronous Conferencing Tools for Hospitality and Tourism Education in Vietnam: A Constructivist Approach. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 11(5), 229-234. <u>https://doi.org/10.18178/ijiet.2021.11.5.1516</u>
- (2) Luong, T.-T., & Kim, E. (2022). A constructivism-based training course for hospitality and tourism instructors in Vietnam to improve their self-confidence in synchronous online teaching. *Interactive Technology and Smart Education*, 19(3), 360-389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-04-2021-0070</u>
- (3) Luong, T.-T., Huynh, V.-N., & Kim, E. (2022). A Hybrid Use of Soft Systems Methodology for Developing a Framework of Evidence-Based Teaching for Hospitality and Tourism Instructors in Vietnam. *Systemic Practice and Action Research*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11213-022-09609-9</u>
- (4) Luong, T.-T., & Kim, E. (2022). A Model of Factors Enhancing Instructors' Innovative Behavior in Online Teaching: Evidence from Hospitality and Tourism Education in Vietnam. *Journal of Educational Change*. [Under Review]

2. Conference Presentations

- (1) Luong, T. T., & Kim, E. (2020). Innovations in Hospitality and Tourism Education in Vietnam: A Hypothetical Framework The IAFOR International Conference on Education - IICEHawaii2020, Honolulu. <u>https://doi.org/10.22492/issn.2189-1036.2020.22</u>
- (2) Luong, T.-T., & Kim, E. (2021). Teachers' Training Course Using Synchronous Conferencing Tools for Hospitality and Tourism Education in Vietnam: A Constructivist Approach. International Conference on Education Technology and Computers, Hertfordshire, UK.

3. Book chapters

- Luong, T.-T., & Kim, E. (2021). Chapter 02. Knowledge and Learning. In E. Kim (Ed.), *Topics on Creating Innovations for Graduate Students*. Hakuei Publishing Company.
- (2) Luong, T.-T., & Kim, E. (2021). Chapter 03. Flow and Creativity. In E. Kim (Ed.), *Topics on Creating Innovations for Graduate Students*. Hakuei Publishing Company.

Bibliography

- Airey, D., & Tribe, J. (2001). Education for Hospitality. In C. Lashley & A. Morrison (Eds.), In Search of Hospitality: Theoretical Perspectives and Debates (pp. 279-291). Routledge.
- Alqurashi, E., Gokbel, E. N., & Carbonara, D. (2017). Teachers' Knowledge in Content, Pedagogy and Technology Integration : A Comparative Analysis between Teachers in Saudi Arabia and United States. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 48(6), 1414-1426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12514</u>
- Amabile, T. M. (1998). How to kill creativity. *Harvard business review*, 76(5), 76-87,186. <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-</u> <u>0032161358&partnerID=40&md5=7178726f931732c7b9a2e49a325167e7</u>
- Anh, V. (2021). Ensuring human resources for tourism industry. *Nhan Dan (People) newspaper*. <u>https://nhandan.vn/dien-dan-dulich/bao-dam-nguon-nhan-luc-cho-nganh-du-lich-661016/</u>
- Arbaugh, J. B., & Benbunan-Fich, R. (2006). An Investigation of Epistemological and Social Dimensions of Teaching in Online Learning Environments. *Academy of Management Learning and Education*, 5(4), 435-447.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/AMLE.2006.23473204</u>
- Asadi, N., Khodabandeh, F., & Yekta, R. R. (2019). Comparing and Contrasting the Interactional Performance of Teachers and Students in Traditional and Virtual Classrooms of Advanced Writing Course in Distance Education University. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*(October), 135-148. <u>https://doi.org/10.17718/tojde.640552</u>
- Asbari, M., Prasetya, A. B., Santoso, P. B., & Purwanto, A. (2021). From Creativity to Innovation: The Role of Female Employees' Psychological Capital. *International Journal of Social and Management Studies*, 2(2), 66 - 77. <u>https://doi.org/10.5555/ijosmas.v2i2.18</u>
- Ashton, P. T., & Webb, R. B. (1986). *Making a Difference: Teachers' Sense of Efficacy and Student Achievement*. Longman.

- Avsec, S., & Savec, V. F. (2021). Predictive modelling of pre-service science and technology teachers' innovative behaviour. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 20(2), 171-183. https://doi.org/10.33225/jbse/21.20.171
- Bacon, E. H., & Bloom, L. A. (1995). Beyond the Herring Sandwich Phenomenon: A Holistic Constructivist Approach to Teacher Education. *Journal of learning disabilities*, 28(10), 636-645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/002221949502801005</u>
- Bandura, A. (1995). Exercise of Personal and Collective Efficacy in Changing Societies. In A. Bandura (Ed.), *Self-Efficacy in Changing Societies* (pp. 1-45). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511527692.003</u>
- Barrows, C. W., & Walsh, J. (2002). "Bridging the gap" between hospitality management programmes and the private club industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 14, 120-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/09596110210424411</u>
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and Performance Beyond Expectations. Free Press.
- Bauman, U., Shelley, M., Murphy, L., & White, C. (2008). New challenges, the role of the tutor in the teaching of languages at a distance. *Distances et savoirs*, 6(3), 365-392. <u>https://doi.org/10.3166/ds.6.365-392</u>
- Beaven, T., Emke, M., Ernest, P., Germain-Rutherford, A., Hampel, R., Hopkins, J., Stanojevic, M. M., & Stickler, U. (2010). Needs and Challenges for Online Language Teachers the ECML Project Dots. *Teaching English with Technology*, *10*(2), 5-20.
- Bennis, W., & Nanus, B. (1985). Leaders: The strategies for taking charge. Harper & Row.
- Betts, M., Rickard Liow, S. J., & Pollock, R. W. (1993). Different Perceptions of Importance of Educational Objectives. *Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education* and Practice, 119(3), 317-327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)1052-3928(1993)119:3(317)</u>
- Bienvenu, B. M. (2016). An Attempt to Assessing Learners' Need of English and Specific English Language Syllabus Designing in General Mechanic Section at Secondary School: Case study of 5th year at ITFM/BUKAVU. *International Journal of Innovation and Applied Studies*, 14(1), 16-26.
- Biggs, J. (1996). Enhancing Teaching through Constructive Alignment. *Higher Education*, 32(3), 347-364. <u>https://doi.org/10.11405/nisshoshi1964.98.330</u>

- Bintoro, T., Lestari, I., & Aini, I. N. (2022). Analyzing Learners' Needs and Designing Digital Comic Media to Improve Student Learning Outcomes. *Educational Sciences: Theory* and Practice, 22(1), 129-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.12738/jestp.2022.1.0011</u>
- Birdi, K., Leach, D., & Magadley, W. (2016). The Relationship of Individual Capabilities and Environmental Support with Different Facets of Designers' Innovative Behavior [https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12250]. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 33(1), 19-35. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12250
- Boettcher, J. V., & Conrad, R.-M. (2016). *The Online Teaching Survival Guide: Simple and Practical Pedagogical Tips* (2nd ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Bong, M., & Skaalvik, E. M. (2003). Academic Self-Concept and Self-Efficacy: How Different are they really? *Educational Psychology Review*, 15(1), 1-40.
- Bonk, C. J., & Zhang, K. (2008). Empowering Online Learning: 100+ Activities for Reading, Reflecting, Displaying, and Doing. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Buzinde, C. N., Vogt, C. A., Andereck, K. L., Pham, L. H., Ngo, L. T., & Do, H. H. (2018). Tourism students' motivational orientations: the case of Vietnam. *Asia Pacific Journal* of Tourism Research, 23(1), 68-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10941665.2017.1399918</u>
- Cassel, C., Hackl, P., & Westlund, A. H. (1999). Robustness of partial least-squares method for estimating latent variable quality structures. *Journal of Applied Statistics*, 26(4), 435-446. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02664769922322</u>
- Catrett, J. B. (2018). Hospitality Education: A Third Paradigm. In J. A. Oskam, D. M. Dekker,
 & K. Wiegerink (Eds.), *Innovation in Hospitality Education: Anticipating the Educational Needs of a Changing Profession* (pp. 15-32). Springer International Publishing.
- Cattell, R. B. (1966). The Scree Test for the Number of Factors. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 1(2), 245-276.
- Cheang, F. (2016). Blackboard and the Blended Learning Format. *Journal of Research and Pedagogy*, 2, 91-94. <u>http://id.nii.ac.jp/1160/00001049/</u>
- Chin, W. W. (1998). The partial least squares approach for structural equation modeling. In Modern methods for business research. (pp. 295-336). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.

Chin, W. W. (2001). PLS-Graph User's Guide: Version 3.0. Soft Modeling, Inc.

- Chin, W. W. (2010). How to Write Up and Report PLS Analyses. In V. Esposito Vinzi, W. W. Chin, J. Henseler, & H. Wang (Eds.), *Handbook of Partial Least Squares: Concepts, Methods and Applications* (pp. 655-690). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-32827-8_29
- Chou, C.-M., Hsiao, H.-C., Shen, C.-H., & Chen, S.-C. (2010). Analysis of factors in technological and vocational school teachers' perceived organizational innovative climate and continuous use of e-teaching: Using computer self-efficacy as an intervening variable. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 9(4), 35-48.
- Chou, C.-M., Shen, C.-H., Hsiao, H.-C., & Chen, S.-C. (2010). The influence of innovative organisational management of technological and vocational schools on innovative performance Using organisational innovative climate as the mediator variable. *World Transactions on Engineering and Technology Education*, 8(237-242).
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (2nd Edition ed.). Routledge.
- Compton, L. K. L. (2009). Preparing language teachers to teach language online: A look at skills, roles, and responsibilities. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 22(1), 73-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09588220802613831</u>
- Cook, D. A., & Dupras, D. M. (2004). A practical guide to developing effective web-based learning. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 19(6), 698-707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2004.30029.x</u>
- Coopersmith, S. (1967). The Antecedents of Self-esteem. W. H. Freeman & Company.
- Cornelius, S. (2014). Facilitating in a Demanding Environment: Experiences of Teaching in Virtual Classrooms Using Web Conferencing. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 45(2), 260-271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12016</u>
- Cox, R. H., Martens, M. P., & Russell, W. D. (2003). Measuring Anxiety in Athletics: The Revised Competitive State Anxiety Inventory–2. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 25(4), 519-533. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.25.4.519</u>
- Crawford, R. (2016). *History of tertiary education reforms in New Zealand* [Research note]. N. Z. P. Comission.

https://www.productivity.govt.nz/assets/Documents/65759a16ed/History-of-tertiaryeducation-reforms.pdf

- d'Eça, A., & Gonzáles, D. (2006). Becoming a Webhead: Bridging the Gap from Classroom to Blended or Online Teaching. *CALICO Journal*, 23(3), 569-580.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1558/cj.v23i3.569-580</u>
- Dang, X. T. (2013). ICT in Foreign Language Teaching in an Innovative University in Vietnam: Current Practices and Factors Affecting ICT Use Statement of Authorship. In.
- Dao Thi Thu, H., & Duong Hong, N. (2021). A Survey on Students' Satisfaction with Synchronous E-learning at Public Universities in Vietnam during the COVID-19.
- Dar, N., Ahmad, S., & Rahman, W. (2022). How and when overqualification improves innovative work behaviour: the roles of creative self-confidence and psychological safety. *Personnel Review, ahead-of-print*(ahead-of-print). <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-06-2020-0429</u>
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use, and User Acceptance of Information Technology. *MIS Quarterly*, 13(3), 319-340. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/249008</u>
- Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P., & Warshaw, P. R. (1992). Extrinsic and Intrinsic Motivation to Use Computers in the Workplace [https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1992.tb00945.x]. Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 22(14), 1111-1132. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1992.tb00945.x
- Després-Bedward, A., Avery, T. L., & Phirangee, K. (2018). Student Perspectives on the Role of the Instructor in Face-to-Face and Online Learning. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 8(10), 706-712. <u>https://doi.org/10.18178/ijiet.2018.8.10.1126</u>
- Díaz-Gibson, J., Civís, M., Fontanet, A., López, S., & Prats, M.-À. (2019). School head teachers' views of the drive towards educational innovation in Catalonia / La visión de los directores de escuela sobre el impulso de la innovación educativa en Cataluña. *Culture and Education*, 31(3), 640-670. https://doi.org/10.1080/11356405.2019.1630957

- Dinçer, H., Yüksel, S., & Martínez, L. (2020). A Comparative Analysis of Incremental and Disruptive Innovation Policies in the European Banking Sector with Hybrid Interval Type-2 Fuzzy Decision-Making Models. *International Journal of Fuzzy Systems*, 22(4), 1158-1176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40815-020-00851-8</u>
- Dinh, L. P., & Nguyen, T. T. (2020). Pandemic, social distancing, and social work education: students' satisfaction with online education in Vietnam. *Social Work Education*, 39(8), 1074-1083. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02615479.2020.1823365</u>
- Dorenbosch, L., Engen, M. L. V., & Verhagen, M. (2005). On-the-job Innovation: The Impact of Job Design and Human Resource Management through Production Ownership. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 14(2), 129-141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-8691.2005.00333.x</u>
- Downing, J. J., & Dyment, J. E. (2013). Teacher Educators' Readiness, Preparation, and Perceptions of Preparing Preservice Teachers in a Fully Online Environment : An Exploratory Study. *The Teacher Educator*, 48(2), 96-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08878730.2012.760023</u>
- Draper, S. W., & Brown, M. I. (2004). Increasing interactivity in lectures using an electronic voting system. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 20(2), 81-94. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2729.2004.00074.x
- Eisenberger, R., Huntington, R., Hutchison, S., & Sowa, D. (1986). Perceived Organizational Support. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71(3), 500-507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-</u> <u>9010.71.3.500</u>
- Elliott, J. (2001). Making Evidence-based Practice Educational. *British Educational Research Journal*, 27(5), 555-574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0141192012009573</u>
- Elmunsyah, H., Hidayat, W. N., Ulfa, S., Surakhman, E., & Wakhidah, R. (2020). Measuring user experience on personalized online training system to support online learning. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 732(1), 012115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899x/732/1/012115</u>
- Eom, S. B., & Ashill, N. (2016). The Determinants of Students' Perceived Learning Outcomes and Satisfaction in University Online Education: An Update. *Journal of Innovative Education*, 14(2), 185-215.

- Ernest, P., Heiser, S., & Murphy, L. (2013). Developing Teacher Skills to Support Collaborative Online Language Learning. *Language Learning Journal*, 41(1), 37-54. https://doi.org/10.1080/09571736.2011.625095
- Ertmer, P. A., & Newby, T. J. (1993). Behaviorism, Cognitivism, Constructivism: Comparing Critical Features from an Instructional Design Perspective [https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1937-8327.1993.tb00605.x]. Performance Improvement Quarterly, 6(4), 50-72. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1937-8327.1993.tb00605.x
- Ertmer, P. A., Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A. T., Sadik, O., Sendurur, E., & Sendurur, P. (2012).
 Teacher beliefs and technology integration practices: A critical relationship. *Computers*& *Education*, 59(2), 423-435.
 <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2012.02.001</u>
- Ettlie, J. E., & O'Keefe, R. D. (1982). Innovative Attitudes, Values, and Intentions in Organizations [https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.1982.tb00066.x]. Journal of Management Studies, 19(2), 163-182. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.1982.tb00066.x
- Fawns, T., Aitken, G., Jones, D., & Gravett, K. (2022). Beyond Technology in Online Postgraduate Education. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 4(2), 557-572. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-021-00277-x</u>
- Fidalgo-Blanco, A., Martinez-Nuñez, M., Borrás-Gene, O., & Sanchez-Medina, J. J. (2017).
 Micro flip teaching An innovative model to promote the active involvement of students. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 713-723. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.07.060
- Flores, M. A. (2001). Person and Context in Becoming a New Teacher. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 27(2), 135-148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02607470120067882</u>
- Foray, D., & Raffo, J. (2012). Business-Driven Innovation: Is it Making a Difference in Education? : An Analysis of Educational Patents. OECD Education Working Papers, 84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/5k91dl7pc835-en</u>
- Foronda, C., Gattamorta, K., Snowden, K., & Bauman, E. B. (2014). Use of virtual clinical simulation to improve communication skills of baccalaureate nursing students: A pilot

study. *Nurse Education Today*, *34*(6), e53-e57. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2013.10.007

- Frank, O. (2011). Network Sampling. In M. Lovric (Ed.), International Encyclopedia of Statistical Science (pp. 941-942). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-04898-2_404
- Garson, G. D. (2016). *Partial Least Squares: Regression and Structural Equation Models*. Statistical Associates Publishers.
- Geijsel, F., Sleegers, P., Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2003). Transformational leadership effects on teachers' commitment and effort toward school reform. *Journal of Educational* Administration, 41(3), 228-256. https://doi.org/10.1108/09578230310474403
- Geijsel, F., Sleegers, P., van den Berg, R., & Kelchtermans, G. (2001). Conditions Fostering the Implementation of Large-Scale Innovation Programs in Schools: Teachers' Perspectives. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 37(1), 130-166. https://doi.org/10.1177/00131610121969262
- Geijsel, F. P., Sleegers, P. J. C., Stoel, R. D., & Krüger, M. L. (2009). The Effect of Teacher Psychological and School Organizational and Leadership Factors on Teachers' Professional Learning in Dutch Schools. *The Elementary School Journal*, 109(4), 406-427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/593940</u>
- Geisser, S. (1974). A Predictive Approach to the Random Effect Model. *Biometrika*, 61(1), 101-107. https://doi.org/10.2307/2334290
- Gibson, S., & Dembo, M. H. (1984). Teacher Efficacy: A Construct Validation. Journal of Educational Psychology, 76(4), 569-582. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.76.4.569</u>
- Goh, L. H. (2020). The Gathering of the Community of Inquiry in Online Learning. International Journal of Information and Education Technology, 10(7), 494-499. <u>https://doi.org/10.18178/ijiet.2020.10.7.1413</u>
- Gold, S. (2001). A Constructivist Approach to Online Training for Online Teachers. *Journal* of Asynchronous Learning Network, 5(1), 35-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v5i1.1886</u>

- Goodman, R. J., & Sprague, L. G. (1991). The Future of Hospitality Education: Meeting the Industry's Needs. *Cornell Hotel and Restaurant Administration Quarterly*, 32(2), 66-69.
- Gould, D., Kelly, D., White, I., & Glen, S. (2004). The impact of commissioning processes on the delivery of continuing professional education for cancer and palliative care. *Nurse Education Today*, 24(6), 443-451. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2004.04.009
- Grant, M. M., & Cheon, J. (2007). The Value of Using Synchronous Conferencing for Instruction and Students. *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, 6(3), 211-226.
- Gratz, E., & Looney, L. (2020). Faculty Resistance to Change: An Examination of Motivators and Barriers to Teaching Online in Higher Education. *International Journal of Online Pedagogy and Course Design*, 10(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJOPCD.2020010101
- Gregor, S. (2006). The Nature of Theory in Information Systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *30*(3), 611-642. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/25148742</u>
- Grenon, V., Lafleur, F., & Samson, G. (2019). Developing the Techno-pedagogical Skills of Online University Instructors. *International Journal of E-Learning & Distance Education*, 34(2), 1-15.
- Gupta, V., Roy, H., & Sahu, G. (2021). HOW the tourism & hospitality lecturers coped with the transition to online teaching due to COVID-19: An assessment of stressors, negative sentiments & coping strategies. *Journal of Hospitality, Leisure, Sport and Tourism Education*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhlste.2021.100341</u>
- Ha, L. (2020). Online Education Remains Unfamiliar in Vietnam. <u>https://vietnamnet.vn/en/society/online-education-remains-unfamiliar-in-vietnam-</u> <u>620964.html</u>
- Hahn, M. H., & Lee, K. C. (2017). Exploring the Role of Self-Confidence, Need-for-Cognition, and the Degree of IT Support on Individual Creativity: Multilevel Analysis Approach.
 Current Psychology, 36(3), 565-576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-016-9445-z</u>
- Hair, J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2022). A Primer on Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM) (3rd ed.). Sage.

- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2011). PLS-SEM: Indeed a Silver Bullet. Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice, 19(2), 139-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.2753/MTP1069-6679190202</u>
- Hampton, M. P., Jeyacheya, J., & Long, P. H. (2018). Can Tourism Promote Inclusive Growth? Supply Chains, Ownership and Employment in Ha Long Bay, Vietnam. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 54(2), 359-376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2017.1296572</u>
- Harrison, R., Hutt, I., Thomas-Varcoe, C., Motteram, G., Else, K., Rawlings, B., & Gemmell, I. (2017). A Cross-Sectional Study to Describe Academics' Confidence, Attitudes, and Experience of Online Distance Learning in Higher Education. *Journal of Educators Online*, 14(2), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.9743/jeo.2017.14.2.3</u>
- He, L.-w. (2013). Organizational Innovative Climate, Innovative Behavior and the Mediating Role of Psychological Capital: The Case of Creative Talents. In E. Qi, J. Shen, & R. Dou (Eds.), *The 19th International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management*. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-38427-1_170</u>
- Hegazy, N. N., Soliman, S. S. A., Ahmed, S. A., & Ahmed, M. M. (2022). An Inverted Virtual Faculty Development Program for Remote Teaching: Pilot for Replication. *The Egyptian Journal of Hospital Medicine*, 86(1), 384-390. https://doi.org/10.21608/ejhm.2022.212846
- Henseler, J. (2017). ADANCO 2.0.1 user manual. Composite Modeling.
- Henseler, J., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2015). A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 43(1), 115-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-014-0403-8</u>
- Henseler, J., Ringle, C. M., & Sinkovics, R. R. (2009). The use of partial least squares path modeling in international marketing. In R. R. Sinkovics & P. N. Ghauri (Eds.), *New Challenges to International Marketing* (Vol. 20, pp. 277-319). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/S1474-7979(2009)0000020014</u>
- Ho, N. T. T., Sivapalan, S., Pham, H. H., Nguyen, L. T. M., Pham, A. T. V., & Dinh, H. V. (2020). Students' Adoption of E-learning in Emergency Situation: the Case of a Vietnamese University during COVID-19. *Interactive Technology and Smart Education, ahead-of-p*(ahead-of-print). <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ITSE-08-2020-0164</u>

- Hollenbeck, G. P., & Hall, D. T. (2004). Self-confidence and Leader Performance. *Organizational Dynamics*, 33(3), 254-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2004.06.003</u>
- Hung, L. N. Q. (2021). Teachers' Perceptions of the Transition from Onsite to Online Teaching during the Covid-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Education and e-Learning Research*, 8(4), 416-422. <u>https://doi.org/10.20448/journal.509.2021.84.416.422</u>
- Huynh, H. (2020). Vietnam ranked seventh among the world's 20 fastest growing travel destinations. *Vietnam Insider*. <u>https://vietnaminsider.vn/vietnam-ranked-seventh-among-the-worlds-20-fastest-growing-travel-destinations/</u>
- Ibabe, I., & Jauregizar, J. (2010). Online self-assessment with feedback and metacognitive knowledge. *Higher Education*, 59(2), 243-258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-009-9245-6</u>
- Janssen, O. (2000). Job demands, perceptions of effort-reward fairness and innovative work behaviour. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 73(3), 287-302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/096317900167038</u>
- Jayawardena, C. (2019). What are the key innovative strategies needed for future tourism in the world? *Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes*, 11(2), 235-247. https://doi.org/10.1108/WHATT-01-2019-0001
- Jing, B., & Zhou, X. (2010). Analyzing Influencing Factors of Organizational Innovative Climate Based on DEMATEL Method 2010 International Conference on Management and Service Science, Wuhan, China.
- Johanson, G. A., & Brooks, G. P. (2009). Initial Scale Development: Sample Size for Pilot Studies. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 70(3), 394-400. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164409355692
- Johnson, T. E., Maring, G. H., Doty, J. H., & Fickle, M. (2006). Cybermentoring: Evolving High-End Video Conferencing Practices to Support Preservice Teacher Training. *Journal of Interactie Online Learning*, 5(1), 59-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004</u>
- Jones, L. (2007). *Student-Centered Classrooms*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1177/0027432116671785

- Junaidia, J., Hamuddinb, B., Simangunsongc, W., Rahmand, F., & Derine, T. (2020). ICT Usage in Teaching English in Pekanbaru: Exploring Junior High School Teachers' Problems. *International Journal of Innovation, Creativity and Change*, 12(4), 1-21.
- Kamlaskar, C. H., & Killedar, M. (2015). Design and Delivery of Online Courses in YCMOU. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, *16*(2), 137-150.
- Kannan, K., & Narayanan, K. (2015). Synchronous Teacher Training in India: A Study of Perceptions and Satisfaction of the Participants. *International Journal of Information* and Education Technology, 5(3), 200-207. <u>https://doi.org/10.7763/ijiet.2015.v5.502</u>
- Kannan, K., & Narayanan, K. (2016). A Qualitative Analysis of Synchronous Distance Mode Teacher Training Workshop. *Proceedings - 2016 International Conference on Learning and Teaching in Computing and Engineering, LaTiCE 2016*(June 2012), 99-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/LaTiCE.2016.22</u>
- Kanter, R. M. (1996). Chapter 7 When a Thousand Flowers Bloom: Structural, Collective, and Social Conditions for Innovation in Organizations. In P. S. Myers (Ed.), *Knowledge Management and Organizational Design* (pp. 93-131). Butterworth-Heinemann. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-7506-9749-1.50010-7
- Kaosaiyaporn, O., Atisabda, W., Plodkaew, J., & Promrak, J. (2015). Factors of Virtual Classroom to Enhance Online Learning in Multicultural Society for Pre-Service Teacher Students. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 5(7), 502-506. <u>https://doi.org/10.7763/ijiet.2015.v5.557</u>
- Kear, K., Chetwynd, F., Williams, J., & Donelan, H. (2012). Web Conferencing for Synchronous Online Tutorials: Perspectives of Tutors Using a New Medium. *Computers and Education*, 58(3), 953-963. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.10.015
- Khairi, M. A. M., Faridah, I., Norsiah, H., & Zaki, M. A. A. (2021). Preliminary study on readiness to teach online due to covid-19 pandemic among university academician in Malaysia. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 11(5), 212-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.18178/ijiet.2021.11.5.1514</u>
- Kickul, J., Wilson, F., Marlino, D., & Barbosa, S. D. (2008). Are Misalignments of Perceptions and Self-efficacy Causing Gender Gaps in Entrepreneurial Intentions among our

Nation's Teens? Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development, 15(2), 321-335. https://doi.org/10.1108/14626000810871709

- Kim, H. J., & Jeong, M. (2018). Research on hospitality and tourism education: Now and future. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 25, 119-122. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2017.11.025
- Kisanga, D. H., & Ireson, G. (2016). Test of e-Learning Related Attitudes (TeLRA) scale: Development, reliability and validity study. *International Journal of Education and Development using Information and Communication Technology*, 12(1), 20-36.
- Klaeijsen, A., Vermeulen, M., & Martens, R. (2018). Teachers' Innovative Behaviour: The Importance of Basic Psychological Need Satisfaction, Intrinsic Motivation, and Occupational Self-Efficacy. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 62(5), 769-782. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2017.1306803
- Kleysen, R. F., & Street, C. T. (2001). Toward a multi-dimensional measure of individual innovative behavior. *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, 2(3), 284-296. https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM000000005660
- Kock, N. (2020). WarpPLS 7.0 user manual. ScriptWarp Systems.
- Kolb, J. A. (1999). The effect of gender role, attitude toward leadership, and self-confidence on leader emergence: Implications for leadership development [https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.3920100403]. Human Resource Development Quarterly, 10(4), 305-320. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.3920100403
- Kosnik, C., Menna, L., Dharamshi, P., & Beck, C. (2018). Constructivism as a Framework for Literacy Teacher Education Courses: The Cases of Six Literacy Teacher Educators. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(1), 105-119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2017.1372742</u>
- Kozłowski, A., Kaliszewski, A., Dąbrowski, J., & Klimek, H. (2021). Virtual network sampling method using LinkedIn. *MethodsX*, 8, 101393. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2021.101393</u>
- Kraiger, K. (2003). Perspectives on Training and Development. In W. C. Borman, D. R. Ilgen,
 & R. J. Klimoski (Eds.), *Handbook of Psychology* (pp. 171-192). John Wiley & Sons,
 Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/0471264385.wei1208</u>

- Krathwohl, D. R. (2002). A Revision of Bloom's Taxonomy. *Theory Into Practice*, 41(4), 212-218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip4104</u>
- Kumar, S., & Daniel, B. K. (2016). Integration of learning technologies into teaching within Fijian Polytechnic Institutions. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 13(1), 36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-016-0036-8</u>
- Lai, Y.-H., Huang, F.-F., & Yang, H.-H. (2016). A study on the attitude of use the mobile clinic registration system in Taiwan. *Technology and Health Care*, 24, S205-S211. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/THC-151076</u>
- Lamy, M.-N., & Hampel, R. (2007). *Online Communication in Language Learning and Teaching*. Palgrave Macmillan UK. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230592681</u>
- Landino, R. A., & Owen, S. V. (1988). Self-efficacy in University Faculty. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 33(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-8791(88)90030-9
- Lane, L. M. (2013). An Open, Online Class to Prepare Faculty to Teach Online. Journal of Educators Online, 10(1), 1-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.9743/JEO.2013.1.1</u>
- Law, N., Yuen, A., & Fox, R. (2011). Educational Innovations Beyond Technology: Nurturing Leadership and Establishing Learning Organizations. Springer New York. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-71148-5</u>
- Lawrence, B. (2018). Innovating in the real world: exploring institutional effects on tertiary teacher innovations in New Zealand. *Distance Education*, *39*(1), 54-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2017.1413932</u>
- Le, A. H. (2018). *Tertiary Hospitality Education in Vietnam : An Exploratory Study* Griffith University]. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10072/365951</u>
- Le, A. H., Klieve, H., & McDonald, C. V. (2018). Tertiary Students' Perceptions of Hospitality Careers in Vietnam. *Empirical Research in Vocational Education and Training*, 10(1), 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40461-018-0075-6
- Le, V. T., Nguyen, N. H., Tran, T. L. N., Nguyen, L. T., Nguyen, T. A., & Nguyen, M. T. (2022). The interaction patterns of pandemic-initiated online teaching: How teachers adapted. *System*, 105, 102755. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2022.102755</u>
- Leadbeater, C. (2012). Innovation in Education: Lessons from Pioneers Around the World. Bloomsbury USA.
- Ledoux, M., & McHenry, N. (2004). A Constructivist Approach in the Interdisciplinary Instruction of Science and Language Arts Methods. *Teaching Education*, 15(4), 385-399. https://doi.org/10.1080/1047621042000304510
- Lee, H. Y., Qu, H., & Kim, Y. S. (2007). A study of the impact of personal innovativeness on online travel shopping behavior—A case study of Korean travelers. *Tourism Management*, 28(3), 886-897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2006.04.013
- Lee, K. (2018). Everyone already has their Community Beyond the Screen: Reconceptualizing Online Learning and Expanding Boundaries. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 66(5), 1255-1268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-018-9613-y</u>
- Leithwood, K., Jantz, D., & Steinbach, R. (1999). Changing Leadership for Changing Times. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 13(6), 301-302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijem.1999.13.6.301.4</u>
- Levin, B. (2008). *How to Change 5000 Schools: A Practical and Positive Approach for Leading Change at Every Level.* Harvard Education Press.
- Levin, J., Levin, S. R., & Waddoups, G. (2014). Multiplicity in Learning and Teaching. *Journal* of Research on Computing in Education, 32(2), 256-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08886504.1999.10782277</u>
- Lewis, R. C. (1993). Hospitality Management Education: Here Today, Gone Tomorrow? *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, 17(1), 273-283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/109634809301700122</u>
- Lindblom-Ylänne, S., Trigwell, K., Nevgi, A., & Ashwin, P. (2006). How approaches to teaching are affected by discipline and teaching context. *Studies in Higher Education*, *31*(3), 285-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03075070600680539</u>
- Liu, F., Chow, I. H.-S., Zhang, J.-C., & Huang, M. (2019). Organizational innovation climate and individual innovative behavior: exploring the moderating effects of psychological ownership and psychological empowerment. *Review of Managerial Science*, 13(4), 771-789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11846-017-0263-y
- Lohmöller, J.-B. (1987). LVPLS 1.8 [computer software]. Zentralarchiv für Empirische Sozialforschung.

- Long, G., Marchetti, C., & Fasse, R. (2011). The Importance of Interaction for Academic Success in Online Courses with Hearing, Deaf, and Hard-of-hearing Students. *The International Review of Research In Open and Distance Learning*, 12(6). http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/article/view/1015/1952
- Losekoot, E., Lasten, E., & Cuong, T. P. (2019). Tourism Education in Vietnam. In C. Liu &H. Schänzel (Eds.), *Tourism Education and Asia* (pp. 125-142). Springer Nature Singapore.
- Luo, Y., Cao, Z., Yin, L., Zhang, H., & Wang, Z. (2018). Relationship between extraversion and employees' innovative behavior and moderating effect of organizational innovative climate. *NeuroQuantology*, *16*(16), 186-194. https://doi.org/10.14704/nq.2018.16.6.1604
- Luong, T.-T., Huynh, V.-N., & Kim, E. (2022). A Hybrid Use of Soft Systems Methodology for Developing a Framework of Evidence-Based Teaching for Hospitality and Tourism Instructors in Vietnam. Systemic Practice and Action Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11213-022-09609-9
- Machiba, T. (2010). Eco-innovation for enabling resource efficiency and green growth: development of an analytical framework and preliminary analysis of industry and policy practices. *International Economics and Economic Policy*, 7(2), 357-370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10368-010-0171-y</u>
- Maheshwari, G. (2021). Factors affecting students' intentions to undertake online learning: an empirical study in Vietnam. *Education and Information Technologies*, 26(6), 6629-6649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10465-8</u>
- Mahmoud, S. S. (2014). A Framework for Investigating Foundation Year Students' Needs in General English in KAU: Needs Analysis Extended to Curriculum Development. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 5(2), 335-342.
- Masry-Herzallah, A., & Stavissky, Y. (2021). Investigation of the Relationship between Transformational Leadership Style and Teachers' Successful Online Teaching during Covid-19. International Journal of Instruction, 14(4), 891-912. <u>https://www.eiji.net/dosyalar/iji_2021_4_51.pdf</u>
- McConnell, M. M., Monteiro, S., & Bryson, G. L. (2019). Sample size calculations for educational interventions: principles and methods. *Canadian Journal of*

 Anesthesia/Journal
 canadien
 d'anesthésie,
 66(8),
 864-873.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12630-019-01405-9

- Meyer, J. D., & Barefield, A. C. (2010). Infrastructure and Administrative Support for Online Programs. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, *13*(3).
- Min, Q., Chen, Y., Liu, N., & Zuo, M. (2018). A Learning Style Model Designed for Online Learning Environments. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 8(9), 623-627. https://doi.org/10.18178/ijiet.2018.8.9.1111
- Moridani, M. (2007). Asynchronous video streaming vs. synchronous videoconferencing for teaching a pharmacogenetic pharmacotherapy course. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 71(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.5688/aj710116</u>
- Nadkarni, S., & Morris, S. (2019). Innovation-centric courses in hospitality management education in Dubai. Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes, 11(2), 166-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/WHATT-12-2018-0084</u>
- Nakamori, Y. (2020). Knowledge Construction Methodology: Fusing Systems Thinking and
Knowledge Management.Springer,Singapore.https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-9887-2
- Nghia, T. L. H., & My Duyen, N. T. (2018). Internship-related learning outcomes and their influential factors. *Education* + *Training*, 60(1), 69-81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ET-02-</u> 2017-0030
- Ngo, V. T. H., Meijer, M. R., Bulte, A. M. W., & Pilot, A. (2015). The Implementation of a Social Constructivist Approach in Primary Science Education in Confucian Heritage Culture: the Case of Vietnam. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 10(3), 665-693. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11422-014-9634-8
- Nguyen, L. V. (2011). Computer-mMediated Collaborative Learning in a Vietnamese Tertiary EFL Context: Process, Product, and Learners' Perceptions
- Nti, K. (2015). Supporting Access to Open Online Courses for Learners of Developing Countries. The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 16(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v16i4.2328</u>

- Odoardi, C., Montani, F., Boudrias, J.-S., & Battistelli, A. (2015). Linking managerial practices and leadership style to innovative work behavior. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 36(5), 545-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-10-2013-0131</u>
- Oliver, R. L. (1980). A Cognitive Model of the Antecedents and Consequences of Satisfaction Decisions. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *17*(4), 460-469. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224378001700405
- Oskam, J. A. (2018a). Conclusion: The Future of Hospitality Education. In J. Oskam, D. M. Dekker, & K. Wiegerink (Eds.), *Innovation in Hospitality Education: Anticipating the Education Needs of a Changing Profession* (Vol. 14, pp. 231-232). Springer International Publishing.
- Oskam, J. A. (2018b). Introduction: Innovation in Hospitality Education. In J. Oskam, D. M. Dekker, & K. Wiegerink (Eds.), *Innovation in Hospitality Education: Anticipating the Education Needs of a Changing Profession* (Vol. 14, pp. 1-12). Springer International Publishing.
- Peachey, N. (2017). Synchronous Online Teaching. In M. Carrier, R. M. Damerow, & K. M. Bailey (Eds.), *Digital Language Learning and Teaching: Research, Theory, and Practice* (pp. 143-155). Routledge.
- Peeraer, J., & Van Petegem, P. (2012). Information and communication technology in teacher education in Vietnam: from policy to practice. *Educational Research for Policy and Practice*, 11(2), 89-103. <u>https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10671-011-9106-9</u>
- Persico, D., Manca, S., & Pozzi, F. (2014). Adapting the Technology Acceptance Model to evaluate the innovative potential of e-learning systems. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 30, 614-622. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.07.045</u>
- Pham, H. H., & Ho, T. T. H. (2020). Toward a 'New Normal' with E-learning in Vietnamese Higher Education during the Post COVID-19 Pandemic. *Higher Education Research* and Development, 39(7), 1327-1331. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2020.1823945</u>
- Pham, T., Lai, P., Nguyen, V., & Nguyen, H. (2021). Online learning amid Covid-19 pandemic: students' experience and satisfaction. *Journal of E-Learning and Knowledge Society*, *17*(1), 39-48. https://doi.org/10.20368/1971-8829/1135293
- Piaget, J. (1932). The Moral Judgement of the Child. Routlege & Keagan.

- Pons, F. J., Ramos, J., & Ramos, A. (2016). Antecedent variables of innovation behaviors in organizations: Differences between men and women. *European Review of Applied Psychology*, 66(3), 117-126. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erap.2016.04.004
- Pyke, J. G., & Sherlock, J. J. (2010). A Closer Look at Instructor-Student Feedback Online: A Case Study Analysis of the Types and Frequency. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 6(1), 110-121. <u>http://jolt.merlot.org/vol6no1/pyke_0310.htm</u>
- Rapanta, C., Botturi, L., Goodyear, P., Guàrdia, L., & Koole, M. (2021). Balancing Technology,
 Pedagogy and the New Normal: Post-pandemic Challenges for Higher Education.
 Postdigital Science and Education, 3(3), 715-742. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-021-00249-1</u>
- Rawat, K., Bouchon, F., & Nair, V. (2015). Innovative practices in education to empower rural communities: A case study of a "non-formal education" school in Thailand. *Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes*, 7(5), 516-529. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/WHATT-06-2015-0027</u>
- Rehn, N., Maor, D., & McConney, A. (2018). The specific skills required of teachers who deliver K–12 distance education courses by synchronous videoconference: implications for training and professional development. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education*, 27(4), 417-429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1475939X.2018.1483265</u>
- Rich, B. L., Lepine, J. A., & Crawford, E. R. (2010). Job Engagement: Antecedents and Effects on Job Performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 53(3), 617-635. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2010.51468988
- Ringle, C. M., Wende, S., & Will, A. (2015). *SmartPLS 3 [computer software]*. SmartPLS. <u>https://www.smartpls.com/</u>
- Rose, E., Claudius, I., Tabatabai, R., Kearl, L., Behar, S., & Jhun, P. (2016). The Flipped Classroom in Emergency Medicine Using Online Videos with Interpolated Questions. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 51(3), 284-291. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2016.05.033
- Rosenberg, M., & Kaplan, H. B. (1982). Social Psychology of the Self-Concept. H. Davidson.
- Saadé, R., & Bahli, B. (2005). The impact of cognitive absorption on perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use in on-line learning: an extension of the technology acceptance

 model.
 Information
 & Management,
 42(2),
 317-327.

 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2003.12.013
 42(2),
 317-327.

- Sadler, I. (2013). The Role of Self-confidence in Learning to Teach in Higher Education. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 50(2), 157-166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2012.760777</u>
- Saidalvi, A., & Samad, A. A. (2019). Online Peer Motivational Feedback in a Public Speaking Course. GEMA Online Journal of Language Studies, 19(4), 258-277. https://doi.org/10.17576/gema-2019-1904-14
- Salas, E., & Cannon-Bowers, J. A. (2001). The Science of Training: A Decade of Progress. Annual Review of Psychology, 52(1), 471-499.
- Sangwan, A., Sangwan, A., & Punia, P. (2021). Development and Validation of an Attitude Scale towards Online Teaching and Learning for Higher Education Teachers. *TechTrends*, 65(2), 187-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-020-00561-w</u>
- Sarstedt, M., & Cheah, J.-H. (2019). Partial least squares structural equation modeling using SmartPLS: a software review. *Journal of Marketing Analytics*, 7(3), 196-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41270-019-00058-3</u>
- Scaradozzi, D., Cesaretti, L. S. L., & Mazzieri, M. S. E. (2019). Implementation and Assessment Methodologies of Teachers ' Training Courses for STEM Activities. *Technology, Knowledge and Learning*, 24(2), 247-268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10758-018-9356-1
- Scheg, A. G. (2014). Reforming Teacher Education for Online Pedagogy Development. IGI Global. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-5055-8</u>
- Scherer, R., Howard, S. K., Tondeur, J., & Siddiq, F. (2021). Profiling teachers' readiness for online teaching and learning in higher education: Who's ready? *Computers in Human Behavior*, 118, 106675. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106675</u>
- Schunk, D. H. (1991). Self-efficacy and Academic Motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, 26(3-4), 207-231. <u>http://thesis.ekt.gr/thesisBookReader/id/1834#page/104/mode/2up</u>
- Scott, J., Buchanan, J., & Haigh, N. (1997). Reflections on Student-Centred Learning in a Large Class Setting. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 28(1), 19-30.

- Scott, S. G., & Bruce, R. A. (1994). Determinants of Innovative Behavior: A Path Model of Individual Innovation in the Workplace. *Academy of Management Journal*, 37(3), 580-607. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/256701</u>
- Second International Handbook of Educational Change. (2009). (A. Hargreaves, A. Lieberman, M. Fullan, & D. Hopkins, Eds.). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-2660-6</u>
- Shamim, S., Cang, S., Yu, H., & Li, Y. (2016, 24-29 July 2016). Management approaches for Industry 4.0: A human resource management perspective. 2016 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation (CEC),
- Sharp, E. A., Norman, M. K., Spagnoletti, C. L., & Miller, B. G. (2021). Optimizing Synchronous Online Teaching Sessions: A Guide to the "New Normal" in Medical Education. *Academic Pediatrics*, 21(1), 11-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2020.11.009
- Shi, J. (2013, 25-27 Sept. 2013). ESP: A needs-oriented approach for scientific English education. Proceedings of the 2013 International Conference on Advanced Mechatronic Systems,
- Shmueli, G., Ray, S., Velasquez Estrada, J. M., & Chatla, S. B. (2016). The elephant in the room: Predictive performance of PLS models. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(10), 4552-4564. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.03.049</u>
- Shmueli, G., Sarstedt, M., Hair, J. F., Cheah, J.-H., Ting, H., Vaithilingam, S., & Ringle, C. M. (2019). Predictive model assessment in PLS-SEM: guidelines for using PLSpredict. *European Journal of Marketing*, 53(11), 2322-2347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-02-2019-0189</u>
- Shrauger, J. S., & Schohn, M. (1995). Self-Confidence in College Students: Conceptualization, Measurement, and Behavioral Implications. Assessment, 2(3), 255-278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191195002003006</u>
- Simms, L. J., Zelazny, K., Williams, T. F., & Bernstein, L. (2019). Does the number of response options matter? Psychometric perspectives using personality questionnaire data. *Psychological Assessment*, 31(4), 557-566. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000648

- Skylar, A. A. (2009). A Comparison of Asynchronous Online Text-Based Lectures and Synchronous Interactive Web Conferencing Lectures. *Issues in Teacher Education*, 18(2), 69-84.
- Spreen, M., & Zwaagstra, R. (1994). Personal Network Sampling, Outdegree Analysis And Multilevel Analysis: Introducing The Network Concept In Studies Of Hidden Populations. International Sociology, 9(4), 475-491. https://doi.org/10.1177/026858094009004006
- Starks, P., & Carroll, W. (2018). Hospitality Business Simulations Today: New Generation Simulations for New Generation Students in a New Generation Marketplace. In J. A. Oskam, D. M. Dekker, & K. Wiegerink (Eds.), *Innovation in Hospitality Education: Anticipating the Educational Needs of a Changing Profession* (pp. 181-193). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61379-6_12</u>
- Stenhouse, L. (1975). An Introduction to Curriculum Research and Development. Pearson Education.
- Stone, M. (1974). Cross-Validatory Choice and Assessment of Statistical Predictions. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological), 36(2), 111-147. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2984809
- Tallent-Runnels, M. K., Thomas, J. A., Lan, W. Y., Cooper, S., Ahern, T. C., Shaw, S. M., & Liu, X. (2006). Teaching Courses Online: A Review of the Research. *Review of Educational Research*, 76(1), 93-135. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543076001093</u>
- Thanh, H. (2021). Recovering tourism human resources after the COVID-19 pandemic. *Vietnam National Administration of Tourism (VNAT)*. <u>https://vietnamtourism.gov.vn/index.php/items/37613</u>
- Tuparova, D., Al-Sabri, A. R., & Tuparov, G. (2018). Mobile Device or Personal Computer for Online Learning – Students' Satisfaction in Yemeni Universities. Teaching and Learning in a Digital World, Cham.
- Uzunboylu, H. (2007). Teacher Attitudes Toward Online Education Following an Online Inservice Program. *International Journal on E-Learning*, 6(2), 267-277.
- Vásquez Der, E. R. (2018). Reperception as a Mechanism of Action in Mindfulness. *Revista Mexicana de Investigación en Psicología*, 10(2), 143-147.

- Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. D. (2000). A Theoretical Extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four Longitudinal Field Studies. *Management Science*, 46(2), 186-204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.46.2.186.11926</u>
- Vu, H. D., Nguyen, A. T. N., Nguyen, N. T. P., & Tran, D. B. (2022). Impacts and restoration strategy of the tourism industry post-COVID-19 pandemic: evidence from Vietnam. *Journal of Tourism Futures, ahead-of-print*(ahead-of-print). https://doi.org/10.1108/JTF-09-2021-0218
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in Society: The Development of Higher Psychological Processes*. Harvard University Press.
- Walker, S. K., & Hong, S. (2017). Workplace Predictors of Parenting Educators' Technology Acceptance Attitudes [https://doi.org/10.1111/fcsr.12218]. Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal, 45(4), 377-393. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/fcsr.12218
- Walker, S. K., & Kim, H. (2015). Family Educators' Technology Use and Factors Influencing Technology Acceptance Attitudes [<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fcsr.12113</u>]. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 43(4), 328-342. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/fcsr.12113</u>
- Wang, L., & Ha, A. S. (2012). Factors Influencing Pre-service Teachers' Perception of Teaching Games for Understanding: A Constructivist Perspective. Sport, Education and Society, 17(2), 261-280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13573322.2011.607954</u>
- Wang, P. A. (2015). Assessment of Asynchronous Online Discussions for a Constructive Online Learning Community. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 5(8), 598-604. <u>https://doi.org/10.7763/ijiet.2015.v5.575</u>
- Wang, R. L., & Wiesemes, R. (2012). Enabling and Supporting Remote Classroom Teaching Observation: Live Video Conferencing Uses in Initial Teacher Education. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education*, 21(3), 351-360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1475939X.2012.719397</u>
- Wang, Y., Chen, N. S., & Levy, M. (2010). Teacher Training in a Synchronous Cyber Faceto-face Classroom: Characterizing and Supporting the Online Teachers' Learning Process. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 23(4), 277-293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2010.493523</u>

- Wilson, F., Kickul, J., & Marlino, D. (2007). Gender, Entrepreneurial Self-Efficacy, and Entrepreneurial Career Intentions: Implications for Entrepreneurship Education. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 31(3), 387-406.
- Witten, I. H., Frank, E., Hall, M. A., & Pal, C. J. (2016). Data Mining: Practical Machine Learning Tools and Techniques. Morgan Kaufmann. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128042915000143</u>
- Yang, M., Luu, T. T., & Qian, D. (2021). Group diversity and employee service innovative behavior in the hospitality industry: a multilevel model. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 34(2), 808-835. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-06-2021-0822
- Yuen, A. H. K., & Ma, W. W. K. (2008). Exploring teacher acceptance of e-learning technology. Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education, 36(3), 229-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13598660802232779</u>
- Zemliansky, P. (2021). Faculty development training in online instruction at a Norwegian university: An experience report. *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication*, 64(1), 84-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TPC.2021.3057255</u>
- Zhang, Y., Zheng, J., & Darko, A. (2018). How Does Transformational Leadership Promote Innovation in Construction? The Mediating Role of Innovation Climate and the Multilevel Moderation Role of Project Requirements. Sustainability, 10(5), 1506. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10051506</u>
- Zhong, Y. Y., Busser, J., Shapoval, V., & Murphy, K. (2021). Hospitality and Tourism Student Engagement and Hope During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Education*, 33(3), 194-206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10963758.2021.1907197</u>
- Zhou, J., & George, J. M. (2001). When Job Dissatisfaction Leads to Creativity: Encouraging the Expression of Voice. Academy of Management Journal, 44(4), 682-696. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/3069410</u>

Appendices

Appendix A. TNA Survey Questionnaire for Study 1

I. Informed Consent

You are invited to participate in a research study about technological and didactic potentials of technological tools for online teaching. The goal of this research study is to propose and evaluate a training course designed to support teachers in Vietnam's hospitality and tourism institutions to build the skills and confidence in teaching via web synchronous conferencing environments.

This study is being conducted by Luong Thanh Thao and Kim Eunyoung from Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology. This organization has provided funding for the study.

If you have the following characteristics, you are encouraged to participate in this study:

- 1) I am an inservice teacher/ instructor/ lecturer/ educator in the field of hospitality and tourism. I have knowledge in the subject matters, or the content to be taught, as well as teaching experiences, yet mostly in offline settings.
- 2) I am a Corporate Trainer (or Training Manager) working at lodging properties, restaurants, or travel agencies in Vietnam. I have knowledge in the subject matters, or the content to be trained, as well as training experiences, yet mostly in offline settings.
- 3) I am required to use synchronous conferencing to teach or train at the workplace during the period in which the pandemic of COVID-19 took place.

Participation in this study is voluntary. If you agree to participate in this study, you will take part in a training course on teaching with synchronous conferencing technology. You will be required to respond to a Training Needs Survey (TNA) and a Post-Training Evaluation (PTE) Questionnaire. You might also be interviewed for about 30 minutes. The interview includes questions about your experiences during the courses and your self-evaluation of skill complexes needed for teaching with synchronous conferencing technology.

If you participate in this study, the information you share with us will be kept completely confidential to the full extent of the law. Study findings will be presented only in summary form and your name would not be used in any report.

If you have any questions about this study, please contact Luong Thanh Thao (Ms.), E-mail address: luong.thanh.thao@jaist.ac.jp

By completing this Training Needs Survey, you are consenting to participate in this study.

II.

- **Personal information:** 1) Your full name: Click or tap here to enter text. 2) E-mail address: Click or tap here to enter text. 3) Year of birth: Click or tap here to enter text. 4) What gender do you identify yourself as: a. Male \square b. Female c. Prefer not to answer 5) What is the highest degree or level of education you have completed? a. High School b. Vocational College Diploma Bachelor's Degree c. d. Master's Degree e. Ph.D. or higher \square f. Prefer not to say \square 6) Your official workplace (where you spend most of your working hours) is: a. Vocational college \square b. University c. Enterprises d. Others 7) Who are your target learners? a. Vocational college students b. Undergraduate students c. Graduate students \square d. Company staff
 - 8) Your experience in hospitality and tourism education:
 - \square a. Less than 1 year
 - 1 year less than 5 years b.
 - 5 years less than 10 years c.
 - 10 15 years d.
 - e. More than 15 years

- 9) What is (are) your professional subject matter(s)?
 - a. Hospitality Vocational Training
 - b. Hospitality Management
 - c. Tourism Vocational Training
 - d. Tourism Management / Travel Services Management
 - e. Vocational Culinary Arts
 - f. Vocational Restaurant Serving
 - g. Restaurant Management/ F&B Management
 - h. Supervisory/ Management/ Leadership skills
 - i. English / Foreign Languages for Hospitality and Tourism
- 10) Please describe briefly the current difficulties / challenges you have in teaching with

synchronous conferencing technology: Click or tap here to enter text.

III. Self-evaluation on skills complexes:

In the next sections, please rate your degree of knowledge/skill in each of the competencies sections below using a scale of 1-5 or N/A and the free text space to provide additional comments.

- 1 = Strongly Disagree
- 2 = Disagree
- 3 = Neutral
- 4 = Agree
- 5 = Strongly Agree

		1	2	3	4	5
LO1	Knowledge on synchronous online teaching					
L01-3	I can distinguish synchronous from asynchronous technology.					
LO1-4	I can list the pros and cons of synchronous online teaching.					
LO1-5	I can list differences among popular synchronous conferencing platforms.					
LO2	Developing online presence					
LO2-1	I can explain the definition and importance of online presence.					
LO2-2	I can develop strategies to enhance relationships with and among learners.					
LO2-3	I can develop methods to enhance social presence to overcome the lack of visual clues in online classes.					
LO3	Planning lessons					
LO3-1	I can list steps to help learners prepare before the course starts.					
LO3-2	I can design and implement synchronous online learning activities.					
LO4	Handling technology					
LO4-1	I can explain what creates quality online learning experience.					
LO4-2	I can use different built-in features of synchronous platforms.					
LO5	Adapting to learners' preferences					
LO5-1	I can recognize varied learning preferences and background.					
LO5-2	I can identify technological resources and tools for adapting to various learning preferences.					
LO6	Classroom management					
LO6-1	I can distinguish between online and offline class management approaches.					
LO6-2	I can identify technological resources and tools for adapting to various learning preferences.					

Appendix B. PTE Survey Questionnaire for Study 1

Thank you very much for having participated in the research study proposing a training course designed to support teachers in Vietnam's hospitality and tourism institutions to build the skills and confidence in teaching via web synchronous conferencing environments.

This study is being conducted by Luong Thanh Thao and Kim Eunyoung from Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology. This organization has provided funding for this study.

Please help us improve the course design by offering your feedback and comments about your experiences and learning after joining the course by responding to the Training Evaluation form below. The information you share with us will be kept completely confidential to the full extent of the law. Study findings will be presented only in summary form and your name would not be used in any report.

If you have any questions about this study, please contact Luong Thanh Thao (Ms.), E-mail address: <u>luong.thanh.thao@jaist.ac.jp</u>

I. Personal information:

- 1) Your full name: Click or tap here to enter text.
- 2) E-mail address: Click or tap here to enter text.
- 3) Which class did you participate?: Click or tap here to enter text.

II. Course evaluation

Please indicate your level of agreement with the statements listed below using a scale of 1-5 or N/A:

- 1 = Strongly Disagree
- 2 = Disagree
- 3 = Neutral
- 4 = Agree
- 5 = Strongly Agree

	Statements	1	2	3	4	5
2.1	The objectives of the training were clearly defined.					
2.2	The training objectives were met.					
2.3	The topics covered were relevant to me.					
2.4	The content was organized and easy to follow.					
2.5	The materials distributed were helpful.					
2.6	This training experience will be useful in my work.					
2.7	The trainer facilitates the training well.					
2.8	Blackboard synchronous conferencing platform was helpful for conducting this training.					
2.9	Participation and interaction were encouraged.					
2.1 0	The time allotted for the training was sufficient.					

III. Self-evaluation on skills complexes after participating in the course:

In the next sections, please rate your degree of knowledge/skill in each of the competencies sections below using a scale of 1-5 or N/A and the free text space to provide additional comments.

1 = Strongly Disagree

- 2 = Disagree
- 3 = Neutral
- 4 = Agree
- 5 = Strongly Agree

		1	2	3	4	5
LO1	Knowledge on synchronous online teaching					
L01-3	I can distinguish synchronous from asynchronous technology.					
LO1-4	I can list the pros and cons of synchronous online teaching.					
LO1-5	I can list differences among popular synchronous conferencing platforms.					
LO2	Developing online presence					
LO2-1	I can explain the definition and importance of online presence.					
LO2-2	I can develop strategies to enhance relationships with and among learners.					
LO2-3	I can develop methods to enhance social presence to overcome the lack of visual clues in online classes.					
LO3	Planning lessons					
LO3-1	I can list steps to help learners prepare before the course starts.					
LO3-2	I can design and implement synchronous online learning activities.					
LO4	Handling technology					
LO4-1	I can explain what creates quality online learning experience.					
LO4-2	I can use different built-in features of synchronous platforms.					
LO5	Adapting to learners' preferences					
LO5-1	I can recognize varied learning preferences and background.					
LO5-2	I can identify technological resources and tools for adapting to various learning preferences.					
LO6	Classroom management					
LO6-1	I can distinguish between online and offline class management approaches.					
LO6-2	I can identify technological resources and tools for adapting to various learning preferences.					

IV. Other comments

- 1) What did you like most about this training? Click or tap here to enter text.
- 2) What aspects of the training could be improved? Click or tap here to enter text.
- 3) How do you hope to change your teaching practices as a result of this training? Click or tap here to enter text.
- 4) What other trainings would you like to have in the future? Click or tap here to enter text.

Appendix C. Survey questionnaire for Study 2

I. Informed Consent

Thank you for participating in a research study designed for assisting hospitality and tourism institutions and instructors in Vietnam in balancing between ensuring academic quality standards and keeping up with the rapid development and the new trends in the industry through effective use of online pedagogy, particularly in the post-COVID-19 era.

This study is being conducted by Luong Thanh Thao and Eunyoung Kim. Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (JAIST) has provided funding for this study.

Participants of this study need to have at least one of the following characteristics:

- 1) Instructors/lecturers currently teaching in relevant subject matters*** in hospitality and tourism institutions in Vietnam;
- 2) Corporate trainers/ training managers/ training executives/ trainers working at lodging properties, restaurants, or travel agencies in Vietnam.

** Relevant subject matters include hospitality vocational training, hospitality management, tourism vocational training, travel services management, vocational culinary arts, vocational restaurant serving, restaurant management, supervisory/management/leadership training, English (or other languages) for hospitality and tourism.

Participation in this study is voluntary. If you agree to participate in this study, you would complete a questionnaire about your opinions about implementing online teaching innovations.

The information you will share with us if you participate in this study will be kept completely confidential to the full extent of the law.

Your information will be assigned a code number that is unique to this study. The list connecting your name to this number will be kept in a locked file and only the researchers of this study will be able to see the survey you participated in. No one will be able to see your survey or even know whether you participated in this study. When the study is completed and the data have been analyzed, the list linking participant's names to study numbers will be destroyed. Study findings will be presented only in summary form and your name would not be used in any report.

If you have any questions about this study or about your rights as a research participant, please contact Luong Thanh Thao (Ms.), Doctoral Research Fellow, Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (luong.thanh.thao@jaist.ac.jp).

II. Personal information:

- 1) Your full name: Click or tap here to enter text.
- 2) E-mail address: Click or tap here to enter text.
- 3) Year of birth: Click or tap here to enter text.

- 4) What gender do you identify yourself as:
 - a. Male
 - b. Female
 - c. Prefer not to answer \Box

5) What is the highest degree or level of education you have completed?

- a. High School
- b. Vocational College Diploma \Box
- c. Bachelor's Degree \Box
- d. Master's Degree
- e. Ph.D. or higher \Box
- f. Prefer not to say \Box
- 6) Your official workplace (where you spend most of your working hours) is:
 - a. Vocational college \Box
 - b. University
 - c. Enterprises
 - d. Others

7) Who are your target learners?

- a. Vocational college students \Box
- b. Undergraduate students \Box
- c. Graduate students \Box
- d. Company staff \Box

8) Your experience in hospitality and tourism education:

- a. Less than 1 year \Box b. 1 year less than 5 years \Box c. 5 years less than 10 years \Box d. 10 15 years \Box
 - e. More than 15 years \Box

- 9) What is (are) your professional subject matter(s)?
 - a. Hospitality Vocational Training
 - b. Hospitality Management
 - c. Tourism Vocational Training
 - d. Tourism Management / Travel Services Management
 - e. Vocational Culinary Arts
 - f. Vocational Restaurant Serving
 - g. Restaurant Management/ F&B Management
 - h. Supervisory/ Management/ Leadership skills
 - i. English / Foreign Languages for Hospitality and Tourism

III. Your opinions about online teaching:

	Statements	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
ibot-1	I create new teaching practices to solve challenges in online teaching environment.					
ibot-2	I am looking for new teaching methods, techniques, technologies to deliver my online lessons/lectures.					
ibot-3	I promote my ideas in online teaching so that other teachers can use them in their online classes.					
ibot-4	I make important organizational members enthusiastic for innovative ideas in online teaching.					
ibot-5	I develop plans and schedules for the experimentation and implementation of new ideas in online teaching.					
ibot-6	I evaluate the utility of my innovative ideas in online teaching.					
ibot-7	I contribute suggestions or approaches for others' teacher ideas in online teaching.					
ibot-8	I am innovative in online teaching/ I am a good source of innovative ideas online teaching.					
scot-1	I expect myself to design and implement new online teaching practices that work effectively.					
scot-2	I expect myself to assess whether my new ideas for online teaching work effectively.					
scot-3	I expect myself to design a new course (or courses) for virtual classes.					
scot-4	I expect myself to engage and motivate students better with my new methods in online teaching.					
scot-5	I expect myself to maintain students' hope and commitment to their study and future career in hospitality and tourism profession with my new methods in online teaching.					
scot-б	I expect myself to defend my new approaches in online teaching when someone challenges them.					

skill-1	I can distinguish synchronous from asynchronous technology.			
skill-2	I can list the pros and cons of synchronous and asynchronous online teaching.			
skill-3	I can list the differences among popular synchronous online conferencing platforms (WebEx, Microsoft Teams, Blackboard, Zoom, etc.).			
skill-4	I can list steps to help learners prepare before the online course starts.			
skill-5	I can design and implement online learning activities.			
skill-6	I can explain the definition and importance of online presence.			
skill-7	I can identify strategies to enhance my relationships with and among learners.			
skill-8	I can develop methods of enhancing social presence to overcome the lack of visual clues in online classes.			
skill-9	I can explain what creates quality online learning experience.			
skill- 10	I can use the different built-in features of synchronous video conferencing platforms.			
skill- 11	I can recognize varied learning preferences and backgrounds.			
skill- 12	I can identify technological resources and tools for adapting to various learning preferences.			
skill- 13	I can distinguish between online and offline class management approaches.			
skill- 14	I can identify strategies to respond to student behaviors/misbehaviors in online classes.			
att-1	Digital competence is an important 21 st century skill for every teacher.			
att-2	I believe online learning can improve the quality of my teaching performance.			
att-3	Online teaching is more interesting than classroom teaching.			
att-4	In hospitality and tourism education, online teaching can replace traditional teaching style (face-to-face physical classrooms).			
att-5	I enjoy teaching online.			
att-6	I like reading magazines on new technology innovations for teaching.			
att-7	Discussions on online teaching technologies are interesting.			
pu-1	Online teaching and learning is very economical for institutions to adopt.			
pu-2	Teaching online can enhance the quality of knowledge attained.			
pu-3	Communicating through online social networks in online classrooms is fun.			
pu-4	Online teaching and learning is flexible for both teachers and students.			

peu-1	It's easier to prepare and deliver online lessons than face-to- face lessons.			
peu-2	Interacting with computer systems is easy.			
peu-3	Using technologies for online teaching does not require a lot of mental efforts.			
prof-1	I proactively to work on my own professional development in online education.			
prof-2	I take part in professional training programs in online teaching even if it is not compulsory.			
prof-3	I enjoy reading professional literature about online teaching.			
prof-4	I study online teaching's textbooks and lesson material thoroughly.			
ispg-1	I make an effort to put the school's vision of online education into practice.			
ispg-2	I do my best to understand what implications the school's vision has for my teaching strategies for online classes.			
ispg-3	I know what the next steps for putting the schools' vision on online education into practice.			
ogc-1	My organization values my innovations in online teaching practices.			
ogc-2	Help is available from my organization when I have a problem in shifting from face-to-face to online classrooms.			
ogc-3	My organization would forgive an honest mistake I have when implementing online teaching innovations.			
ogc-4	My organization takes prides in my innovations in online teaching.			
ogc-5	My organization provides financial rewards for online teaching innovation.			
ogc-6	I have enough supportive technological infrastructure needed for online teaching.			
coll-1	My colleagues discuss new methods for online teaching with me.			
coll-2	My colleagues give me positive feedback about my online teaching.			
coll-3	My colleagues give support when I try out new teaching methods for online classrooms.			
coll-4	My colleagues tell me what online teaching problems they have and how they solve them.			
coll-5	My colleagues pass on to me things they have learned from training programs about online teaching.			
coll-6	My colleagues let me observe their teaching performance in online classrooms.			
coll-7	My colleagues and I co-teach (online) to learn from each other.			
lead-1	The leaders make use of all opportunities to communicate the school's vision on online education to teaching staff, students, parents, and others.			

lead-2	The leaders have comprehensive knowledge about online education.			
lead-3	The leaders understand the current problems caused by the shift from face-to-face to online classrooms.			
lead-4	The leaders believe in the power of online teaching and learning.			
lead-5	The leaders support me in solving problems related to online teaching.			
lead-6	The leaders appreciate when a teacher takes initiative to improve online teaching.			
lead-7	The leaders offer financial rewards for my innovations in online teaching.			
lead-8	The leaders encourage teachers to implement innovations in online teaching.			
lead-9	The leaders encourage teachers to seek and discuss new information and ideas relevant to the institution's vision on online education.			
lead- 10	The leaders provides me with opportunities to take part in professional training programs about online teaching.			
sdm-1	Teachers at my organizations are involved in decisions about acquiring new technologies/resources/materials for online teaching.			
sdm-2	At my organization, teachers make decisions about new educational objectives together.			
sdm-3	At my organization, teachers are involved in decisions about using new online teaching methods.			
sif-1	My organization has an IT department/team to support teachers to teach online.			
sif-2	My organization has an effective and well supported campus network.			
sif-3	My organization has an effective server support.			
sif-4	My organization has an effective learning management system (LMS).			
sif-5	My organization has an effective online library services.			
sif-6	My organization evaluate new online technology for online teaching.			
sif-7	My organization assess and update quality of online course content.			
sif-8	When I have to deliver online lessons from home, my organization provides incentives and financial support for my online classes.			
mef-1	Internet access to online teaching resources and tools in my country is restricted due to political reasons.			
mef-2	The current economic conditions of my country supports the adoption of online teaching and learning.			
mef-3	The current governmental policies are sufficient for guiding institutions on shifting classes to the online learning environment.			

mef-4	The government is providing sufficient resources for institutions and teachers to effectively implement innovations in online teaching.			
mef-5	The hospitality and tourism industry is forcing institutions and teachers to shift classes online.			
mef-6	The changes in learners characteristics and behaviors urge institutions and teachers to have more innovations in online teaching.			
Other o	comments:			